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Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc

DIRECTORS' REPORT
The directors present their report together with the financial statements of the Company (as defined below) for
the financial year ended December 31, 2020.
Organization and Nature of Operations
Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc (“the Company”), together with its subsidiaries (“the Group”), is a fully integrated
biopharmaceutical company focused on the development and commercialization of specialty products that
target markets with underserved patient populations. The Company generates revenues across an existing
portfolio of promoted specialty neurology and women’s health products, as well as non-promoted products,
many of which are primarily complex formulations of generic drugs.
Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc (formerly known as Lilydale Limited and Osmotica Pharmaceuticals Limited) is
an Irish public limited company. Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp. acquired Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc on April 30,
2018 for the purpose of facilitating an offering of ordinary shares in an initial public offering. On October 22,
2018, Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc completed its initial public offering (the “IPO”), in which it issued and
allotted 7,647,500 ordinary shares at a public offering price of $7.00 per share. The number of shares issued in
the IPO reflected the exercise in full of the underwriters’ option to purchase 997,500 additional ordinary shares.
In addition, the Company issued and allotted 2,014,285 ordinary shares at the public offering price in a private
placement to investment funds affiliated with Avista Capital Partners, Altchem Limited and an entity controlled
by the Company’s Chief Financial Officer. The aggregate net proceeds from the IPO and the private placement
were approximately $58.1 million after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated
offering expenses.
Immediately prior to the IPO and prior to the commencement of trading of Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc’s
ordinary shares on the Nasdaq Global Select Market, Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp. undertook a series of
restructuring transactions that resulted in Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc becoming the direct parent of Osmotica
Holdings S.C.Sp with each holder of common units of Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp. receiving approximately 42.84
ordinary shares of Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc in exchange for each such common unit. In addition, each
holder of an option to purchase common units of Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp. received an option to purchase
the number of ordinary shares of Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc determined by multiplying the number of units
underlying such option by approximately 42.84 (rounded down to the nearest whole share) and dividing the
exercise price per unit for such option by approximately 42.84 (rounded up to the nearest whole cent). These
transactions are referred to as the “Reorganization”. Accordingly, all share and share amounts for all periods
presented in the accompanying financial statements have been adjusted retroactively, where applicable, to
reflect the Reorganization.
Until the Reorganization on October 17, 2018, Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc did not conduct any operations
(other than activities incidental to its formation, the Reorganization and the pursuit of an initial public offering).
Upon the completion of the Reorganization, the historical consolidated financial statements of Osmotica
Holdings S.C.Sp. became the historical financial statements of Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc. Accordingly, the
accompanying consolidated financial statements included herein reflect the financial information of Osmotica
Holdings S.C.Sp.
Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp.is a Luxembourg special limited partnership, formed on January 28, 2016. Osmotica
Holdings US LLC, a subsidiary of Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp. entered into a fifty-fifty partnership (the “Merger”),
effective February 3, 2016, pursuant to a definitive agreement between Vertical/Trigen Holdings, LLC
(“Vertical/Trigen”) and members, and Osmotica Holdings Corp Limited and Subsidiaries. Osmotica Holdings
S.C.Sp. and several other holding companies and partnerships were formed as a result of the Merger. Pursuant
to the Merger, Vertical/Trigen was deemed to be the accounting acquirer. Osmotica is a fully integrated
biopharmaceutical company focused on the development and commercialization of specialty products that
target markets with underserved patient populations.
Unless otherwise indicated or required by the context, references throughout to “Osmotica,” or the “Company,”
refer to (i) prior to the completion of the Reorganization, Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp. and its consolidated
subsidiaries, including, from and after April 30, 2018, Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc, and (ii) following the
completion of the Reorganization, Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc and its consolidated subsidiaries, including
Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT - continued
Basis of presentation
The directors have elected to prepare the consolidated financial statements in accordance with Section 279 of
the Companies Act 2014, which provides that a true and fair view of the assets and liabilities, financial position
and profit or loss may be given by preparing the financial statements in accordance with United States (U.S.)
accounting standards (U.S. GAAP), as defined in that section to the extent that the use of those principles in
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements does not contravene any provision of Part 6 of the
Companies Act 2014.
Principal activities
Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc is a fully integrated biopharmaceutical company focused on the development
and commercialization of specialty products that target markets with underserved patient populations.
The group’s core competencies span drug development, manufacturing and commercialization. Our team of
sales representatives support the ongoing commercialization of our existing promoted product portfolio as well
as the launch of new products.
Statement of directors’ responsibilities in respect of the directors’ report and the financial statements
The directors are responsible for preparing the directors’ report and the financial statements in accordance with
Irish law.
Irish law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year giving a true and fair view
of the consolidated and Company’s assets, liabilities and financial position as at the end of the financial year
and of the profit or loss of the group for the financial year. Under that law, the Directors have prepared the
consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. accounting standards, as defined in Section 279(1)
of the Companies Act 2014, to the extent that the use of those principles in the preparation of the financial
statements does not contravene any provision of the Companies Act or of any regulations made thereunder,
and the Parent Company financial statements in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in
Ireland (accounting standards issued by the Financial Reporting Council of the UK, including Financial Reporting
Standard 102, the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland and Irish law).
Under Irish law, the directors shall not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give
a true and fair view of the Company’s assets, liabilities and financial position as at the end of the financial year
and the profit or loss of the Company for the financial year.
In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:
•
•
•

•
•

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
state that the consolidated financial statements comply with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America (U.S. GAAP) to the extent that it does not contravene Irish Company Law and that
the entity financial statements of the Company comply with accounting standards issued by the Financial
Reporting Council and Irish law; and
assess the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern; and
use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy
at any time the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the Company and enable them to ensure
that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2014. They are responsible for such internal
controls as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and have general responsibility for taking such steps as
are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the Company and to prevent and detect fraud and other
irregularities. The directors are also responsible for preparing a directors’ report that complies with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2014.
The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information
included on the company’s website (www.osmotica.com). Legislation in Ireland governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT - continued
Accounting records
The directors believe that they have complied with the requirements of sections 281 to 285 of the Companies
Act 2014 with regard to adequate accounting records by employing accounting personnel with appropriate
expertise and by providing adequate resources to the financial function. The accounting records of the Company
are maintained at 400 Crossing Boulevard, Bridgewater, NJ 08807, USA, and are available at 25 – 28 North
Wall Quay, Dublin 1, Ireland.
Directors’ compliance statement
The directors, in accordance with Section 225(2) of the Companies Act 2014, acknowledge that they are
responsible for securing the Company’s compliance with certain obligations specified in that section arising from
the Companies Act 2014, and Tax laws (‘relevant obligations’). The directors confirm that:
•
•
•

a compliance policy statement has been drawn up setting out the Company’s policies with regard to such
compliance;
appropriate arrangements and structures that, in their opinion, are designed to secure material compliance
with the Company’s relevant obligations, have been put in place; and
a review has been conducted, during the financial year, of the arrangements and structures that have been
put in place to secure the Company’s compliance with its relevant obligations.

In discharging their responsibilities under Section 225 of the Companies Act 2014, the directors relied on the
advice of persons who the directors believe have the requisite knowledge and experience to advise the
Company on compliance with its relevant obligations.
Audit committee
In accordance with Section 167 of the Companies Act 2014, the Company has an audit committee, which meets
the requirements of the Companies Act.
Dividends
No dividends were paid or proposed during the year.
Events since the end of the financial year
The Company evaluated all events or transactions that occurred subsequent to December 31, 2020 through the
date of the approval of the directors’ report, and have identified the following event:
On April 19, 2021, we were served with a complaint in an action entitled United States ex rel. Lupinetti, et al. v.
Exeltis USA, Inc., et al., Northern District of Illinois, No. 1:19-cv-00825. The complaint named us and four other
pharmaceutical manufacturers as defendants in a suit alleging violations of the federal False Claims Act and
state corollary statutory schemes related to the labelling, marketing, and reimbursement of several prenatal
vitamins. The United States government declined to intervene in the action and the plaintiff has chosen to
proceed with the litigation as a qui tam relator on behalf of the federal government and 29 individual states
seeking monetary damages, statutory civil penalties, and costs and fees. We are reviewing the allegations in
the complaint and have retained outside counsel to defend us against the claims.
Going concern
The directors have evaluated the relevant conditions and events that are known and reasonably knowable, as
detailed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, at the date that the financial statements are
approved. The directors believe the Company has sufficient liquidity to meet its obligations within one year after
the issuance date of its consolidated financial statements, and they do not have substantial doubt about its
ability to continue as a going concern.
Research and development
Our research and development team leverages its expertise across a variety of scientific disciplines to formulate
product candidates and advance programs through the drug development and approval process and post
marketing studies. We have capabilities in regulatory affairs, pharmaceutical science, analytical chemistry,
preclinical studies, clinical trial design and operations, quality assurance and compliance, medical affairs and
pharmacovigilance. We deploy these competencies to advance a product candidate through the drug
development process, and develop data and intellectual property to improve our products, support
commercialization and extend product life cycles.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT - continued
Research and development – continued
Scientific staff in Buenos Aires, Argentina, Bridgewater, New Jersey and Marietta, Georgia use their expertise
in formulation development (including in our proprietary Osmodex drug delivery system), chemistry and material
science to focus on identifying drug compounds for re-formulation to achieve either new therapeutic attributes
(e.g., extended release) or indications. Our clinical development team utilizes its experience to design and
implement clinical trials to support submission of New Drug Applications (“NDAs”) for organically developed and
in-licensed product candidates. Additionally, we perform early-stage manufacturing and technology transfer
engineering and evaluate any unique intellectual property arising from these activities. For development
candidates that we have elected to progress forward, scale-up process engineering has been performed at our
manufacturing plant in Marietta, Georgia.
As of December 31, 2020, we had 84 employees in our research and development department worldwide. Our
staff of research scientists has expertise in the drug development process, from pre-formulation studies and
formulation development, to scale-up and manufacturing. The clinical development and medical affairs team
assumes product stewardship from pre-clinical testing and first-in-human studies, Phase I, Phase II and Phase
III clinical trials through to post-marketing studies, risk management and pharmacovigilance activities. Our
research and development team has extensive experience developing and coordinating clinical trial programs
and communicating with the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA“) throughout the process to ensure
proper trial design and an efficient clinical and drug development process. Our team has a successful track
record of developing products and receiving FDA approval for NDAs and Abbreviated New Drug Applications
(“ANDAs”).
We generated total revenues in 2020 across our existing portfolio of promoted women’s health products,
specialty neurology, as well as our non-promoted products, which are primarily complex formulations of generic
drugs. In 2018, we received regulatory approval from the FDA for Osmolex ER (amantadine extended-release
tablets) for the treatment of Parkinson’s disease and drug-induced extrapyramidal reactions, which are
involuntary muscle movements caused by certain medications, in adults. We completed the launch of Osmolex
ER in January 2019. In January 2021, we concluded the sale of Osmolex ER. In July 2020, we received
regulatory approval from the FDA for RVL-1201, or Upneeq, (oxymetazoline hydrocholoride ophthalmic solution,
0.1%), for the treatment of acquired blepharoptosis, or droopy eyelid, in adults. We launched Upneeq in
September 2020 to a limited number of eyecare professionals.
Our core competencies span drug development, manufacturing and commercialization. Our sales
representatives are fully engaged in the launch and in-person promotion of Upneeq, while we continue to
maintain non-personal promotional efforts for certain other products in our portfolio, including M-72 in specialty
neurology; OB Complete, our family of prescription prenatal dietary supplements, and Divigel (estradiol gel,
0.1%) in women’s health. As of December 31, 2020, our commercial portfolio of promoted and non-promoted
products consists of approximately 35 products. Certain of our key products, particularly those that incorporate
our proprietary Osmodex drug delivery system, are manufactured in our Marietta, Georgia facility. Some of our
products benefit from intellectual property protection, formulation and manufacturing complexities, data
exclusivity, as well as U.S. Drug Enforcement Administration (“DEA”), regulation and quotas for API.
Many of our generic products compete in generic markets where barriers to entry are lower than markets in
which certain of our promoted products compete. Generic products generally contribute most significantly to
revenues and gross margins at the time of launch or in periods where no other or a limited number of competing
products have been approved and launched. In the U.S., the consolidation of buyers in recent years has
increased competitive pressures on the industry as a whole. As such, the timing of new product launches can
have a significant impact on a company’s financial results. The entrance into the market of additional competition
can have a negative impact on the pricing and volume of the affected products which are outside the company’s
control. In particular, methylphenidate ER tablets, venlafaxine ER tablets, or VERT, and Lorzone have
experienced, and are expected to continue to experience, significant pricing and market erosion due to
additional competition from other generic pharmaceutical companies. This generic pricing erosion has resulted
in lower net sales, revenue and profitability from methylphenidate ER tablets, VERT and Lorzone in 2020, and
this erosion is expected to continue in subsequent years.
On July 8, 2020, the FDA approved our NDA for Upneeq for the treatment of acquired blepharoptosis in adults.
Upneeq was approved based on three Phase III clinical studies that supported Upneeq's efficacy and safety.
Results from Upneeq's first Phase III clinical trial showed that the formulation met its primary efficacy endpoint
and was well-tolerated.
5

Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc

DIRECTORS' REPORT - continued
Research and development – continued
We believe Upneeq is the first non-surgical treatment option approved by the FDA for acquired blepharoptosis.
We currently make Upneeq available exclusively through RVL Pharmacy, Inc. our wholly-owned pharmacy.
We acquired Upneeq as part of our asset acquisition of RevitaLid, Inc., now known as RVL Pharmaceuticals,
Inc., in 2017. As part of the acquisition, we agreed to make future earn-out, milestone and royalty payments
based on net sales and regulatory developments with respect to Upneeq.
Upneeq is manufactured and supplied to us by Nephron Pharmaceuticals Corporation under an exclusive supply
agreement that has a term of five years from the production of the initial commercial batches, and automatically
renews for additional one-year periods unless either party provides at least 90 days’ advance written notice of
non-renewal.
On July 28, 2020, we entered into a license agreement with Santen Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd, or Santen, granting
Santen the exclusive development, registration, and commercialization rights to RVL-1201 in Japan, China, and
other Asian countries as well as Europe, the Middle East and Africa (“EMEA”) countries. Under the license
agreement with Santen, we received an upfront license milestone payment of $25.0 million and may receive
additional milestone payments up to $64.0 million based on regulatory and sales achievements in Santen’s
territories. We are also entitled to royalty payments on net sales of RVL-1201 in Santen commercialization
territories.
In addition, we are developing our late-stage product candidate arbaclofen extended-release, or ER, tablets
designed for the alleviation of signs and symptoms of spasticity resulting from multiple sclerosis, or MS, for
which we have completed Phase III clinical trials. In June 2020, we resubmitted our NDA for arbaclofen ER
tablets for the alleviation of spasticity in MS to the FDA. On July 17, 2020 we received notice from the FDA that
it considered the resubmission a complete response to the July 9, 2016 action letter and set a goal date for a
FDA decision on the NDA of December 29, 2020. On December 28, 2020 we received a complete response
letter (“CRL”) indicating the FDA could not approve the NDA in its then current form. The CRL stated that we
did not provide adequate justification (including in our most recent NDA amendment) for the statistical analysis
of the change from baseline to Day 84 in TNmAS-MAL scores comparing arbaclofen 40 mg to placebo, one of
the co-primary endpoints. On January 23, 2021, we submitted a Type A meeting request to the FDA to discuss
the CRL’s recommendations and obtain advice on a path forward for the NDA. The meeting took place on
March 4, 2021, during which we explored selective review of the currently available data and options for a path
forward for FDA approval, including conducting another clinical study.
On November 10, 2020, we and our board of directors announced that it is undertaking a comprehensive review
of strategic options to maximize shareholder value. The options under consideration include divestitures of nonstrategic assets, re-financings, commercialization or collaboration agreements.
Branches
The company does not operate any branches outside of the state.
Political donations
No political contributions that require disclosure under Irish law were made during the financial year.
Business Review
Business Update Regarding COVID-19
The current COVID-19 pandemic has presented a substantial public health and economic challenge around the
world and is affecting our employees, patients, communities and business operations, as well as the U.S.
economy and financial markets. The full extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic will directly or indirectly impact
our business, results of operations and financial condition will depend on future developments that are highly
uncertain and cannot be accurately predicted, including new information that may emerge concerning COVID19, the actions taken to contain it or treat its impact and the economic impact on local, regional, national and
international markets.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT - continued
Business Review – continued
To date, we have been able to continue to supply our products to our patients without significant disruptions.
We do not currently anticipate significant interruptions in supply in the near term. However, we are continuing
to monitor the potential impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business and operations, including our sales,
expenses, manufacturing and clinical trials.
We and our third-party contract manufacturing partners have been able to operate our manufacturing facilities
at or near normal levels. While we currently do not anticipate significant interruptions in our manufacturing
supply chain, the COVID-19 pandemic and related mitigation efforts may have a negative impact in the future
on our third party suppliers’ and contract manufacturing partners’ ability to manufacture our products or to have
our products reach all markets.
We are monitoring the demand for our products, including the duration and degree to which we may see declines
in customer orders or new prescriptions for our products, as health care providers are dedicating more resources
for the treatment of COVID-19 patients. During the first quarter of 2020, we took action to reduce the size of our
field sales force with the remaining sales personnel, in many cases, engaging with physicians remotely as we
seek to continue to support healthcare professionals and patient care.
In the U.S. and in most other key markets, our office-based employees have been encouraged to work from
home since mid-March 2020. During this time, we are ensuring essential staffing levels in our operations remain
in place, including maintaining key personnel in our laboratories and manufacturing facilities.
For additional information on the various risks posed by the COVID-19 pandemic, please read the Principal
Risks and uncertainties – Risks related to our business included in this Annual Report.
Segment Information
We currently operate in one business segment focused on the development and commercialization of
pharmaceutical products that target markets with underserved patient populations. We are not organized by
market and are managed and operated as one business. We also do not operate any separate lines of business
or separate business entities with respect to our products. A single management team reports to our chief
operating decision maker who comprehensively manages our entire business. Accordingly, we do not
accumulate discrete financial information with respect to separate product lines and do not have separately
reportable segments. See Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies to our consolidated financial
statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report.
Components of Results of Operations
Revenues
Our revenues consist of product sales, royalty revenues and licensing and contract revenue.
Net product sales—Our revenues consist primarily of product sales of our promoted products, principally Divigel
and the OB Complete family of prescription prenatal dietary supplements, M-72, Lorzone, and our non-promoted
products. We ship our products to our customers pursuant to purchase orders, which in certain cases are
pursuant to a master agreement with that customer, and we invoice the customer upon shipment. For these
sales we recognize revenue when control has transferred to the customer, which is typically on delivery to the
customer. The amount of revenue we recognize is equal to the selling price, adjusted for any variable
consideration, which includes estimated chargebacks, commercial rebates, discounts and allowances at the
time revenues are recognized.
Royalty revenue—For arrangements that include sales-based royalties, including milestone payments based
on the level of sales, and the license is deemed to be the predominant item to which the royalties relate, we
recognize revenue at the later of (a) when the related sales occur, or (b) when the performance obligation to
which some or all the royalty has been allocated has been satisfied (or partially satisfied).
Licensing and contract revenue—We have arrangements with commercial partners that allow for the purchase
of product from the Company by the commercial partners for purpose of sub-distribution. Licensing revenue is
recognized when the performance obligation identified in the arrangement is completed. Variable
considerations, such as returns on product sales, government program rebates, price adjustments and prompt
pay discounts associated with licensing revenue, are generally the responsibility of our commercial partners.
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Components of Results of Operations – continued
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel expenses, including salaries and
benefits for employees in executive, sales, marketing, finance, accounting, business development, legal and
human resource functions. General and administrative expenses also include corporate facility costs, including
rent, utilities, insurance, legal fees related to corporate matters and fees for accounting and other consulting
services. We expect to continue to incur additional general and administrative expenses as a public company,
including costs associated with the preparation of our U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) filings,
increased legal and accounting costs, investor relations costs, incremental director and officer liability insurance
costs, as well as costs related to compliance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the Dodd-Frank Wall
Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act.
Research and Development
Costs for research and development are charged as incurred and include employee-related expenses (including
salaries and benefits, travel and expenses incurred under agreements with contract research organizations
(“CROs”), contract manufacturing organizations and service providers that assist in conducting clinical and
preclinical studies), costs associated with preclinical activities and development activities and costs associated
with regulatory operations.
Costs for certain development activities, such as clinical studies, are recognized based on an evaluation of the
progress to completion of specific tasks using data such as patient enrollment, clinical site activations or
information provided to us by our vendors on their actual costs incurred. Payments for these activities are based
on the terms of the individual arrangements, which may differ from the patterns of costs incurred, and are
reflected in our consolidated financial statements as prepaid expenses or accrued expenses as applicable.

Results of Operations - Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
Financial Operations Overview
The following table presents revenues and expenses for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
(dollars in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019
$
$
Net product sales
Royalty revenue
Licensing and contract revenue
Total revenues
Cost of goods sold (inclusive of amortization of intangibles)
Gross profit
Gross profit percentage
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Research and development expenses
Impairment of intangibles
Total operating expenses
Interest expense and amortization of debt discount
Other non-operating gain
Total other non-operating expense
Loss before income taxes
Income tax benefit
Net loss

145,850
4,107
27,927
177,884
74,480
103,404
58 %
81,961
19,696
72,183
173,840
14,396
(546)
13,850
(84,286)
4,697
(79,589)

235,472
3,641
918
240,031
111,630
128,401
53 %
93,030
32,319
283,747
409,096
18,211
(884)
17,327
(298,022)
27,121
(270,901)

% Change
(38)%
13 %
2,942 %
(26)%
(33)%
(19)%
(12)%
(39)%
(75)%
(58)%
(21)%
(38)%
(20)%
(72)%
(83)%
(71)%
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Results of Operations - Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 – continued
Revenue
The following table presents total revenues for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 (dollars in
thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019
$
$
% Change
Venlafaxine ER (VERT)
Methylphenidate ER
Lorzone
Divigel
Nitofurantoin
OB Complete
Other
Net product sales
Royalty revenue
Licensing and contract revenue
Total revenues

25,576
31,699
4,058
31,629
10,443
6,948
35,497
145,850
4,107
27,927
177,884

75,601
73,205
15,004
26,794
5,726
9,851
29,291
235,472
3,641
918
240,031

(66)%
(57)%
(73)%
18%
82%
(29)%
21%
(38)%
13%
2,942%
(26)%

Total revenues decreased by $62.1 million to $177.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, as
compared to $240.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 primarily due to a decrease in net product
sales, partially offset by higher licensing and contract revenue.
Net Product Sales. Net product sales decreased by $89.6 million to $145.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2020, as compared to $235.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2019. Approximately
$52.2 million of this decrease was attributable to lower realized prices, and approximately $37.4 million was due
to lower volumes of products sold. Net product sales of methylphenidate ER (including M-72), decreased 57%
due to price erosion from generic competitors resulting in significantly lower net selling prices and lower
volumes. Product sales from VERT decreased by 66% for the year ended December 31, 2020 due to additional
generic competition resulting in lower volumes and net realized selling prices. During the first quarter of 2020
two competitors launched competing dosage strengths of VERT which negatively affected selling prices and
volumes. We expect that the additional competition for both methylphenidate ER and VERT from these
competitors, as well as additional generic product approvals and launches in the future, if any, will continue to
negatively affect our sales of these products in 2021 and future years. VERT sales were favorably impacted by
$6.4 million, in the aggregate related to product returns during the twelve months ended December 31, 2020
based on actual experience. There can be no assurance that actual product returns experience and other
adjustments will continue to favorably impact net sales in 2021 and in future years.
Product sales from Lorzone declined 73% for the year ended December 31, 2020, reflecting lower volume due
to the launch of generic competitors in late 2019 and 2020, and transition of sales to the Company’s authorized
generic product during the period. We expect that additional competition for Lorzone from current competitors,
as well as additional generic product approvals and launches in the future, if any, will continue to negatively
affect our sales of Lorzone during 2021 and in future years. Product sales from Divigel increased by 18%,
driven primarily by the launch of a new dosage strength in 2020 together with targeted promotional activities
and strong patient access. Product sales from the OB Complete family of prescription prenatal dietary
supplements decreased by $2.9 million or 29% during 2020 due to lower volumes sold reflecting a shift of
promotional resources to another product. Sales of Nitrofurantoin increased 82% as the 2020 represented the
first full year of sales following the product’s launch during 2019. Other product sales increased by 21%, largely
due to other non-promoted products during the year.
Royalty Revenue. Royalty revenue increased by $0.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared
to the prior year period, primarily due to higher product sales by license partners during the year.
Licensing and Contract Revenue. Licensing and contract revenue increased by $27.0 million in 2020 primarily
reflecting license agreement with Santen Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd, granting the exclusive development,
registration, and commercialization rights to RVL-1201 in Japan, China, and other Asian countries as well as
EMEA countries. Under the agreement, the Company received an upfront milestone payment of $25.0 million.
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Results of Operations - Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 – continued
Cost of Goods Sold and Gross Profit Percentage
The following table presents a breakdown of total cost of goods sold for the years ended December 31, 2020
and 2019 (dollars in thousands):
Year Ended
December 31,
2020
2019
$
$
Amortization of intangible assets
Depreciation expense
Royalty expense
Other cost of goods sold
Total cost of goods sold

16,046
1,492
9,283
47,659
74,480

52,657
2,343
10,198
46,432
111,630

% Change
(70)%
(36)%
(9)%
3%
(33)%

Total cost of goods sold decreased $37.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2020 to $74.5 million as
compared to $111.6 million in the year ended December 31, 2019, primarily driven by a $36.6 million decrease
in amortization of intangible assets, due to lower amortization for methylphenidate ER and VERT. Royalty
expense decreased by $0.9 million due to decrease in net sales of certain royalty products. There was no
material change in depreciation expense or other cost of goods sold.
Gross profit percentage increased to 58% for the year ended December 31, 2020 compared to 53% for the year
ended December 31, 2019. Excluding amortization and depreciation, our gross profit percentage for the year
ended December 31, 2020 was 68% as compared to 76% for the year ended December 31, 2019 largely due
to higher unit production costs and sample costs associated with the launch of Upneeq, partially offset by lower
inventory reserves and royalty expense.
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased $11.0 million in the year ended December 31, 2020 to
$82.0 million as compared to $93.0 million in the year ended December 31, 2019. The decrease in our selling,
general and administrative expenses reflects salesforce reductions in the third quarter of 2019 and the first
quarter of 2020, partially offset by higher marketing expenses associated with the launch of Upneeq and higher
general and administrative expenses largely due to costs associated with the Santen license transaction and
legal expenses during the year.
Research and Development Expenses
Research and development expenses decreased by $12.6 million in the year ended December 31, 2020 to
$19.7 million as compared to $32.3 million in the year ended December 31, 2019. The decrease primarily
reflects the completion of the Phase III clinical trials of both arbaclofen ER and RVL-1201 during the first and
second quarters of 2019, respectively, and the NDA filing fees for RVL-1201 incurred in the third quarter of
2019.
The following table summarizes our research and development expenses incurred for the periods indicated
(dollars in thousands):

Arbaclofen ER
RVL-1201
Other
Total

Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019
$
$
3,146
7,430
3,257
7,059
13,293
17,830
19,696
32,319

% Change
(58)%
(54)%
(25)%
(39)%
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Results of Operations - Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 – continued
Impairment of Intangible Assets and Goodwill
Impairments of intangible assets and goodwill for the year-ended December 31, 2020 was $72.2 million primarily
consisting of write-downs to fair value for methylphenidate ER, VERT, arbaclofen ER and Oxybutynin of $19.5
million, $20.2 million, $28.9 million and $3.6 million, respectively, including an indefinite-lived In-Process R&D
asset, arbaclofen ER, which resulted in an impairment charge of $28.9 million due to a delay in the anticipated
launch of the product candidate, if approved. The impairments of methylphenidate ER, VERT and Oxybutynin
reflect the competitive generic environment which has continued to erode net realized pricing and volumes of
these products, while the impairment of Onitnua ER reflects a delay in its anticpated commericialization should
the product be approved by the FDA. In the fourth quarter of 2020 we recognized an impairment of finite-lived
development technology and product rights for VERT of $10.7 million and $9.5 million, respectively due to the
approval of a competing product and the anticipated deterioration of pricing and volumes, and an impairment of
indefinite-lived intangible assets for arbaclofen ER of $28.9 million.
Impairment of intangible assets was $283.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2019 primarily
consisting of write-downs to fair value of methylphenidate ER, VERT, Osmolex ER, and Corvite of $128.1
million, $137.7 million, $17.7 million, and $0.2 million, respectively. Methylphenidate ER tablets and VERT were
impaired due to lower revenues reflecting an increasingly competitive environment which deteriorated pricing
and volumes; Osmolex ER was impaired due to underperforming revenue expectations subsequent to the
launch of the product; and Corvite was impaired due to the discontinuation of the product. In the third and fourth
quarter of 2019, we also recognized an impairment of finite-lived development technology and product rights
for VERT of $73.0 million and $64.7 million, respectively, due to approvals of competing products which
deteriorated pricing and volumes.
The following table details the impairment charges for such periods (in thousands):

Asset/Asset Group
Product Rights
Methylphenidate ER

Year Ended December 31, 2020
Impairment
Charge
$
Reason For Impairment

19,539
19,539

Lower revenue due to generic
competition.

Developed Technology

Venlafaxine ER
Oxybutynin

10,655
3,618
14,273

Revenue underperforming
expectations due to new
generic market entrants.
Lower revenue expectations.

Distribution Rights
Venlafaxine ER

9,461

Lower revenue due to generic
competition.

28,910

Delay in anticipated
commercialization of the
product candidate, if approved

In-Process R&D

Arbaclofen ER
Total Impairment Charges for year ended
December 31, 2020

72,183
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Results of Operations - Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 – continued
Impairment of Intangible Assets and Goodwill - continued
Year Ended December 31, 2019
Impairment
Charge
Asset/Asset Group
$
Reason For Impairment
Product Rights
Osmolex ER
17,730
Lower than expected volume
Lower revenue due to generic
Methylphenidate ER
128,113
competition.
Corvite
190
Discontinued formulation
146,033
Developed Technology
Revenue underperforming
expectations due to new
Venlafaxine ER
72,995
generic market entrants.
Distribution Rights

Venlafaxine
Total Impairment Charges for year ended
December 31, 2019

64,719

Revenue underperforming
expectations due to new
generic market entrants.

283,747

Impairment of Fixed Assets
Fixed asset impairments for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 were less than $0.1 million and $0.1
million, respectively, due to the abandonment of information technology in both 2020 and 2019 and warehouse
assets in 2019.
Interest Expense and Amortization of Debt Discount
Interest expense and amortization of debt discount decreased by $3.8 million in the year ended December 31,
2020 to $14.4 million as compared to $18.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2019. The decrease in
borrowing costs reflects lower levels of indebtedness following the prepayment of debt in the third quarter of
2020, and lower interest rates.
Other Non-operating (Income) Expenses, net
Other non-operating (income) expense was $(0.6) million and $(0.9) million for the years ended December 31,
2020 and 2019, respectively.
Income Tax Benefit (in thousands):
Year Ended
December 31,
2020
2019
$
$
Income tax benefit
Effective tax rate

4,697
5.6 %

27,121
9.1 %

Income tax benefit decreased by $22.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2020 to $4.7 million as compared
to $27.1 million in the year ended December 31, 2019. The significant difference in the 2020 income tax benefit
was the result of recording a valuation allowance in 2019.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Our principal sources of liquidity are cash generated from operations and amounts available to be drawn under
our Revolving Credit Facility, or Revolver. Our primary uses of cash are to fund operating expenses, product
development costs, capital expenditures, debt service payments, as well as strategic business and product
acquisitions.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources – continued
As of December 31, 2020, we had cash and cash equivalents of $114.1 million and borrowing availability under
the Revolver of $50.0 million. We also had $221.3 million aggregate principal amount borrowed under our term
loans. During the year ended December 31, 2020 we generated $17.6 million of cash flows from operations,
and during the year ended December 31, 2019, we generated cash flows from operations of $33.6 million. We
expect to generate positive cash flow from operations in the future through sales of our existing products;
however, we expect our levels of cash flow generated to be lower or negative in the near term due to price
erosion on our generic products and new product launch expenses associated with the launch of Upneeq and
possible future price erosion on our other products.
As of December 31, 2020, the interest rate was 4.75% and 5.25% for our Term A Loan and Term B Loan,
respectively.
As of December 31, 2019, the interest rate was 5.79% and 6.29% for our Term A Loan and Term B Loan,
respectively.
At December 31, 2020, there were no outstanding borrowings or outstanding letters of credit under the Revolver.
Availability under the Revolver as of December 31, 2020 was $50.0 million.
On January 13, 2020 we completed a follow-on equity offering and allotted 6,900,000 ordinary share at a public
offering price of $5.00 per share. The number of shares issued in this offering reflected the exercise in full of
the underwriters’ option to purchase 900,000 ordinary shares. The aggregate net proceeds from the follow-on
offering were approximately $31.8 million after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and offering
expenses. Proceeds from the offering were used for working capital and general corporate purposes.
On July 16, 2020 we completed a follow-on equity offering and allotted 5.0 million ordinary shares. The
aggregate proceeds from the follow-on offering were approximately $30.4 million after deducting offering
expenses. Proceeds from the offering will be used for working capital and general corporate purposes.
Our non-promoted products, including methylphenidate ER and VERT compete in generic markets for which
competition has eroded, and will continue to erode, profitability over time. During the year ended December 31,
2020, there were two launches of generic VERT, and as of December 31, 2020 there were six approved AB
rated generic forms of Lorzone. Additionally, there was an additional approval of competing dosage strengths
of VERT during 2020 which launched in early 2021. As a result, we have experienced, and anticipate that we
will continue to experience, price erosion negatively affecting profitability of these products and possibly others
in 2021 and future years.
The Company’s future operating performance and adequacy of cash resources depends on many assumptions,
including assumptions with respect to product sales and expenses, commercialization costs, research and
development expenses as well as other factors. These assumptions may prove to be wrong or other factors
may adversely affect the Company’s operating results. As a result, the Company’s operating results may
fluctuate significantly quarter to quarter or year to year. The Company expects its near term levels of profitability
and cash flow to be negatively affected by price competition on our generic products, and increased expenses
associated with new product launches. As a result, it’s possible the Company would not be able to comply with
financial covenants in its credit agreement or generate sufficient cash to service its debt obligations. This could,
among other things, force us to raise additional funds or force us to reduce our expenses through cost cutting
measures either of which could have a material adverse affect on our business.
The Company is currently undertaking a comprehensive review of strategic options to maximize shareholder
value. The options under consideration include asset disposals, re-financings and commercialization or
collaboration agreements. In the event the Company is unable to generate sufficient proceeds from these
strategic options such that it can reduce, retire or refinance its existing debt, the Company believes it has
sufficient plans to effectively manage its expenses and avail itself of cure provisions provided for in its credit
agreement, in order to maintain compliance with its debt covenants therein. The use of the cure provisions will
result in the utilization of cash to prepay debt.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources – continued
A significant portion of the Company’s expense base is discretionary and the Company has the ability to reduce
or defer spending to reduce expenses and improve profitability and cash flow to maintain compliance with its
debt covenants. This could include, among other things, significant reductions in its general and administrative
expenses, research and development expenses, including deferral of clinical trial programs, and deferrals of
certain promotional and capital spending programs which could negatively impact the Company’s revenue
growth and plans. The Company has previously demonstrated an ability to implement various cost reduction
initiatives. During the third quarter of 2019 and continuing into 2020, the Company reduced its field force by an
aggregate of 90 positions, generating annualized savings of approximately $10 million, and took measures to
realign its operating infrastructure to prepare for the launch of Upneeq and implemented other cost-savings
measures to reduce its expenses.
Based on the current facts and circumstances, the use of the cure provisions provided for in the credit
agreement, which will result in utilizing cash to prepay debt, and the Company’s ability to implement spending
reductions and program deferrals, we believe it is probable that the Company can effectively manage its
spending to improve profitability in order to maintain compliance with the debt covenants and other obligations
in our credit agreement for at least the next 12 months, even if the strategic review does not generate sufficient
proceeds to reduce, retire or refinance our existing debt. As a result, the Company has concluded that, after
consideration of management’s plans our existing cash and cash equivalents, together with cash enerated from
operations, will be sufficient to meet our anticipated cash needs for the next twelve months beyond issuance
date.
To the extent that we raise additional capital through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, our
shareholders’ ownership interests will be diluted, and the terms of these securities may include liquidation or
other preferences that adversely affect the rights of our shareholders. Additionally, certain financings may
require the consent of the lenders under our senior secured credit facilities. Debt financing, if available, may
involve agreements that include covenants limiting or restricting our ability to take specific actions, such as
incurring additional debt, making capital expenditures or declaring dividends. If we raise additional funds through
collaborations, strategic alliances or marketing, distribution or licensing arrangements with third parties, we may
have to relinquish valuable rights to our intellectual property, technologies, future revenue streams, research
programs or product candidates or to grant licenses on terms that may not be favorable to us.
Cash Flows
The following table provides information regarding our cash flows for the periods indicated (in thousands):

Net cash provided by operating activities
Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Effect on cash of changes in exchange rate
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Year Ended
December 31,
2020
2019
$
$
17,590
33,567
(3,084)
(4,020)
3,682
(4,691)
—
175
18,188
25,031

Change
(15,977)
936
8,373
(175)
(6,843)

Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from operating activities are primarily driven by earnings from operations (excluding the impact of
non-cash items), the timing of cash receipts and disbursements related to accounts receivable and accounts
payable and the timing of inventory transactions and changes in other working capital amounts. Net cash
provided by operating activities was $17.6 million and $33.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2020
and 2019, respectively. The decrease in cash provided by operating activities in the year ended December 31,
2020, as compared to year ended December 31, 2019, was primarily as a result of lower net income after
considering non-cash adjustments, partially offset by higher cash provided from operating assets and liabilities,
particularly accounts receivable and inventories as compared to the year ended December 31, 2019.
Net cash used in investing activities
Our uses of cash in investing activities during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 reflected
purchases of property, plant and equipment and were $3.1 million and $4.0 million, respectively.
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Cash Flows – continued
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Net cash provided by financing activities of $3.7 million during 2020 largely reflecting net proceeds raised from
equity offerings in January and July, 2020, offset by prepayments of term loans in the third quarter of 2020, and
share repurchases.
Net cash used by financing activities of $4.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2019 primarily related
to the $1.8 million of net repayments of insurance premium financing and by $2.8 million repurchase of ordinary
shares.
Contractual Obligations
The following table lists our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2020.
Payments due by period (in thousands)
Less than 1
Total

year

More than 5
1 - 3 years

3 - 5 years

years

219,525

—

219,525

—

—

21,134

10,686

10,448

—

—

44

40

4

—

—

Operating lease obligations (4)

3,098

1,589

1,509

—

—

Royalty obligations(5)

6,083

1,000

3,000

2,000

83

249,884

13,315

234,486

2,000

83

Long-term debt obligations(1)
Interest expense(2)
Capital lease obligations(3)

Total

1. Represents the remaining principal amount under our senior secured credit facilities, which is due on
December 21, 2022.
2. These amounts represent future cash interest payments related to our existing debt obligations based on
variable interest rates specified in the senior secured credit facilities. Payments related to variable debt are
based on applicable rates at December 31, 2020 plus the specified margin in the senior secured credit
facilities for each period presented. As of December 31, 2020, the interest rate was 4.75% for Term A Loan
and 5.25% for Term B Loan.
3. Includes minimum cash payments related to certain fixed assets, primarily office equipment.
4. Includes minimum cash payments related to our leased offices and warehouse facilities under noncancelable leases in New Jersey, Florida, North Carolina, as well as in Argentina.
5. Includes obligations to make minimum annual royalty payments.
Our liability for unrecognized tax benefits has been excluded from the above contractual obligations table as
the nature and timing of future payments, if any, cannot be reasonably estimated. As of December 31, 2020,
our liability for unrecognized tax benefits was $0.2 million (excluding interest and penalties). We do not
anticipate that the amount of our liability for unrecognized tax benefits will significantly change in the next 12
months.
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Principal risks and uncertainties
This Annual Report contains forward-looking information based on our current expectations. You should
carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below together with all of the other information contained
in this Annual Report, including our consolidated financial statements and the related notes appearing at the
end of this Annual Report. We have presented the below risks as “Risks related to our business,” “Risks related
to the development and commercialization of products,” “Risks related to our intellectual property rights,” “Risks
related to our industry,” “Risks related to our indebtedness,” “Risks related to our ordinary shares,” “Risks related
to being an Irish corporation listing ordinary shares,” “Risks related to taxation” and “General risks.” If any of the
following risks actually occurs, our business, prospects, operating results and financial condition could suffer
materially. The risks described below are not the only risks we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not
currently known to us or those we currently view to be immaterial also may materially and adversely affect our
business, prospects, operating results or financial condition.
Risks related to our business
Due to our dependence on a limited number of products, our business could be materially adversely
affected if one or more of our key products do not perform as well as expected.
We generate a significant portion of our total revenues and gross profit from the sale of a limited number of
products. For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, our top ten products by product sales accounted
for approximately 95% and approximately 97%, respectively, of our total revenues and a significant portion of
our gross profit. Any material adverse developments, including increased competition, pricing pressures or
supply shortages, with respect to the sale or use of one or more of these products or our failure to successfully
introduce new key products, could have a material adverse effect on our revenues and gross profit. For example,
we have experienced significant increased pricing and market share pressure on methylphenidate ER, VERT
and Lorzone due to additional market entrants, which we expect to continue.
Upneeq may fail to achieve market acceptance by clinicians and patients, or others in the medical
community, and the market opportunity for Upneeq may be smaller than we estimate.
Upneeq may fail to gain market acceptance by clinicians, patients, and others in the medical community. While
there are no drugs other than Upneeq currently approved in the United States for the treatment of acquired
blepharoptosis in adults, some clinicians may treat blepharoptosis with off-label use of other products or with
surgery, or they may not treat the condition at all. Additionally, as the first drug approved for blepharoptosis,
we spend significant resources on educating clinicians about the disorder and the impact on patients’ lives. Our
education efforts may not be sufficient to convince clinicians to prescribe Upneeq for their patients suffering
from blepharoptosis.
If Upneeq does not achieve adequate levels of acceptance by clinicians or patients, we will not generate
significant product revenues. The degree of market acceptance of Upneeq will depend on a number of factors,
including:
•
•
•
•
•
•

the efficacy and potential advantages of Upneeq compared to alternative treatments, including surgery;
the price at which we offer Upneeq;
the clinical indication for which Upneeq is approved;
the willingness of the target patient population to try new therapies and of clinicians to prescribe these
therapies;
the effectiveness of our marketing and distribution support, and our available resources to support
adequate marketing efforts; and
the timing of market introduction of competitive products.

Our assessment of the potential market opportunity for Upneeq is based on industry and market data that we
obtained from industry publications and research, surveys and studies conducted by third parties, some of which
we commissioned. Industry publications and third-party research, surveys and studies generally indicate that
their information has been obtained from sources believed to be reliable, although they do not guarantee the
accuracy or completeness of such information. While we believe these industry publications and third-party
research, surveys and studies are reliable, we have not independently verified such data. The potential market
opportunity for the treatment of acquired blepharoptosis, or droopy eye lid, is difficult to precisely estimate. The
results from our physician and patient surveys may be less reflective of the acquired blepharoptosis population
as a whole than a survey conducted with a larger sample size.
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Risks related to our business – continued
Our estimates of the potential market opportunities for our product candidates include several key assumptions
based on our industry knowledge, industry publications, third-party research and other surveys, which may be
based on a small sample size or otherwise fail to accurately reflect market opportunities. While we believe that
our internal assumptions are reasonable, no independent source has verified such assumptions. If any of our
assumptions or estimates, or these publications, research, surveys or studies prove to be inaccurate, then the
actual market for Upneeq may be smaller than we expect, and as a result our product revenue may be less than
expected. The uncertainty with respect to the future progression of the COVID-19 pandemic and its long-term
effects may also adversely impact the accuracy of such estimates and our potential market opportunity for
Upneeq.
Upneeq is only available through our pharmacy, RVL Pharmacy, and is a cash only product not covered by any
private or government insurance. We control the price for Upneeq which is consistent for all patients. Although
we believe this cash only model with consistent pricing is a benefit to patients, the price or distribution model
may not be accepted by clinicians or patients and may negatively impact filled prescriptions and sales of
Upneeq.
Our decision to establish and dispense Upneeq exclusively through a wholly-owned mail order
pharmacy represents a new distribution model for us and has expanded the scope of applicable
government regulation and may provoke government scrutiny.
We have made the decision to dispense Upneeq solely through a mail order pharmacy operated by RVL
Pharmacy LLC. RVL Pharmacy was established as a wholly-owned subsidiary of RVL Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
(formerly RevitaLid, Inc. and the NDA holder of Upneeq), which is our wholly-owned subsidiary commercializing
Upneeq. The pharmacy dispenses only Upneeq and operates only on a cash basis (i.e., it does not submit any
claims to third party payors for prescriptions filled). We cannot be certain that this business model will be
successful. As a pharmacy, RVL Pharmacy is subject to certain regulations that have not historically applied to
our operations, including state pharmacy licensure requirements and privacy and data security laws applicable
only to health care providers. For example, none of our companies have historically been a covered entity under
the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (“HIPAA”). Going forward, we may make the
determination that one or more of our companies, such as RVL Pharmaceuticals, Inc. or RVL Pharmacy, may
be a HIPAA covered entity. HIPAA covered entities are subject to comprehensive data privacy, security and
breach notification obligations and non-compliance may result in civil money penalties as well as criminal fines
and imprisonment. In the United States, numerous federal and state laws and regulations, including state data
breach notification laws, state health information privacy laws, and federal and state consumer protection laws
and regulations (e.g., Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act), that govern the collection, use,
disclosure, and protection of health-related and other personal information could apply to our pharmacy
operations. For example, pharmacies licensed under California law are subject to California's Confidentiality of
Medical Information Act (“CMIA”), which places restrictions on the use and disclosure of medical information by
providers of health care, including pharmacies, and can impose a significant compliance obligation on such
providers. Violations of the CMIA can result in criminal, civil and administrative sanctions, and the CMIA also
provides individuals a private right of action with respect to disclosures of their health information that violate
CMIA.
Compliance with data privacy and security laws, rules and regulations could require us to take on more onerous
obligations in our contracts, require us to engage in costly compliance exercises, and restrict our ability to
collect, use and disclose data. Each of these constantly evolving laws can be subject to varying interpretations.
Failure to comply with data protection laws and regulations could result in government investigations and
enforcement actions (which could include civil or criminal penalties), fines, private litigation, and/or adverse
publicity and could negatively affect our operating results and business. Claims that we have violated
individuals' privacy rights, failed to comply with data protection laws, or breached our contractual obligations,
even if we are not found liable, could be expensive and time-consuming to defend and could result in adverse
publicity that could harm our business.
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Risks related to our business – continued
Also, certain pharmacies owned by or closely affiliated with pharmaceutical manufacturers have been subject
to government scrutiny in the past. Although we do not expect the pharmacy to submit claims to third party
payors and anticipate that patients will be responsible for the costs associated with the product, there can be
no assurance that RVL Pharmacy and its relationship to RVL Pharmaceuticals, Inc. will not be subject to
government scrutiny. Such scrutiny could result in increased regulatory costs to us or cause us to be the subject
of a regulatory investigation or sanctions, which could adversely affect our business, results of operations or
financial condition, which would materially harm our business.
Our business may be adversely affected by the ongoing coronavirus outbreak.
In December 2019, a novel strain of coronavirus, COVID-19, was reported to have surfaced in Wuhan,
China. COVID-19 has since spread to other regions in China and other countries, including the United States,
where we have our executive offices and principal operations. Infections and deaths related to COVID-19 have
disrupted the United States’ healthcare and healthcare regulatory systems. Such disruptions could divert
healthcare resources away from, or materially delay the FDA approval with respect to, our clinical trials and
product candidates. It is unknown how long these disruptions could continue. Other known and unknown factors
caused by COVID-19 could also materially delay our clinical trials that may be required for these or other product
candidates, including our ability to recruit and retain patients and principal investigators and site staff who, as
healthcare providers, may have heightened exposure to COVID-19 if an outbreak occurs in their geography.
Any elongation or de-prioritization of our clinical trials or delay in regulatory review resulting from such
disruptions could materially affect the development and/or approval of our product candidates.
The economic impact of COVID-19’s spread, which has caused a broad impact globally, such as restrictions on
travel and quarantine policies put into place by businesses and governments, may adversely affect us. In
particular, we expect that the COVID-19 outbreak will negatively affect demand for our products by limiting the
ability of our sales representatives to meet with physicians and patients to visit their doctors and pharmacists to
receive prescriptions for our products. Specifically, we expect that our in-person sales and marketing efforts for
Upneeq may be negatively impacted by the COVID-19 outbreak as patients de-prioritize or delay non-critical
physician visits and procedures, such as those related to eye care.
We have experienced increased demand for certain of our products as customers increase stock as a
precautionary measure during the pandemic. We expect that this stockpiling of our product will result in
decreased demand for our products in the future as customers use their higher inventory as opposed to placing
new customer orders or filing new prescriptions. We have increased inventory of one of our products to avoid
supply issues if our contract manufacturer is unable to operate due to the pandemic. If demand for the product
does not increase or maintain at a certain level we may be forced to write off product that becomes outdated.
Additionally, while the potential economic impact brought by, and the duration of, COVID-19 may be difficult to
assess or predict, the pandemic has resulted in and could continue to result in significant disruption of global
financial markets, reducing our ability to access capital, which could in the future negatively affect our liquidity
and our ability to execute on our strategic plans.
The extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic impacts our results will depend on future developments that are
highly uncertain and cannot be predicted. We cannot reasonably estimate the length or severity of the COVID19 pandemic or the related mitigation efforts, including the length of time it may take for normal economic and
operating conditions to resume or the extent to which the disruption may materially impact our business,
financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
If we determine that our goodwill and other intangible assets have become impaired, we may record
significant impairment charges, which would adversely affect our results of operations.
Goodwill and other intangible assets represent a significant portion of our assets. Goodwill is the excess of cost
over the fair market value of net assets acquired in business combinations. In the future, goodwill and intangible
assets may increase as a result of future acquisitions. We review our goodwill, indefinite lived intangible assets
and definite lived intangible assets at least annually for impairment. Impairment may result from, among other
things, deterioration in the performance of acquired businesses, adverse market conditions and adverse
changes in applicable laws or regulations, including changes that restrict the activities of an acquired business.
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Risks related to our business – continued
Any impairment of goodwill or other intangible assets would result in a non-cash charge against earnings, which
would adversely affect our results of operations. For example, we incurred charges for impairments of intangible
assets of $49.0 million during the fourth quarter of 2020, primarily related to the write-off to fair value of
venlafaxine due to lower revenue due to generic competition and a write down to fair value of arbaclofen ER
due to a delay in the anticipated commercialization date, if approved. For the year ended December 31, 2020,
we recorded non-cash impairment charges of $72.2 million related to adjustments to the forecasted operating
results for certain of our acquired generic, developed technology, product and distribution rights compared to
their originally forecasted operating results at the date of acquisition.
In certain circumstances, we issue price adjustments and other sales allowances to our customers,
including providing lower pricing to underinsured or non-insured patients. If our estimates for these
price adjustments are incorrect, any reserves which we establish for these programs may be
inadequate, and may result in adjustments to these reserves or otherwise have a material adverse effect
on our financial position and results of operations.
For some of our products, we enjoy a period of time during which we may be the only party, or one of a small
number of parties, marketing and selling a certain product. This might be seen more often with one of our brand
products, but may also occur in instances where we are one of a small number of parties selling a generic
product. At some point other parties, selling either a competitive brand or generic product, may enter the market
and compete for customers and market share resulting in a significant price decline for our drug. When we
experience price declines following a period of marketing exclusivity or semi-exclusivity, or at any time when a
competitor enters the market or offers a lower price with respect to a product we are selling, we may decide to
lower the price of our product to retain market share. As a result of lowering prices, we may provide price
adjustments to our customers for the difference between our new (lower) price and the price at which we
previously sold the product which is still held in inventory by our customers, which is known as a shelf stock
adjustment. While we do establish reserves for shelf stock adjustments, if actual shelf stock adjustments differ
from our estimates, our operating results could be negatively affected. There are also circumstances under
which we may decide not to provide price adjustments to certain customers, and consequently, as a matter of
business strategy, we may risk a greater level of sale returns of products in the customer’s existing inventory
and lose future sales volume to competitors rather than reduce our pricing.
We establish reserves for chargebacks, rebates and incentives, other sales allowances and product returns at
the time of sale, based on estimates. Separately, these same reserves may be used to support a patient
assistance program. A patient assistance program is a program designed to improve patient access to products
by reducing barriers to access caused by potentially high out-of-pocket expenses for patients. The program
assists under-insured or non-insured patients by helping to defray their out-of-pocket costs, in some cases
entirely. Our estimates on the number of participants for the patient assistance program or other similar
programs, currently or in the future, may affect the adequacy of our reserves. Although we believe our processes
for estimating reserves are adequate, we cannot provide assurances that our reserves will ultimately prove to
be adequate. Increases in sales allowances may exceed our estimates for a number of reasons, including
unanticipated competition or an unexpected change in one or more of our contractual relationships. We will
continue to evaluate the effects of competition and will record a price adjustment reserve if and when we deem
it necessary. Any failure to establish adequate reserves with respect to sales allowances may result in a material
adverse effect on our financial position and results of operations.
Rebates include mandated discounts under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program, Medicare Part D Prescription
Drug Benefit Program and TRICARE Retail Pharmacy Refunds Program (TRICARE). Rebates are amounts
owed after the final dispensing of the product to a benefit plan participant and are based upon contractual
agreements or statutory requirements with benefit providers. We estimate the allowance for rebates based on
statutory discount rates and expected utilization at the time of sale. We adjust the allowance for rebates quarterly
to reflect actual experience. If we change the way rebates are applied or calculated, it may impair our ability to
accurately accrue for rebates and have a material adverse effect on our financial position and results of
operations. See “Risks Related to Our Industry — Our profitability depends on coverage and reimbursement by
governmental authorities, managed care organizations (“MCOs”), and other third-party payors; healthcare
reform and other future legislation creates uncertainty and may lead to reductions in coverage or reimbursement
levels.”
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We may incur operating losses in the future.
Our net loss was $79.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. Our operating results may fluctuate
significantly from quarter to quarter and year to year.
We devote significant amounts of financial resources to the manufacture, marketing and commercialization of
our approved products, and support of our research and development of our clinical and preclinical programs.
We may incur significant expenses in the future. Some of these expenses will be made in connection with our
ongoing activities, as we:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

launch new products into the marketplace;
conduct clinical trials and seek regulatory approval for arbaclofen ER and additional indications for
Upneeq;
continue development of our pipeline product candidates;
conduct preclinical studies for product candidates;
add personnel to support our marketing, commercialization and sales of approved products, including
Upneeq, and continue clinical and preclinical product development efforts;
continue our research and development efforts for new product opportunities, including business
development and acquisitions; and
operate as a public company.

To become profitable, we must succeed in developing or acquiring products, obtaining regulatory approval for
them, and manufacturing, marketing and selling those products for which we may obtain regulatory approval.
Even if we achieve profitability for any period in the future, we may not be able to sustain profitability in
subsequent periods. Our failure to become profitable would depress our market value and could impair our
ability to raise capital, expand our business, discover or develop other products or continue our operations. A
decline in the value of our company could cause you to lose all or part of your investment.
Our profitability depends on our major customers. If these relationships do not continue as expected,
including as a result of the continuing trend of consolidation of certain customer groups, our business,
financial condition, prospects and results of operations could materially suffer.
As of December 31, 2020, we had approximately 55 customers, some of which are part of larger buying groups.
Our three largest customers accounted for approximately 94% of our total revenues for the year ended
December 31, 2020, as follows: Cardinal Health, Inc. 20%; McKesson Corporation 43%; and
AmerisourceBergen Corporation 31%. The loss of any one or more of these or any other major customer or the
substantial reduction in orders from any one or more of our major customers could have a material adverse
effect upon our business, prospects, future operating results and financial condition.
Our ability to successfully commercialize any generic or branded product depends in large part upon the
acceptance of the product by third parties, including pharmacies, government formularies, other retailers,
physicians and patients. Therefore, our success will depend in large part on market acceptance of our products.
We make a significant amount of our sales to a relatively small number of drug wholesalers and retail drug
chains. These customers represent an essential part of the distribution chain of our pharmaceutical products.
Drug wholesalers and retail drug chains have undergone, and are continuing to undergo, significant
consolidation. This consolidation may result in these groups gaining additional purchasing leverage and
consequently increasing the product pricing pressures facing our business. Additionally, the emergence of large
buying groups representing independent retail pharmacies and other drug distributors, and the prevalence and
influence of MCOs and similar institutions, potentially enable those groups to demand larger price discounts on
our products. For example, there has been a recent trend of large wholesalers and retailer customers forming
partnerships, such as the alliance between Walgreens and AmerisourceBergen Corporation, the alliance
between Rite Aid and McKesson Drug Company and the alliance between CVS and Cardinal Health. The result
of these developments may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.
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Our branded pharmaceutical expenditures may not result in commercially successful products.
Commercializing branded products is more costly than generic products. We have made significant investments
in the development, launch and commercialization of branded products. This has led to increased infrastructure
costs. We cannot be certain that these business expenditures will result in the successful development or launch
of branded products or will improve the long-term profitability of our business. Just as our generic products take
market share from the corresponding branded products, we will confront the same competitive pressures from
other generic pharmaceutical companies that may seek to introduce generic versions of our branded products.
Generic products generally are sold at a significantly lower cost than the branded version, and, where available,
may be required or encouraged in preference to the branded version under third-party reimbursement programs,
or may be required by law to be substituted for branded versions by pharmacies. Competition from generic
equivalents, accordingly, could have an adverse effect on our branded products. While we have endeavored
(with our relevant development and manufacturing partners, as applicable) to protect our branded assets by
incorporating specialized manufacturing processes and by securing regulatory exclusivities and intellectual
property protections, such exclusivities and protections are subject to expiry and to legal challenges.
We continue to consider product or business acquisitions or licensing arrangements to expand our product line.
The success of our branded products will be based largely on the successful commercialization of our existing
products, the identification of products for acquisition or future development and the acquisition or in-licensing
of new product opportunities. Our current and future investments in acquisition or license arrangements may
not lead to expected, adequate or any returns on investment. We also may not be able to execute future license
or acquisition agreements on reasonable or favorable terms in order to continue to grow or sustain our branded
products. In addition, we cannot be certain that our branded product expenditures will result in commercially
successful launches of these products or will improve the long-term profitability of our branded products. Any
future commercialization efforts that do not meet expectations could result in a write-down of assets related to
the relevant products.
We may discontinue the manufacture and distribution of certain existing products, which may adversely
impact our business, results of operations and financial condition.
We continually evaluate the performance of our products, and may determine that it is in our best interest to
discontinue the manufacture and distribution of certain of our products for various reasons, including
commercial, regulatory, strategic or other reasons. We cannot guarantee that we have correctly forecasted, or
will correctly forecast in the future, the appropriate products to discontinue or that our decision to discontinue
various products is prudent if conditions, including market conditions, change. In addition, we cannot assure
you that discontinuing one or more products will reduce our operating expenses or will not cause us to incur
material charges associated with such a decision. Furthermore, discontinuing one or more existing products
entails various risks, including, in the event that we decide to sell the discontinued product, the risk that we will
not be able to find a purchaser for such products or that the purchase price obtained will not be equal to at least
the book value of the net assets for such products. Other risks include managing the expectations of, and
maintaining good relations with, our customers who previously purchased products that we subsequently
discontinued, which could prevent us from selling other products to them in the future. Moreover, we may incur
other significant liabilities and costs associated with discontinuing one or more of our products, which could
have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
We face intense competition from both brand and generic companies, including companies that sell
branded generics or authorized generics, which could significantly limit our growth and materially
adversely affect our financial results.
The pharmaceutical industry is highly competitive. The principal competitive factors in the pharmaceutical
industry include:
• introduction of other brand or generic drug manufacturers’ products in direct competition with our
products;
• introduction of authorized generic products in direct competition with our products, particularly during
exclusivity periods;
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• ability of generic competitors to quickly enter the market after the expiration of patents or exclusivity
periods, diminishing the amount and duration of significant profits;
• consolidation among distribution outlets through mergers and acquisitions and the formation of buying
groups;
• the willingness of our customers, including wholesale and retail customers, to switch among products
of different pharmaceutical manufacturers;
• pricing pressures by competitors and customers;
• a company’s reputation as a manufacturer and distributor of quality products;
• a company’s level of service (including maintaining sufficient inventory levels for timely deliveries);
• product appearance and labeling; and
• a company’s breadth of product offerings.
We face, and will continue to face, competition from pharmaceutical, biopharmaceutical, biotechnology and
dietary supplement companies developing similar products and technologies. Many of our competitors have
longer operating histories and greater financial, research and development, marketing and other resources than
we do. Consequently, many of our competitors may be able to develop products or processes competitive with,
or superior to, our own. Furthermore, we may not be able to differentiate our products from those of our
competitors, to successfully develop or introduce new products, on a timely basis or at all, that are less costly
than those of our competitors, or to offer payment and other commercial terms to customers as favorable as
those offered by our competitors. The markets in which we compete and intend to compete are undergoing,
and are expected to continue to undergo, rapid and significant change. We expect competition to intensify as
technological advances and consolidations continue. New developments by other manufacturers and
distributors could render our products uncompetitive or obsolete.
We also face price competition generally as other manufacturers enter the market. Any such price competition
may be especially pronounced where our competitors source their products from jurisdictions where production
costs may be lower than our production costs (sometimes significantly), especially lower-cost non-U.S.
jurisdictions. Any of these factors, in turn, could result in reductions in our sales prices and gross profit. This
price competition has led to an increase in customer demands for downward price adjustments by
pharmaceutical distributors. There can be no assurance that we will be able to compete successfully in the
industry or that we will be able to develop and implement any new or additional strategies successfully.
Some of our products, including VERT and Divigel, are reference listed drugs. Manufacturers may seek approval
of generic versions of our reference listed drugs through the submission of ANDAs. In order to obtain approval
of an ANDA, a generic manufacturer generally must show that its product has the same active ingredient(s),
dosage form, strength, route of administration, conditions of use and labeling as the reference listed drug, and
that the generic version is bioequivalent to the reference listed drug, meaning that it is chemically identical and
is absorbed in the body at the same rate and to the same extent. An ANDA applicant need not conduct its own
clinical trials to demonstrate the safety or effectiveness of its generic product, but instead may rely on the prior
findings of safety and effectiveness for the reference listed drug. As a result, generic products may be
significantly less costly to bring to market than reference listed drugs, and companies that produce generic
products are generally able to offer them at lower prices. Moreover, many states allow or require substitution of
a therapeutically equivalent generic drug at the pharmacy level even if a reference listed drug is prescribed.
Thus, following the introduction of a generic drug, a significant percentage of the market share of a reference
listed drug may be lost to the generic product. Competition from generic versions of our products could
negatively impact our future total revenues, profitability and cash flows. For example, methylphenidate ER
tablets, VERT and Lorzone have experienced, and are expected to continue to experience, significant pricing
erosion due to additional competition from other generic pharmaceutical companies.
Competition in the generic drug industry has also increased due to the proliferation of authorized generic
pharmaceutical products. Authorized generics are generic pharmaceutical products that are introduced by brand
companies, either directly or through third parties, under the brand’s NDA approval for its own branded drug.
Authorized generics, which have already been approved for marketing under the brand’s NDA, are not
prohibited from sale during the 180-day marketing exclusivity period granted to the first-to-file ANDA applicant.
The sale of authorized generics adversely impacts the market share of a generic product that has been granted
180 days of marketing exclusivity.
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This is a significant source of competition for companies that have been granted 180 days of marketing
exclusivity, because an authorized generic can materially decrease the profits that such a company could
receive as an otherwise exclusive marketer of a product. Branded drug product companies may also reduce the
price of their branded drug products to compete directly with generic drug products entering the market, which
would similarly have the effect of reducing gross profit. Such actions have the effect of reducing the potential
market share and profitability of generic products and may inhibit the development and introduction of generic
pharmaceutical products corresponding to certain branded drugs.
Approximately 70% and 77% of our net product sales for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019,
respectively, were generated by our generic products. Our future profitability depends, in part, upon our ability
to introduce, on a timely basis, new generic products. The timeliness of our product introductions is dependent
upon, among other things, the timing of regulatory approval of our products, which to a large extent is outside
of our control, as well as the timing of competing products. As additional suppliers introduce comparable generic
pharmaceutical products, price competition intensifies, market access narrows and product sales prices and
gross profit decline, often significantly and rapidly.
As our competitors introduce their own generic equivalents of our generic pharmaceutical products,
our revenues and gross profit from such products generally decline, often rapidly.
Revenues and gross profit derived from generic pharmaceutical products often follow a pattern based on
regulatory and competitive factors that we believe are unique to the generic pharmaceutical industry. As the
patent for a brand name product or the statutory marketing exclusivity period (if any) expires, the first generic
manufacturer to receive regulatory approval for a generic equivalent of the product often is able to capture a
substantial share of the market. However, as other generic manufacturers receive regulatory approvals for their
own generic versions, that market share and the price of that product will typically decline depending on several
factors, including the number of competitors, the price of the branded product and the pricing strategy of the
new competitors. For example, our revenues from methylphenidate ER declined 57% for the year ended
December 31, 2020 compared to the year ended December 31, 2019 due to price erosion as result of generic
competition from other pharmaceutical companies. Additionally, we are experiencing, and expect to continue
to experience, significant price and market pressure on VERT and Lorzone, which experienced 66% and 74%
revenue declines over the same period, respectively. We cannot provide assurance that the number of
competitors with such products will not increase to such an extent that we may stop marketing a product for
which we previously obtained approval, which may have a material adverse impact on our total revenues and
gross profit.
A business interruption at our manufacturing facility in Marietta, Georgia, our warehouses in Sayreville,
New Jersey and Tampa, Florida, our pharmacy in Sayreville, New Jersey or at facilities operated by third
parties that we rely on, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.
All of the products that we manufacture are produced at our manufacturing facility in Marietta, Georgia, and our
inventory passes through our warehouses in Sayreville, New Jersey and Tampa, Florida. Upneeq is distributed
to patients through our pharmacy, RVL Pharmacy, in Sayreville, New Jersey. These facilities, or the facilities
of third parties that we rely on for the development, supply, marketing or distribution of raw materials or finished
products, including Nephron Pharmaceuticals’ facility in South Carolina, which we rely upon for the manufacture
of Upneeq, could be subject to earthquakes, power shortages, telecommunications failures, floods, hurricanes,
typhoons, fires, extreme weather conditions, medical epidemics and other natural or man-made disasters or
business interruptions. For example, the ongoing COVID-19 outbreak has resulted in increased travel
restrictions and may result in extended shutdown of our facilities or certain of our suppliers’ businesses, which
may negatively affect our suppliers’ operations. These or any further political or governmental developments
or health concerns in countries in which we or our suppliers operate could result in social, economic and labor
instability, which could have a material adverse effect on the continuity of our business, including with respect
to the availability of raw materials for production. A significant disruption at any of these facilities, even on a
short-term basis, could impair our ability to produce and ship products to the market on a timely basis, which
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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We depend to a large extent on third-party suppliers and distributors for the raw materials for our
products, particularly the chemical compounds comprising the API used in our products, as well as
suppliers and distributors for certain finished goods. A prolonged interruption in the supply of such
products could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position and results of
operations.
We purchase raw materials, including API, and finished goods from both U.S. and non-U.S. companies. If we
experience supply interruptions or delays, we may have to obtain substitute materials or products, which in turn
would require us to obtain amended or additional regulatory approvals, subjecting us to additional expenditures
of significant time and resources. We may source raw materials or API from a single source, which increases
the risk to our business if supply from that source is interrupted. For example, Orion Corporation is our only
supplier of Divigel and Nephron Pharmaceuticals Corporation is our only supplier of Upneeq. We also contract
with third parties to distribute finished products, including Lannett Company, Inc. for oxybutynin ER and
nifedipine ER.
Further, third parties with whom we have agreements may allege that we have failed to perform our obligations
under such agreements and we may become involved in lawsuits or other proceedings related to such
agreements. If any dispute with a third-party supplier or distributor were determined adversely to us, it could
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position and results of operations.
In addition, changes in our raw material suppliers, including suppliers of API, could result in significant delays
in production, higher raw material costs and loss of sales and customers, because regulatory authorities must
generally approve raw material sources for pharmaceutical products, which may be time consuming. Any
significant supply interruption could have a material adverse effect on our business, research and development
programs, financial condition, prospects and results of operations. Because the federal drug approval
application process requires specification of raw material suppliers, if raw materials from a specified supplier
were to become unavailable, FDA approval of a new supplier may be required. A delay in the manufacture and
marketing of the drug involved while a new supplier becomes approved by the FDA and its manufacturing
process is determined to meet FDA standards could, depending on the particular product, have a material
adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition. Generally, we attempt to mitigate the potential
effects of any such situation by providing for, where economically and otherwise feasible, two or more suppliers
of raw materials for the drugs that we manufacture. In addition, we may attempt to enter into a contract with a
raw material supplier in an effort to ensure adequate supply for certain of our products.
We depend on third-party agreements for a portion of our product offerings and product candidates,
including certain key products, and any failure to maintain these arrangements or enter into similar
arrangements with new partners could result in a material adverse effect.
A component of our business model involves entering into a variety of third-party agreements covering a
combination of joint development, supply, marketing and distribution of products. For example, we rely on a
variety of third parties for the development and supply of API for products that we manufacture at our
manufacturing facility in Marietta, Georgia. For the year ended December 31, 2020, 32% of our total revenues
were generated from products manufactured under contract or under license. We cannot provide assurance
that the development, manufacturing or supply efforts of our contractual partners will continue to be successful,
that we will be able to maintain or renew such agreements or that we will be able to enter into new agreements
for additional products. These third parties may also exercise their rights to terminate these agreements or may
fail to perform their obligations as required under these agreements. Alternatives for some of these agreements
may not be easily available.
Any alteration to or termination of our current distribution and marketing agreements, any failure to enter into
new and similar agreements, any disputes regarding our manufacturing agreements with third parties, whether
or not such disputes result in litigation, any failure to fulfill obligations by a third party, or any other interruption
of our product supply under the distribution and marketing agreements, could materially adversely affect our
business, financial condition, prospects and results of operations.
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If we are unable to develop or maintain our sales capabilities, we may not be able to effectively market
or sell our products, including Upneeq.
For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, we spent $36.3 million and $50.0 million, respectively, on
sales and marketing. We face a number of additional risks in developing or maintaining internal sales and
marketing capabilities, including:
•
•
•
•

not being able to attract talented and qualified personnel to build an effective marketing or sales force
capability, or not be able to attract personnel with sufficient experience in marketing to the physicians
and pharmacies in the eye care space;
the cost of establishing a marketing and sales force capability may not be justified in light of the total
revenues generated from our products;
our direct sales and marketing efforts for Upneeq may not be successful; and
our virtual sales and marketing efforts for our other products may not be successful.

If we are unable to establish or maintain adequate sales and marketing capabilities or are unable to do so in a
timely manner, our ability to generate revenues and profits from our products will be limited and this could have
a material adverse effect on our business, financial position and results of operations.
As we gain approval and launch new products, including Upneeq, we will invest in expanding our sales and
marketing organization into new areas such as eye care. In 2020, we established our sales and marketing
infrastructure for the commercial launch of Upneeq and the distribution of Upneeq directly to patients through
RVL Pharmacy. As a company we have limited experience in the sales, marketing and distribution of ophthalmic
products. We are currently expanding our sales force and increasing the number of managers and sales people
with eye care experience.
There are risks involved with establishing, maintaining and expanding our own sales, marketing and distribution
capabilities. For example, recruiting and training a sales force is expensive and time-consuming and could delay
any future product launch. Further, we may underestimate the size of the sales force required for successful
commercialization of Upneeq and may need to expand our sales force earlier and at a higher cost than we
anticipated. If the commercial success of Upneeq is delayed or does not occur for any reason, we would have
prematurely or unnecessarily incurred these commercialization expenses. This may be costly, and our
investment would be lost if we cannot retain or reposition our sales and marketing personnel.
Factors that may inhibit our efforts to commercialize Upneeq on our own include:
•
•
•

our inability to recruit, train and retain adequate numbers of effective eye care sales and marketing
personnel;
the inability of sales personnel to obtain access to clinicians, including as a result of limitation on office
visits as a result of COVID-19 or other health concerns, or persuade adequate numbers of clinicians to
prescribe Upneeq; and
unforeseen costs and expenses associated with maintaining and expanding an independent sales,
marketing and pharmacy organization.

Our future success depends on our ability to attract and retain key employees and consultants.
Our future success depends, to a substantial degree, upon the continued service of the key members of our
management team. The loss of the services of key members of our management team, including Brian
Markison, Tina deVries, Andrew Einhorn and James Schaub, or their inability to perform services on our behalf
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, prospects and results of operations.
Our success also depends, to a large extent, upon the contributions of our sales, marketing, scientific and quality
assurance staff. We compete for qualified personnel against other brand and generic pharmaceutical
manufacturers that may offer more favorable employment opportunities. If we are not able to attract and retain
the necessary personnel to accomplish our business objectives, we could experience constraints that would
adversely affect our ability to sell and market our products effectively and to support our research and
development programs. In particular, sales and marketing efforts depend on the ability to attract and retain
skilled and experienced sales, marketing and quality assurance representatives.
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Although we believe that we have been successful in attracting and retaining skilled personnel in all areas of
our business, we cannot provide assurance that we can continue to attract, train and retain such personnel.
Any failure in this regard could limit our ability to generate sales and develop or acquire new products.
Any acquisitions we may undertake in the future involve numerous risks, including the risks that we
may be unable to integrate the acquired products or businesses successfully and that we may assume
liabilities that could adversely affect us.
We may acquire products or businesses. For example, in October 2017, we acquired the rights to RVL-1201,
which has since been approved by the FDA as Upneeq, the first approved non-surgical treatment for acquired
blepharoptosis in adults. Acquisitions involve numerous risks, including operational risks associated with the
integration of acquired businesses or products. These risks include, but are not limited to:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

difficulties in achieving identified revenue synergies, growth opportunities, operating synergies and cost
savings;
difficulties in assimilating the personnel, operations and products of an acquired company, and the
potential loss of key employees;
difficulties in consolidating information technology platforms, business applications and corporate
infrastructure;
difficulties in integrating our corporate culture with local customs and cultures;
possible overlap between our products or customers and those of an acquired entity that may create
conflicts in relationships or other commitments detrimental to the integrated businesses;
difficulties in obtaining approval from governmental authorities such as the Federal Trade Commission,
(“FTC”);
our inability to achieve expected total revenues and gross profit for any products we may acquire;
possible contingent liability that includes, among others, known or unknown environmental, patent or
product liability claims;
the diversion of management’s attention from other business concerns; and
risks and challenges of entering or operating in markets in which we have limited or no prior experience,
including the unanticipated effects of export controls, exchange rate fluctuations, foreign legal and
regulatory requirements, and political and economic conditions.

In addition, non-U.S. acquisitions involve numerous additional risks, including those related to the potential
absence or inadequacy of policies and procedures sufficient to assure compliance by a non-U.S. entity with
U.S. regulatory and legal requirements. There can be no assurance that we will not be subject to liability arising
from conduct which occurred prior to our acquisition of any entity.
We incur significant transaction costs associated with our acquisitions, including substantial fees for investment
bankers, attorneys, and accountants. Any acquisition could result in our assumption of unknown or unexpected,
and potentially material, liabilities. Additionally, in any acquisition agreement, the negotiated representations,
warranties and agreements of the selling parties may not entirely protect us, and liabilities resulting from any
breaches may not be subject to indemnification by the suing parties and could exceed negotiated indemnity
limitations. These factors could impair our growth and ability to compete, divert resources from other potentially
more profitable endeavors, or otherwise cause a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition
and results of operations.
The financial statements of the companies we have acquired or may acquire in the future are prepared by
management of such companies and are not independently verified by our management. In addition, any pro
forma financial statements prepared by us to give effect to such acquisitions may not accurately reflect the
results of operations of such companies that would have been achieved had the acquisition of such entities
been completed at the beginning of the applicable financial reporting periods. Finally, we cannot guarantee that
we will continue to acquire businesses at valuations consistent with our prior acquisitions or that we will complete
acquisitions at all.
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We may make acquisitions of, or investments in, complementary businesses or products, which may
be on terms that may not turn out to be commercially advantageous, may require additional debt or
equity financing, and may involve numerous risks, including those set forth above. We may also divest
assets, which may not be commercially advantageous.
We regularly review the potential acquisition of technologies, products, product rights and complementary
businesses and are currently evaluating, and intend to continue to evaluate, potential product and company
acquisitions and other business development opportunities. We may choose to enter into such transactions at
any time. Nonetheless, we cannot provide assurance that we will be able to identify suitable acquisition or
investment candidates. To the extent that we do identify candidates that we believe to be suitable, we cannot
provide assurance that we will be able to reach an agreement with the selling party or parties, that the terms we
may agree to will be commercially advantageous to us, or that we will be able to successfully consummate such
investments or acquisitions even after definitive documents have been signed. If we make any acquisitions or
investments, we may finance such acquisitions or investments through our cash reserves, debt financing (such
as borrowings available to us under our senior secured credit facilities, including our revolving credit facility),
which may increase our leverage, or by issuing additional equity securities, which could dilute the holdings of
our then-existing shareholders. If we require financing, we cannot provide assurance that we will be able to
obtain any required financing when needed on acceptable terms or at all. In addition, we may divest certain of
our assets. Such divestitures may not be on favorable terms and the proceeds from such divestitures may not
outweigh the benefits such divested assets could have provided to our business.
There is no certainty that we will be able to execute on any strategic alternatives to maximize
shareholder value.
On November 10, 2020, we and our board of directors announced that we were undertaking a comprehensive
review of strategic options to maximize shareholder value. The options under consideration include divestitures
of non-strategic assets, re-financings, commercialization or collaboration agreements. There can be no
assurance that this comprehensive review process will result in a transaction, or that if a transaction does occur,
that it will successfully enhance shareholder value. Our cash position, net of all liabilities, limits our
attractiveness to potential merger candidates and the value that we may receive in such merger, joint venture,
partnership, or other business combination scenarios may be less than our current market value.
The process of exploring strategic options could adversely impact our business, financial condition and results
of operations. We could incur substantial expenses associated with identifying, evaluating, and executing on
potential strategic alternatives, including those related to equity compensation, severance pay and insurance,
legal, accounting and financial advisory fees. In addition, the process may be time consuming and disruptive to
our business operations, could divert the attention of management and the board of directors from our business,
could negatively impact our ability to attract, retain and motivate key employees, and could expose us to
potential litigation in connection with this process or any resulting transaction. Further, speculation regarding
any developments related to the review and execution of strategic alternatives and perceived uncertainties
related to our future could cause our share price to fluctuate significantly.
Risks related to the development and commercialization of products
If we are unable to successfully develop or commercialize new products, or to do so on a timely or
cost-effective basis, or to extend life cycles of existing products, our operating results will suffer.
Developing and commercializing a new product is time consuming and costly and is subject to numerous factors
that may delay or prevent development and commercialization. Our future results of operations will depend to
a significant extent upon our ability to successfully gain FDA approval of and commercialize new products in a
timely and cost-effective manner, especially new branded products as we shift from focusing on generic to
branded products. There are numerous difficulties in developing and commercializing new products, including:
•

the ability to develop products in a timely and cost-effective manner and in compliance with regulatory
requirements;
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• the success of the pre-clinical and clinical testing processes to assure that new products are safe and
effective or chemically identical and bioequivalent to the branded reference listed drug;
• the risk that any of our products presently under development, if and when fully developed and tested,
will not perform as expected;
• delays or unanticipated costs, including delays associated with the completion of clinical trials for our
branded products;
• delays associated with FDA registration, listing and approval processes and the ability to obtain in a
timely manner, and maintain, required regulatory approvals;
• legal actions against our generic products brought by brand competitors, and legal challenges to our
branded products or branded product intellectual property;
• the availability, on commercially reasonable terms, of raw materials, including API and other key
ingredients;
• our ability to scale-up manufacturing methods to successfully manufacture commercial quantities of
products in compliance with regulatory requirements; and
• acceptance of our products by physicians, patients, payors and the healthcare community.
As a result of these and other difficulties, products currently in development may or may not receive necessary
regulatory approvals on a timely basis or at all and we may not succeed in effectively managing our development
costs. Further, if we are required by the FDA or any equivalent foreign regulatory authority to complete clinical
trials in addition to those we currently expect to conduct, or to repeat a clinical trial that has already been
completed, or if there are any delays in completing preclinical studies, filing an IND or completing clinical trials,
our expenses could increase.
This risk exists particularly with respect to the introduction of new branded products as we continue our shift
away from focusing on generic markets. NDAs for branded products are subject to uncertainties, higher costs
and lengthy time frames associated with research and development of such products and the inherent unproven
market acceptance of such products. For example, in December 2020 we received a complete response letter
(“CRL”), from the FDA in connection with our NDA for arbaclofen ER for the treatment of multiple sclerosis
patients with spasticity. In the CRL, FDA recommended that we conduct a new study in order to provide
substantial evidence of efficacy of arbaclofen. On March 4, 2021, we participated in a meeting with the FDA
during which we explored selective review of the currently available data and options for a path forward for FDA
approval, including conducting another clinical study. The FDA’s review, as well as any subsequent clinical
testing, could delay or prevent the commercial launch of arbaclofen ER and increase our operating expenses,
including the expenses associated with any additional clinical trials for arbaclofen ER, which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial position and results of operations. If we are unable or delayed
in our attempts to develop and commercialize branded products successfully, we may have to rely primarily on
revenue from existing and future generic products to support research and development efforts.
If any of our products, when acquired or developed and approved, cannot be successfully or timely
commercialized, our operating results could be adversely affected. We cannot guarantee that any investment
we make in developing products will be recouped, even if we are successful in commercializing those products.
We expend a significant amount of resources on research and development, including milestones on
in-licensed products, which may not lead to successful product introductions.
Much of our development effort is focused on technically difficult-to-formulate products or products that require
advanced manufacturing technology. We expend resources on research and development primarily to enable
us to manufacture and market FDA-approved products in accordance with FDA regulations. Typically, research
expenses related to the development of innovative compounds and the filing of NDAs are significantly greater
than those expenses associated with ANDAs. We spent $19.7 million and $32.3 million on research and
development expenses in the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. We have entered into,
and may in the future enter into, agreements that require us to make significant milestone payments upon
achievement of various research and development events and regulatory approvals. As we continue to develop
and in-license new products, we will likely incur increased research, development and licensing expenses.
Because of the inherent risk associated with research and development efforts in our industry, particularly with
respect to new drugs, our research and development expenditures may not result in the successful introduction
of new FDA-approved products.
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Also, after we or our development partners submit an ANDA or NDA, the FDA may request that we conduct
additional bioequivalence studies for an ANDA or additional clinical trials for an NDA. For example, in December
2020 we received a CRL from the FDA in connection with our NDA for arbaclofen ER. In the CRL FDA indicated
we would need to conduct a new study in order to provide substantial evidence of efficacy of arbaclofen given
that the primary endpoint for Study OS440-3004, change from baseline to Day 84 in TNmAS-MAL scores
comparing arbaclofen 40 mg to placebo, was not met and the co-primary endpoint, results from the clinical
global impression of change on Day 84, did not support a treatment benefit.. Any additional clinical studies
required for arbaclofen ER as a result of our discussions with the FDA regarding the CRL may result in
substantial additional research and development costs.
We may be unable to reasonably determine the total research and development costs required to develop a
particular product. As a result, we cannot be certain that any investment made in developing products will be
recovered, even if we are successful in commercializing the product. To the extent that we expend significant
resources on research and development efforts and are not ultimately able to introduce successful new products
as a result of those efforts or cost-effectively commercialize new products, our business, financial position and
results of operations may be materially adversely affected.
If the FDA does not conclude that certain of our product candidates satisfy the requirements for the
Section 505(b)(2) regulatory approval pathway, or if the requirements for such product candidates under
Section 505(b)(2) are not as we expect, the approval pathway for those product candidates will likely
take significantly longer, cost significantly more and entail significantly greater complications and risks
than anticipated, and in either case may not be successful.
We are developing proprietary product candidates for which we intend to seek FDA approval through the Section
505(b)(2) regulatory pathway. The Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984, also known
as the Hatch-Waxman Act, added Section 505(b)(2) to the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act (“FDCA”).
Section 505(b)(2) permits the filing of an NDA where at least some of the information required for approval
comes from studies that were not conducted by or for the applicant and for which the applicant has not obtained
a right of reference. Section 505(b)(2), if applicable to us under the FDCA, would allow an NDA we submit to
FDA to rely in part on data in the public domain or the FDA’s prior conclusions regarding the safety and
effectiveness of approved compounds, which could expedite the development program for our product
candidates by potentially decreasing the amount of clinical data that we would need to generate in order to
obtain FDA approval. If the FDA does not allow us to pursue the Section 505(b)(2) regulatory pathway as
anticipated, we may need to conduct additional clinical trials, provide additional data and information, and meet
additional standards for regulatory approval. If this were to occur, the time and financial resources required to
obtain FDA approval for these product candidates, and complications and risks associated with these product
candidates, would likely substantially increase. We could need to obtain additional funding, which could result
in significant dilution to the ownership interests of our then existing shareholders to the extent we issue equity
securities or convertible debt. We cannot assure you that we would be able to obtain such additional financing
on terms acceptable to us, if at all. Moreover, inability to pursue the Section 505(b)(2) regulatory pathway would
likely result in new competitive products reaching the market more quickly than our product candidates, which
would likely materially adversely impact our competitive position and prospects. Even if we are allowed to pursue
the Section 505(b)(2) regulatory pathway, we cannot assure you that our product candidates will receive the
requisite approvals for commercialization.
In addition, notwithstanding the approval of a number of products by the FDA under Section 505(b)(2) over the
last few years, certain brand-name pharmaceutical companies and others have objected to the FDA’s
interpretation of Section 505(b)(2). If the FDA’s interpretation of Section 505(b)(2) is successfully challenged,
the FDA may change its 505(b)(2) policies and practices, which could delay or even prevent the FDA from
approving any NDA that we submit under Section 505(b)(2). In addition, the pharmaceutical industry is highly
competitive, and Section 505(b)(2) NDAs are subject to special requirements designed to protect the patent
rights of sponsors of previously approved drugs that are referenced in a Section 505(b)(2) NDA. These
requirements may give rise to patent litigation and mandatory delays in approval of our NDAs for up to 30
months or longer depending on the outcome of any litigation. It is not uncommon for a manufacturer of an
approved product to file a citizen petition with the FDA seeking to delay approval of, or impose additional
approval requirements for, pending competing products.
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If successful, such petitions can significantly delay, or even prevent, the approval of the new product. However,
even if the FDA ultimately denies such a petition, the FDA may substantially delay approval while it considers
and responds to the petition. In addition, even if we are able to utilize the Section 505(b)(2) regulatory pathway,
there is no guarantee this would ultimately lead to accelerated product development or earlier approval.
Moreover, even if our product candidates are approved under Section 505(b)(2), the approval may be subject
to limitations on the indicated uses for which the products may be marketed or to other conditions of approval,
or may contain requirements for costly post-marketing testing and surveillance to monitor the safety or efficacy
of the products.
The testing required for the regulatory approval of our products is conducted primarily by independent
third parties. Any failure by any of these third parties to perform this testing properly and in a timely
manner may have an adverse effect upon our ability to obtain regulatory approvals.
Our applications for the regulatory approval of our products, including both internally developed and in-licensed
products, incorporate the results of testing and other information that is conducted or gathered primarily by
independent third parties (including, for example, manufacturers of raw materials, testing laboratories, CROs or
independent research facilities). Our ability to obtain and maintain regulatory approval of the products being
tested is dependent, in part, upon the quality of the work performed by these third parties, the quality of the third
parties’ facilities and the accuracy of the information provided by third parties. Our control over any of these
factors may be limited. We rely on these parties for execution of our preclinical studies and clinical trials, and
control only certain aspects of their activities. Nevertheless, we are responsible for ensuring that each of our
trials is conducted in accordance with the applicable protocol, legal, regulatory and scientific standards and our
reliance on the CROs does not relieve us of all of our regulatory responsibilities. We and our CROs are required
to comply with FDA laws and regulations regarding Good Clinical Practice (“GCP”), which are also required by
the Competent Authorities of the Member States of the European Economic Area and comparable foreign
regulatory authorities in the form of International Conference on Harmonization (“ICH”), guidelines for all of our
products in clinical development. Regulatory authorities enforce GCP through periodic inspections of trial
sponsors, principal investigators and trial sites.
We have in the past been subject to audits by the FDA that have identified irregularities and deviations from
GCP. If we or any of our CROs fail to comply with applicable GCP, the clinical data generated in our clinical
trials may be deemed unreliable and the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may require us to
perform additional clinical trials before approving our marketing applications, if at all.
We also rely on contract laboratories and other third parties, such as CROs, to conduct or otherwise support
our preclinical studies properly and on time, which are subject to Good Laboratory Practice (“GLP”)
requirements. We cannot assure you that upon inspection by a given regulatory authority, such regulatory
authority will determine that any of our clinical trials or preclinical studies comply with applicable GCP and GLP
regulations. In addition, our clinical trials must be conducted with products produced under the FDA’s current
Good Manufacturing Practice (“cGMP”) regulations. While we have agreements governing activities of our
CROs, we have limited influence over their actual performance. In addition, portions of the clinical trials for our
product candidates may be conducted outside of the United States, which will make it more difficult for us to
monitor CROs and perform visits of our clinical trial sites and will force us to rely heavily on CROs to ensure the
proper and timely conduct of our clinical trials and compliance with applicable regulations, including GCP and
GLP requirements.
If testing of our product candidates is not performed properly, or if the FDA or any equivalent foreign regulatory
authority finds that the clinical trials are deficient, we may be required to repeat the clinical trials or to conduct
additional clinical trials, which would result in additional expenses and may adversely affect our ability to obtain
or maintain regulatory approvals. As a result, our ability to launch or continue selling products could be denied,
restricted or delayed.
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Although we have received orphan drug designation for arbaclofen, we may not obtain or maintain the
benefits associated with orphan drug designation, including market exclusivity for arbaclofen.
Regulatory authorities in some jurisdictions, including the United States, may designate drugs intended for
relatively small patient populations as orphan drugs. Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may designate a
drug as an orphan drug if it is a drug intended to treat a rare disease or condition, which is generally defined as
a patient population of fewer than 200,000 individuals in the United States, or a patient population greater than
200,000 in the United States where there is no reasonable expectation that the cost of developing the drug will
be recovered from sales in the United States. In the United States, Orphan Drug Designation entitles a party to
financial incentives such as opportunities for grant funding toward clinical trial costs, tax advantages and userfee waivers. In addition, if a product that has Orphan Drug Designation subsequently receives the first FDA
approval for the disease for which it has such designation, the product is entitled to orphan drug exclusivity,
which means that the FDA may not approve any other applications, including a full NDA to market the same
product for the same indication for seven years, except in limited circumstances, such as a showing of clinical
superiority to the product with orphan drug exclusivity or where the manufacturer is unable to assure sufficient
product quantity.
Although we have received orphan drug designation for arbaclofen for the alleviation of signs and symptoms of
spasticity resulting from multiple sclerosis, we may not receive the full set of benefits potentially associated with
orphan drug designation. The FDA has previously approved baclofen, a racemic mixture comprised of an Rand an S-isomer, for the treatment of intractable muscle spasticity in multiple sclerosis patients. If the FDA
determines that our product, arbaclofen, which is the R-isomer of baclofen, contains the same active ingredient
and is indicated for the same use as the approved product, we could be precluded from obtaining orphan drug
exclusivity for our product unless we are able to demonstrate that our product is clinically superior to the
approved product, which could potentially require a head-to-head study. Moreover, even if we obtain orphan
drug exclusivity, that exclusivity may not effectively protect the product from competition because different drugs
with different active moieties can be approved for the same condition. Even after an orphan product is approved,
the FDA can subsequently approve the same drug with the same active moiety for the same condition if the
FDA concludes that the later drug is safer, more effective or makes a major contribution to patient care. A
competitor also may receive approval of different products for the same indication for which the orphan product
has exclusivity or obtain approval for the same product but for a different indication for which the orphan product
has exclusivity. Additionally, orphan drug exclusivity may be lost if the FDA determines that the request for
designation was materially defective or if the manufacturer is unable to assure sufficient quantity of the drug to
meet the needs of patients with the rare disease or condition. Orphan Drug Designation neither shortens the
development time or regulatory review time of a drug nor gives the drug any advantage in the regulatory review
or approval process.
Our products or product candidates may cause undesirable side effect or have other adverse properties
that could delay or prevent their regulatory approval or limit the scope of any approved package insert
or market acceptance, or result in significant negative consequences following marketing approval.
Treatment with our products or product candidates may produce undesirable side effects or adverse reactions
or events. Although many of our products or product candidates contain active ingredients that have already
been approved, meaning that the side effects arising from the use of the active ingredient or class of drug in our
products or product candidates is generally known, our products or product candidates may still cause
undesirable or unknown side effects. These could be attributed to the active ingredient or class of drug or to our
unique formulation of such products or product candidates, or other potentially harmful characteristics. Such
characteristics could cause us, our institutional review boards (“IRBs”), clinical trial sites, the FDA or other
regulatory authorities to interrupt, delay or halt clinical trials and could result in a more restrictive label or the
delay, denial or withdrawal of regulatory approval, which may harm our business, financial condition and
prospects significantly.
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If any of our products cause serious or unexpected side effects after receiving market approval, a number of
potentially significant negative consequences could result. If side effects are identified with our marketed
products, or if manufacturing problems occur, changes in labeling of our products may be required, which could
have a material adverse effect on our sales. Label changes may be necessary for a number of reasons, including
the identification of actual or potential safety or efficacy concerns by regulatory agencies or the discovery of
significant problems with a similar product that implicates an entire class of products. Any significant concerns
raised about the safety or efficacy of the products could also result in the need to reformulate those products,
to conduct additional clinical trials, to make changes to the manufacturing processes, or to seek re-approval of
the relevant manufacturing facilities. Significant concerns about the safety and effectiveness of a product could
ultimately lead to the revocation of its marketing approval. Our products, including ConZip, Divigel and VERT,
have in the past been subject to safety labeling changes, which we have addressed and incorporated into
relevant product labeling. Our products and product candidates may become subject to additional safety labeling
changes in the future. New safety issues may require us to, among other things, provide additional warnings or
restrictions on product package inserts, even including boxed warnings in the United States or similar warnings
outside of the United States, directly alert healthcare providers of new safety information, narrow our approved
indications, conduct additional clinical studies, alter or terminate current or planned trials for additional uses of
products, impose restrictions on distribution, require implementation of risk evaluation and mitigation strategy
(“REMS”), or even remove a product from the market, any of which could have a significant adverse impact on
potential sales of the products or require us to expend significant additional funds. The revision of product
labeling or the regulatory actions described above could have a material adverse effect on our sales of the
affected products and on our business and results of operations. Additionally, we could be sued and held liable
for harm caused to patients, and our reputation may suffer.
If any of our products or products we develop or commercialize in the future are shown to be harmful or generate
negative publicity from perceived lack of effect or harmful effects, our business, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects could be harmed significantly.
If our products or product candidates do not produce the intended effects, our business may suffer.
If our products or product candidates do not produce the effects intended our business may suffer. For example,
in July 2020, we received regulatory approval from the FDA for Upneeq, the first approved non-surgical
treatment for acquired blepharoptosis, or droopy eyelid, in adults. We launched Upneeq in September 2020
with an in-person sales effort focused on ophthalmologists and optometrists. Despite these efforts, Upneeq may
not produce sufficient treatment such that patients or eye care specialists deem it an effective treatment for
acquired blepharoptosis. Our products and product candidates, including Upneeq, may not have the effect
intended if they are not taken in accordance with applicable instructions. For example, if a patient switches from
using another company’s product to one of our products, there may be an actual or perceived lack of efficacy
or increase in side effects. This is not uncommon and has been observed, for example, in patients switching
between products containing methylphenidate. In this instance, the FDA has the ability to change the
designation from AB to BX, or alternatively, to discontinue the product’s approval. Furthermore, there can be no
assurance that any of the products, even when used as directed, will have the effects intended.
Failures of or delays in clinical trials are common and have many causes, and such failures or delays
could result in increased costs to us and could prevent or delay our ability to obtain regulatory approval
and commence product sales for new products.
We may experience failures of or delays in clinical trials of our product candidates. Our clinical trials may fail or
be delayed for a variety of reasons, including, among others: delays in obtaining regulatory approval to
commence a trial; imposition of a clinical hold for safety reasons or following an inspection of our clinical trial
operations or trial sites by the FDA or other regulatory authorities; delays in reaching agreement on acceptable
terms with prospective contract research organizations, or CROs, and clinical trial sites, or failure by such CROs
to carry out the clinical trial at each site in accordance with the terms of our agreements with them; delays in
obtaining required IRB approval at each site; difficulties or delays enrolling a sufficient number of patients or in
having patients complete participation in a trial or return for post-treatment follow-up, or clinical sites electing to
terminate their participation in one of our clinical trials, which would likely have a detrimental effect on subject
enrollment; time required to add new clinical sites; or delays or failure by us or our contract manufacturers to
produce and deliver sufficient supply of clinical trial materials.
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In addition, identifying and qualifying patients to participate in clinical trials of our product candidates is critical
to our success. The timing of our clinical trials depends on the speed at which we can recruit patients to
participate in testing our product candidates as well as completion of required follow-up periods. We may not
be able to identify, recruit and enroll a sufficient number of patients, or those with required or desired
characteristics or to complete our clinical trials, in a timely manner. Patient enrollment and completion of the
trials is affected by factors including: the severity of the disease under investigation; the design of the trial
protocol; the size of the patient population; the eligibility criteria for the trial in question; the perceived risks and
benefits of the product candidate under trial; the proximity and availability of clinical trial sites for prospective
patients; the availability of competing therapies and clinical trials; efforts to facilitate timely enrollment in clinical
trials; patient referral practices of physicians; and the ability to monitor patients adequately during and after
treatment.
If we are unable to initiate or complete our planned clinical trials or any such clinical trial is delayed for any of
the above reasons or other reasons, our development costs may increase, our regulatory approval process
could fail or be delayed and our ability to commercialize and commence sales of our product candidates could
be materially harmed, which could have a material adverse effect on our business.
Moreover, clinical data are often susceptible to varying interpretations, and many companies that have believed
their drug candidates performed satisfactorily in clinical trials have nonetheless failed to obtain marketing
approval of their drug candidate. Furthermore, results from our clinical trials may not meet the level of statistical
significance or otherwise provide the level of evidence or safety and efficacy required by the FDA or other
regulatory authorities for approval of a drug candidate. Finally, clinical trials are expensive and require significant
operational resources to implement and maintain.
Many companies in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries, including our company, have suffered
significant setbacks in later-stage clinical trials even after achieving promising results in earlier-stage clinical
trials. For example, the results from completed preclinical studies and clinical trials may not be replicated in later
clinical trials, and ongoing clinical trials for our drug candidates may not be predictive of the results we may
obtain in later-stage clinical trials or of the likelihood of approval of a drug candidate for commercial sale. In
addition, from time to time, we report interim data from our clinical trials. Interim data from a clinical trial may
not be predictive of final results from the clinical trial. Failure to advance drug candidates through clinical
development could impair our ability to ultimately commercialize products, which could materially harm our
business and long-term prospects.
The use of legal, regulatory and legislative strategies by brand competitors, including authorized
generics and citizen’s petitions, as well as the potential impact of proposed legislation, may increase
our costs associated with the introduction or marketing of our generic products, delay or prevent such
introduction or significantly reduce the profit potential of our products.
Brand drug companies often pursue strategies that may serve to prevent or delay competition from generic
alternatives to their branded products. These strategies include, but are not limited to:
•
•
•

•

•
•

marketing an authorized generic version of a branded product at the same time that we introduce a
generic equivalent of that product, directly or through agreement with a generic competitor;
filing citizen petitions with the FDA that may limit generic competition and result in delays of our product
approvals;
using REMS-related distribution restrictions or other means of limiting access to their branded products
to prevent us from obtaining product samples needed to conduct bioequivalence testing required for
ANDA approval, thereby delaying or preventing us from obtaining FDA approval of a generic version of
such branded products;
seeking to secure patent protection of certain “Elements to Assure Safe Use” of a REMS program,
which are required medical interventions or other actions healthcare professionals need to execute prior
to prescribing or dispensing the drug to the patient, in an attempt to prevent the generic company’s
ability to avoid infringement of the patents in question or secure approval;
seeking to establish regulatory and legal obstacles that would make it more difficult to demonstrate a
generic product’s bioequivalence or “sameness” to the related branded product;
initiating legislative and administrative efforts in various states to limit the substitution of generic
versions of branded products for the corresponding branded products;
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• filing suits for patent infringement that automatically delay FDA approval of generic products;
• introducing “next-generation” products prior to the expiration of market exclusivity for their branded
product, which often materially reduces the demand for the generic product for which we may be
seeking FDA approval;
• obtaining extensions of market exclusivity by conducting clinical trials of branded drugs in pediatric
populations or by other methods;
• persuading the FDA to withdraw the approval of branded drugs for which the patents are about to expire,
thus allowing the brand company to develop and launch new patented products serving as substitutes
for the withdrawn products;
• seeking to obtain new patents on drugs for which patent protection is about to expire;
• filing patent applications that are more complex and costly to challenge;
• seeking temporary restraining orders and injunctions against selling a generic equivalent of their
branded product based on alleged misappropriation of trade secrets or breach of confidentiality
obligations;
• seeking temporary restraining orders and injunctions against a generic company that has received final
FDA approval for a product and is attempting to launch an at risk product prior to resolution of related
patent litigation;
• reducing the marketing of the branded product to healthcare providers, thereby reducing the branded
drug’s commercial exposure and market size, which in turn adversely affects the market potential of the
equivalent generic product; and
• converting branded prescription drugs that are facing potential generic competition to over-the-counter
products, thereby potentially blocking the sale of generic prescription drugs under the operation of the
Durham-Humphrey amendments to the U.S. Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (“FDCA”), or
significantly impeding the growth of the generic prescription market for the drugs.
The FDCA provides for an additional six months of marketing exclusivity attached to another period of
exclusivity, such as a five-year period of exclusivity granted to the first applicant to obtain approval of an NDA
for a new chemical entity or if a sponsor conducts pediatric clinical trials in response to a written request from
the FDA. Some companies have lobbied Congress for amendments to the Hatch-Waxman legislation that would
give them additional advantages over generic competitors. For example, although the term of a company’s drug
patent can be extended to reflect a portion of the time an NDA is under regulatory review, some companies
have proposed extending the patent term by a full year for each year spent in clinical trials, rather than the
one-half year that is currently permitted. If proposals like these were to become effective, our entry into the
market and our ability to generate revenues associated with new generic products may be delayed, reduced or
eliminated, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects and financial position.
Risks related to our intellectual property rights
We depend on our ability to protect our intellectual property and proprietary rights. We may not be able
to keep our intellectual property and proprietary rights confidential and protect such rights.
Our success depends on our ability to protect and defend the intellectual property rights associated with our
current and future products. If we fail to protect our intellectual property adequately, competitors may
manufacture and market products similar to, or that may be confused with, our products, and our generic
competitors may obtain regulatory approval to make and distribute generic versions of our branded products.
We cannot be certain that patents will be issued with respect to any of our patent applications or that any existing
or future patents issued to or licensed by us will provide competitive advantages for our products or will not be
challenged, invalidated, circumvented or held unenforceable in proceedings commenced by our competitors or
other third parties. Furthermore, our patent rights may not prevent or limit our present and future competitors
from developing, making, importing, using or commercializing products that are functionally similar to our
products. Some of our products, including some of our promoted products, are not protected by patents at all.
The patent position of companies in the pharmaceutical industry generally involves complex legal and factual
questions, and has been and remains the subject of significant litigation in recent years. Legal standards relating
to scope and validity of patent claims are evolving and may differ in various countries. Patent protection must
ultimately be sought on a country-by-country basis, which is an expensive and time-consuming process with
uncertain outcomes. Any patents we have obtained, or may obtain in the future, may be challenged, invalidated
or circumvented.

34

Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc

DIRECTORS' REPORT - continued
Risks related to our intellectual property rights – continued
For example, Upneeq is protected by three years of new product data exclusivity that expires July 8, 2023, and
six patents listed in the FDA Orange Book, three of which expire August 26, 2031 and three of which expire
December 16, 2039. A competitor that develops a generic version of Upneeq can submit an ANDA at any time,
and that ANDA may include a Paragraph IV certification alleging that our Orange Book-listed patents are invalid,
unenforceable or not infringed. If that were to occur, we would need to assert one or more of our patents.
Litigation in which generic companies challenge Orange Book listed patents tends to be lengthy and expensive,
and may result in one or more of our patents being held invalid, unenforceable or not infringed and, may expose
us to generic competition sooner than we otherwise expect. As a result, the issuance, scope, validity,
enforceability and commercial value of our patent rights are highly uncertain. We may be involved in lawsuits to
protect or enforce our patents or the patents of our licensors, which could be expensive, time consuming and
unsuccessful.
In addition to the above limitations, our patent protection outside the United States may be further limited. Filing,
prosecuting and defending patents on product candidates in all countries throughout the world would be
prohibitively expensive, and our intellectual property rights in some countries outside the United States could
be less extensive than those in the United States. We generally select to pursue patent protection in only a
limited number of jurisdictions outside of the United States. Even where we wish to pursue protection, we may
not be able to obtain patent protection for certain technology outside the United States. In addition, the laws of
some countries do not protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as federal and state laws in the
United States, even in jurisdictions where we do pursue patent protection. The laws of certain non-U.S. countries
do not protect proprietary rights to the same extent or in the same manner as the U.S., and therefore we may
encounter additional problems in protecting and defending our intellectual property in certain non-U.S.
jurisdictions. Many companies have encountered significant problems in protecting and defending intellectual
property rights in non-U.S. jurisdictions.
Proceedings to enforce patent rights, whether in the United States or in non-U.S. jurisdictions, could: result in
substantial costs and divert our efforts and attention from other aspects of our business; put our patents at risk
of being invalidated or interpreted narrowly; put our patent applications at risk of not issuing; and provoke third
parties to assert claims against us. We may not prevail in any lawsuits that we initiate and the damages or other
remedies awarded to us, if any, may not be commercially meaningful. Accordingly, our efforts to enforce our
intellectual property rights around the world may be inadequate to obtain a significant commercial advantage.
We also rely particularly on trade secrets, unpatented know-how and proprietary expertise and continuing
innovation to develop and maintain our competitive position. We generally enter into confidentiality agreements
with licensees, suppliers, employees, consultants and other parties. This is done in part because not all of our
products are protected by patents. We cannot provide assurance that these agreements will not be breached.
We also cannot be certain that we will have recourse to adequate remedies in the event of a breach. Disputes
may arise concerning the ownership of intellectual property or the applicability of confidentiality agreements.
We cannot be sure that our trade secrets and proprietary technology will not be independently developed or
otherwise become known by our competitors or, if patents are not issued with respect to internally developed
products, that we will be able to maintain the confidentiality of information relating to these products. Efforts to
enforce our intellectual property rights can be costly, time-consuming and ultimately unsuccessful. Any failure
to adequately prevent disclosure of our know-how, trade secrets and other propriety information could have a
material adverse impact on our business and our prospects.
Obtaining and maintaining our patent protection depends on compliance with various procedural,
document submission, fee payment and other requirements imposed by governmental patent agencies,
and our patent protection could be reduced or eliminated for non-compliance with these requirements.
Periodic maintenance and annuity fees on any issued patent are due to be paid to the U.S. Patent and
Trademark office (“the USPTO”), and foreign patent agencies in several stages over the lifetime of the patent.
The USPTO and various foreign governmental patent agencies require compliance with a number of procedural,
documentary, fee payment and other similar provisions during the patent application process. While an
inadvertent lapse may, in many cases, be cured by payment of a late fee or by other means in accordance with
the applicable rules, there are situations in which noncompliance can result in abandonment or lapse of the
patent or patent application, resulting in partial or complete loss of patent rights in the relevant jurisdiction.
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Non-compliance events that could result in abandonment or lapse of a patent or patent application include
failure to respond to official actions within prescribed time limits, non-payment of fees and failure to properly
prepare and submit formal documents. If we or our licensors fail to maintain the patents and patent applications
covering our products or product candidates, our competitors might be able to enter the market, which would
harm our business, prospects and financial position.
Our competitors or other third parties may allege that we, our suppliers or partners are infringing their
intellectual property, forcing us to expend substantial resources in litigation, the outcome of which is
uncertain. Any unfavorable outcome of such litigation, including losses related to “at-risk” product
launches, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position and results of
operations.
Companies that produce branded products routinely bring litigation against entities selling or seeking regulatory
approval to manufacture and market generic or other copies of their branded products, or products related to
their branded products or technologies. These companies or other patent holders, including patent holders who
do not have related products, may allege patent infringement or other violations of intellectual property rights.
Patent holders may also bring patent infringement suits against companies that are currently marketing and
selling an approved product, including an approved generic product. Litigation often involves significant expense
and can delay or prevent introduction or sale of our generic or other products. For example, a certain period of
delay may be statutorily prescribed, or a court could grant a patent holder injunctive relief for the period of the
litigation. If third party patents are held valid, enforceable and infringed by our products, we may, unless we
could obtain a license from the patent holder, need to delay selling our corresponding product, pay damages,
and, if we are already selling our product, cease selling and potentially destroy existing product stock. These
risks apply to our branded products as well as our generic products. Third parties, including our competitors,
may allege that one of our branded products violates their patent rights, which would expose us to the same
risks. A license may not be available from the patent holder on commercially reasonable terms, or at all. If
available, we may choose to take a license under a third party’s patent rights to resolve a dispute, even in the
absence of a finding by a court that a patent is valid, enforceable and infringed.
There may be situations in which we may make business and legal judgments to manufacture, market or sell
products that are subject to claims of alleged patent infringement prior to final resolution of those claims by the
courts, based upon our belief that such patents are invalid, unenforceable, or are not infringed by our
manufacturing, marketing and sale of such products. This is referred to in the pharmaceutical industry as an
“at-risk” launch. The risk involved in an at-risk launch can be substantial because, if a patent holder ultimately
prevails against us, the remedies available to such holder may include, among other things, permanent
injunctive relief preventing the sale of the product and damages measured as a reasonable royalty or by the
profits lost by the patent holder, which can be significantly higher than the profits we make from selling our
product. We could face substantial damages from adverse court decisions in such matters. We could also be
at risk for the value of such inventory that we are unable to market or sell.
Litigation concerning intellectual property rights in the pharmaceutical industry is commonplace and can be
protracted and expensive. Pharmaceutical companies with patented branded products regularly sue companies
that file applications to produce generic equivalents of their patented branded products for alleged patent
infringement or other violations of intellectual property rights, which are expensive to defend and may delay or
prevent the entry of such generic products into the market. Generally, a generic drug may not be marketed until
the applicable patent(s) on the brand name drug expire or are held to be invalid, unenforceable or not infringed
by the generic product at issue. When we or our development partners submit an ANDA to the FDA for approval
of a generic drug, we or our development partners must certify either (i) that there is no patent listed with the
FDA as covering the relevant branded product, (ii) that any patent listed as covering the branded product has
expired, (iii) that the patent listed as covering the branded product will expire prior to the marketing of the generic
product, in which case the ANDA will not be finally approved by the FDA until the expiration of such patent or
(iv) that any patent listed as covering the branded drug is invalid or will not be infringed by the manufacture,
sale or use of the generic product for which the ANDA is submitted, which we refer to as a “Paragraph IV”
certification. Whenever we file an ANDA with a Paragraph IV certification, there is a high likelihood that a brand
pharmaceutical company will sue us for alleged patent infringement or other violations of intellectual property
rights.
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Also, competing pharmaceutical companies may file lawsuits against us alleging patent infringement or other
violations of intellectual property rights or may file declaratory judgment actions against us alleging
non-infringement, invalidity, or unenforceability of our own patents. Because substantially all of our current
business involves the development and marketing of products that are subject to potential claims of patent
infringement by third parties or, with respect to our own branded products, are subject to third-party challenges,
the threat of litigation, the outcome of which is inherently uncertain, is always present. Such litigation is often
costly and time consuming and could result in a substantial delay in, or prevent, the introduction or marketing
of our products, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, prospects and
results of operations. For more information on our material pending litigation, see “Legal Proceedings.”
If we fail to comply with our obligations in the agreements under which we license rights from third
parties, or if the license agreements are terminated for other reasons, we could lose license rights that
are important to our business.
We are a party to a number of licenses that are important to our business and expect to enter into additional
licenses in the future. Our existing license agreements impose, and we expect that future license agreements
will impose, on us various development, regulatory and commercial diligence obligations, payment of milestones
or royalties and other obligations. Additionally, existing or future license agreements may include a sublicense
from a third party that is not the original licensor of the intellectual property at issue. Under such an agreement,
we must rely on our licensor to comply with their obligations under the primary license agreements under which
such third party obtained rights in the applicable intellectual property, where we may have no relationship with
the original licensor of such rights. If our licensors fail to comply with their obligations under these upstream
license agreements, the original third-party licensor may have the right to terminate the original license, which
may terminate our sublicense. If this were to occur, we would no longer have rights to the applicable intellectual
property unless we are able to secure our own direct license with the owner of the relevant rights, which we
may not be able to do at a reasonable cost, on reasonable terms or at all, and this may impact our ability to
continue to develop or commercialize our products incorporating the relevant intellectual property. If we fail to
comply with our obligations under our license agreements, or we are subject to a bankruptcy or insolvency, the
licensor may have the right to terminate the license. In the event that any of our existing or future important
licenses were to be terminated by the licensor, we would likely need to cease further development and
commercialization of the related program or be required to spend significant time and resources to modify the
program to not use the rights under the terminated license. In the case of marketed products that depend upon
a license agreement, we could be required to cease our commercialization activities, including sale of the
affected product.
Disputes may arise between us and any of our licensors regarding intellectual property subject to such
agreements, including:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

the scope of rights granted under the agreement and other interpretation-related issues;
whether and the extent to which our technology and processes infringe on intellectual property of the
licensor that is not subject to the agreement;
our right to sublicense patent and other rights to third parties;
our diligence obligations with respect to the use of the licensed intellectual property, and what activities
satisfy those diligence obligations;
the ownership of inventions and know-how resulting from the joint creation or use of intellectual property
by our licensors and us, should any such joint creation occur;
our right to transfer or assign the license; and
the effects of termination.

These or other disputes over intellectual property that we have licensed or acquired may prevent or impair our
ability to maintain our current arrangements on acceptable terms, or may impair the value of the arrangement
to us. Any such dispute, or termination of a necessary license, could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

37

Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc

DIRECTORS' REPORT - continued
Risks related to our intellectual property rights – continued
We may be subject to claims by third parties asserting that we or our employees have misappropriated
their intellectual property, or claiming ownership of what we regard as our own intellectual property.
We may be subject to claims that our employees or we have inadvertently or otherwise used intellectual
property, including trade secrets or other proprietary information, of any such employee’s former employer. We
may also in the future be subject to claims that we have caused an employee to breach the terms of his or her
non-competition or non-solicitation agreement. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these potential
claims.
In addition, while it is our policy to require our employees and contractors who may be involved in the
development of intellectual property to execute agreements assigning such intellectual property to us, such
employees and contractors may breach the agreement and claim the developed intellectual property as their
own.
If we fail in prosecuting or defending any such claims, in addition to paying monetary damages, we may lose
valuable intellectual property rights or personnel. A court could prohibit us from using technologies or features
that are essential to our products if such technologies or features are found to incorporate or be derived from
the trade secrets or other proprietary information of the former employers. Even if we are successful in
prosecuting or defending against such claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and could be a
distraction to our management team. In addition, any litigation or threat thereof may adversely affect our ability
to hire employees or contract with independent service providers. Moreover, a loss of key personnel or their
work product could hamper or prevent our ability to commercialize our products.
We may be subject to claims challenging the inventorship or ownership of our owned or in-licensed
patent rights and other intellectual property.
We generally enter into confidentiality and intellectual property assignment agreements with our employees and
consultants. However, these agreements may be breached and may not effectively assign intellectual property
rights to us. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these and other claims challenging inventorship or
ownership of inventions. The owners of intellectual property in-licensed to us could also face such claims. If we
or our licensors fail in defending any such claims, in addition to paying monetary damages, we may lose valuable
intellectual property rights, such as exclusive ownership of, or right to use, valuable intellectual property. Such
an outcome could have a material adverse effect on our business. Even if we or our licensors are successful in
defending against such claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and be a distraction to our management
team and other employees.
Any trademarks we may obtain may be infringed or successfully challenged, resulting in harm to our
business.
We rely on trademarks as one means to distinguish our products and product candidates from the products of
our competitors. Our trademark applications may not result in registered trademarks. Third parties may oppose
our trademark applications or otherwise challenge our use of the trademarks. In the event that our trademarks
are successfully challenged, we could be forced to rebrand our products, which could result in substantial cost,
loss of brand recognition and could require us to devote resources to advertising and marketing new brands.
Our competitors may infringe our trademarks, and we may not have adequate resources to enforce our
trademarks. Even if we are successful in defending the use of our trademarks or preventing third parties from
infringing our trademarks, resolution of such disputes may result in substantial costs.
Risks related to our industry
Our profitability depends on coverage and reimbursement by governmental authorities, private health
plans, MCOs and other third-party payors; healthcare reform and other future legislation creates
uncertainty and may lead to reductions in coverage or reimbursement levels.
We have obtained coverage and reimbursement at varying levels for our products from governmental payors,
private health insurers and other third-party payors such as MCOs.
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There is no assurance; however, that any drug that we market will be covered by any third-party payor, or that,
once a coverage determination has been made, the third-party payor will offer an adequate reimbursement level
for our product. Third-party payors may limit coverage to specific products on an approved formulary, which
might not include all of the approved products for a particular indication. In determining whether to approve
reimbursement for our products and at what level, we expect that third-party payors will consider factors that
include the efficacy, cost effectiveness and safety of our products, as well as the availability of other treatments
including other generic prescription drugs and over-the-counter alternatives. Further, in order to obtain and
maintain acceptable reimbursement levels and access for patients at copay levels that are reasonable and
customary, we may face mounting pressure to offer discounts or rebates from list prices to increase existing
discounts and rebates, to offer discounts and rebates to a greater number of third-party payors or to implement
other unfavorable pricing modifications. Obtaining and maintaining favorable reimbursement can be a time
consuming and expensive process, and there is no guarantee that we will be able to negotiate or continue to
negotiate pricing terms with third-party payors at levels that are profitable to us, or at all. Additionally, any
reimbursement granted may not be maintained and any limits on reimbursement available from third-party
payors may reduce the demand for, or negatively affect the price of those products, and could significantly harm
our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.
In particular, there is no assurance that drug plans participating under the Medicare Part D program will cover
our products or that any covered drugs will be reimbursed at amounts that reflect current or historical levels.
Medicare Part D is a voluntary program that offers prescription drug coverage through private plans to Medicare
beneficiaries (primarily the elderly over 65 and the disabled) enrolled with the plan. Medicare Part D coverage
may vary from plan to plan and the plans may implement formularies and certain utilization management
activities (such as tired co-pay structures and prior authorization requirements) as well as negotiate rebates
with pharmaceutical manufacturers to manage access and costs. Manufacturers must also provide discounts
on Medicare Part D brand name prescription drugs sold to Medicare beneficiaries in the Medicare Part D
coverage gap (i.e., the so called “donut hole”), which discount increased from 50% to 70% in 2019.
There is no assurance that Medicaid programs will continue to offer coverage, and adequate reimbursement
levels, for our pharmaceutical products. Most state Medicaid programs have established preferred drug lists,
and the process, criteria and timeframe for obtaining placement on the preferred drug list varies from state to
state. For drugs not on the preferred drug list, the prescriber may have to request and obtain prior authorization
in order for the drug to be covered. Under the Medicaid drug rebate program, a manufacturer must pay a rebate
for Medicaid utilization of a product. The rebate for single source products (including authorized generics) is
based on the greater of (i) a specified percentage of the product’s average manufacturer price or (ii) the
difference between the product’s average manufacturer price and the best price offered by the manufacturer.
The rebate for multiple source products is a specified percentage of the product’s average manufacturer price.
In addition, many states have established supplemental rebate programs as a condition for including a drug
product on a preferred drug list. The profitability of our products may depend on the extent to which they appear
on the preferred drug lists of a significant number of state Medicaid programs and the amount of the rebates
that must be paid to such states. In addition, there is significant fiscal pressure on the Medicaid program, and
legislative and regulatory action to lower the pharmaceutical costs of the program is possible. For example,
legislation enacted in 2019 revises how certain prices are calculated under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program,
a revision that the Congressional Budget Office estimated will save the federal government approximately $3
billion in the next ten years. Any such legislative action could materially adversely affect our anticipated total
revenues and results of operations.
In addition, third-party payors are increasingly challenging pricing of pharmaceutical products, and imposing
controls to manage costs. For example, we were subject to an audit by the Office of Inspector General related
to purported overcharges with respect to the prices of VERT that were purchased by the U.S. Department of
Veterans Affairs. Although we believe that the prices we charged in these transactions were appropriate and
have settled this matter, adverse determination of other audits could result in the imposition of significant
financial penalties, which could have a material adverse impact on our results of operations and financial
condition.
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The trend toward managed healthcare in the United States and legislative proposals to reform healthcare and
government insurance programs could significantly influence the purchase of pharmaceutical products, resulting
in lower prices and a reduction in product demand. The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act of 2010, as
amended by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010, or collectively, “the ACA” was signed
into law in March 2010. A number of provisions of the ACA continue to have a negative impact on the price of
our products sold to U.S. government entities. As examples, the legislation includes measures that
(i) significantly increase Medicaid rebates through both the expansion of the program and significant increases
in rebates; (ii) substantially expand the Public Health System (340B) program to allow other entities to purchase
prescription drugs at substantial discounts; (iii) extend the Medicaid rebate to utilization under Managed
Medicaid; (iv) require manufacturers to provide point of sale discounts on Medicare Part D beneficiary spending
in the coverage gap for branded and authorized generic prescription drugs (which discount was recently
increased effective in 2019); and (v) levy a significant excise tax on the industry to fund the healthcare reform.
Such cost containment measures and healthcare reform may affect our ability to sell our products and could
have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
Executive, legislative and judicial action subsequent to the enactment of the ACA has sought to repeal, modify
or delay implementation of the ACA. Tax reform legislation enacted in 2017 removed the tax penalty applicable
to the “individual mandate,” which requires Americans to carry a minimal level of health insurance. Starting in
2019, the tax penalty for not carrying such insurance is zero. Effective January 1, 2019, the point-of-sale
discount that pharmaceutical manufacturers who participate in Medicare Part D must provide to Medicare Part
D beneficiaries in the coverage gap was increased from 50% to 70%. There have also been judicial challenges
to the ACA. The case Texas v. Azar, which challenges the constitutionality of the ACA, including provisions that
are unrelated to healthcare reform but were enacted as part of the ACA, was argued before the Supreme Court
in November 2020. Pending resolution of the litigation, all of the ACA but the individual mandate to buy health
insurance remains in effect.
Beyond the ACA, there have been ongoing health care reform efforts, including a number of recent actions.
Some recent healthcare reform efforts have sought to address certain issues related to the COVID-19
pandemic, including an expansion of telehealth coverage under Medicare and accelerated or advanced
Medicare payments to healthcare providers. Other reform efforts affect pricing or payment for drug products.
For example, the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program has been subject to statutory and regulatory changes. A
number of regulations were issued in late 2020 and early 2021. For example, revisions to the federal antikickback statute, now effective 2023, would remove protection for traditional Medicare Part D discounts offered
by pharmaceutical manufacturers to PBMs and health plans. Some of these changes have been and may
continue to be subject to legal challenge. For example, courts temporarily enjoined a new “most favored nation”
payment model for select drugs covered under Medicare Part B that was to take effect on January 1, 2021 and
would limit payment based on international drug price.
The nature and scope of health care reform in the wake of the transition from the Trump administration to the
Biden administration remains uncertain. The Department of Justice under the Biden administration informed
the Supreme Court that the government no longer takes the position that the individual mandate is
unconstitutional and cannot be severed from the rest of the ACA. President Biden has temporarily halted
implementation of new rules issued immediately prior to the transition that had not yet taken effect (which include
a number of health care reforms) to allow for review by the new administration. The revisions to the federal
anti-kickback statute initially scheduled to take effect in 2022 now take effect in 2023. More generally, President
Biden supported reforms to lower drug prices during his campaign for the presidency.
Future healthcare legislation could also have a significant impact on our business. There is uncertainty with
respect to the impact these changes, if any, may have, and any changes likely will take time to unfold. Any
additional federal healthcare reform measures adopted in the future could limit the amounts that federal and
state governments will pay for healthcare products and services, and, in turn, could significantly reduce the
projected value of certain development projects and reduce our profitability. Due to the uncertainties regarding
the outcome of future healthcare reform initiatives and their enactment and implementation, we cannot predict
which, if any, of the future reform proposals will be adopted or the effect such adoption may have on us.
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In addition, other broader legislative changes have been adopted that could have an adverse effect upon, and
could prevent, our products’ commercial success. The Budget Control Act of 2011, as amended, resulted in
the imposition of 2% reductions in Medicare (but not Medicaid) payments to providers in 2013 and remains in
effect through 2030 (except May 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021) unless additional Congressional action is taken.
Any significant spending reductions affecting Medicare, Medicaid or other publicly funded or subsidized health
programs that may be implemented and/or any significant taxes or fees that may be imposed on us could have
an adverse impact on our results of operations.
There has been heightened public pressure and government scrutiny over pharmaceutical pricing
practices, which may negatively impact our ability to generate revenues from our products, which could
result in material adverse effects to our business, financial position and results of operations.
There has been heightened governmental scrutiny recently over pharmaceutical pricing practices in light of the
rising cost of prescription drugs. Such scrutiny has resulted in several Congressional inquiries in recent years
and proposed and enacted federal and state legislation designed to, among other things, bring more
transparency to product pricing; review the relationship between pricing and manufacturer patient assistance
programs, reduce the costs of drugs under Medicare, and reform government program reimbursement
methodologies for drug products. At the state level, legislatures have become increasingly active in passing,
or seeking to pass, legislation and regulations designed to control pharmaceutical and biological product pricing,
including laws establishing maximum drug reimbursement rates for governmental or other payors within a state,
laws limiting consumer copayment obligations, transparency and disclosure measures related to drug price
increases and laws seeking to encourage drug importation from other countries and bulk purchasing.
Reductions in reimbursement levels may negatively impact the prices we receive or the frequency with which
our products are prescribed or administered. Any reduction in reimbursement from Medicare or other
government programs may result in a similar reduction in payments from private payors. Any downward pricing
pressure on the price of certain of our products arising from social or political pressure to lower the cost of
pharmaceutical products could have a material adverse impact on our business, results of operations and
financial condition.
There has also been increasing U.S. federal and state enforcement interest with respect to drug pricing. For
instance, the U.S. Department of Justice (“DOJ”) has brought actions against pharmaceutical companies,
seeking information about the sales, marketing and pricing of certain generic drugs, some of which have been
resolved through settlements. In addition to the effects of any investigations or claims brought against us, our
business, results of operations and financial condition could also be adversely affected if any such inquiries, of
us or of other pharmaceutical companies or the industry more generally, were to result in legislative or regulatory
proposals that limit our ability to increase the prices of our products.
Certain prescription product coding databases may choose to reclassify prescription dietary
supplements as non-prescription, or over-the-counter, which may result in limited or no insurance
coverage for these products and a decrease in utilization of such products.
Many private and government insurance plans refer to product listing databases to determine whether or not a
product is a prescription product, a non-prescription, or over-the-counter product or a medical food product.
How a product is listed in these databases impacts whether or not a product is covered by insurance, or whether
it receives limited coverage, as many payors may choose not to cover over-the-counter products. For example,
on May 15, 2017, First Databank, a prescription coding database, announced that starting in June 2017 it would
classify all dietary supplements as non-prescription. Several companies have sued First Databank, in an effort
to prevent or delay the implementation of the reclassification. Subsequently, First Databank proceeded with
reclassifying prenatal and non-prenatal dietary supplements to non-prescription which affected some of our
products. Payors, however, are not bound by the listing databases and may still decide to cover prenatal
supplements. If other listing databases were to re-classify all dietary supplements, including prenatal dietary
supplements, as non-prescription or over-the-counter, this could prevent insurance coverage for our prescription
prenatal dietary supplements and negatively impact our future total revenues, profitability and cash flows.
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We are subject to extensive governmental regulation and we face significant uncertainties and
potentially significant costs associated with our efforts to comply with applicable regulations. Any
non-compliance may result in fines or other sanctions, including debarment, product seizures, product
recalls, injunctive actions and criminal prosecutions, which could result in material adverse effects to
our business, financial position and results of operations.
The pharmaceutical industry operates in a highly regulated environment subject to the actions of courts and
governmental agencies that influence the ability of a company to successfully operate its business and is subject
to regulation by various governmental authorities at the federal, state and local levels with respect to the
development, manufacture, labeling, sale, distribution, marketing, advertising and promotion of pharmaceutical
products. As a pharmaceutical manufacturer and distributor, we are subject to extensive regulation by the
federal government, principally the FDA and the Drug Enforcement Administration, or DEA, as well as by state
governments.
The FDCA, the Controlled Substances Act, the Generic Drug Enforcement Act of 1992, or the Generic Drug
Act, and other federal, state and local statutes and regulations govern the testing, manufacture, safety, labeling,
storage, disposal, tracking, recordkeeping, approval, advertising and promotion (including to the healthcare
community) of our products. If we, our products, the manufacturing facilities for our products, our CROs, or other
persons or entities working on our behalf fail to comply with applicable regulatory requirements either before or
after marketing approval, a regulatory agency, such as the FDA, may, depending on the stage of product
development and approval, revoke, withdraw, or suspend approvals of previously approved products for cause,
debar companies and individuals from participating in the drug-approval process, request or in certain
circumstances mandate recalls of allegedly violative products, seize allegedly violative products, issue Warning
Letters or Untitled Letters, mandate modifications to promotional materials or require the provision of corrective
information to healthcare practitioners, amend and update labels or package inserts, suspend or terminate any
ongoing clinical trials, refuse to approve pending applications or supplements to applications filed, refuse to
allow entry into government contracts, obtain injunctions to close manufacturing plants allegedly not operating
in conformity with FDA’s cGMP requirements, stop shipments of allegedly violative products, impose fines
perhaps significant in amount, require entry into a consent decree, which can include imposition of various fines,
reimbursements for inspection costs, required due dates for specific actions and penalties for noncompliance
and other sanctions imposed by courts or regulatory bodies, including criminal prosecutions. If we or a regulatory
agency discovers previously unknown problems with a product, such as adverse events of unanticipated
severity or frequency, or problems with the facility where the product is manufactured, a regulatory agency may
impose restrictions relative to that product or the manufacturing facility, including requiring product recall, notice
to physicians, withdrawal of the product from the market or suspension of manufacturing. From time to time, we
have voluntarily recalled our products and may do so in the future.
Because of the chemical ingredients of pharmaceutical products and the nature of the manufacturing process,
the pharmaceutical industry is subject to extensive environmental laws and regulation and the risk of incurring
liability for damages and the costs of remedying environmental problems. These requirements include
regulation of the handling, manufacture, transportation, storage, use and disposal of materials, including the
discharge of hazardous materials and pollutants into the environment. In the normal course of our business, we
are exposed to risks relating to possible releases of hazardous substances into the environment, which could
cause environmental or property damage or personal injuries, and which could result in (i) our noncompliance
with such environmental and occupational health and safety laws and regulations and (ii) regulatory
enforcement actions or claims for personal injury and property damage against us. If an unapproved or illegal
environmental discharge or accident occurred or if we were to discover contamination caused by prior
operations, including by prior owners and operators of properties we acquire, then we could be liable for
cleanup, damages or fines, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position,
results of operations and cash flow. In the future, we may be required to increase expenditures in order to
remedy environmental problems or comply with changes in applicable environmental laws and regulations. We
could also become a party to environmental remediation investigations and activities. These obligations may
relate to sites that we currently or in the future may own or lease, sites that we formerly owned or operated, or
sites where waste from our operations was disposed.
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Additionally, if we fail to comply with environmental regulations to use, discharge or dispose of hazardous
materials appropriately or otherwise to comply with the provisions of our operating licenses, the licenses could
be revoked, and we could be subject to criminal sanctions or substantial civil liability or be required to suspend
or modify our manufacturing operations. We currently operate in Florida, Georgia, and New Jersey, and in
overseas jurisdictions including Argentina and Hungary, and we are required to comply with the laws and
regulations of those states or overseas jurisdictions in addition to any federal laws and regulations. We may in
the future establish or acquire operations in other jurisdictions subject to equally or more stringent laws and
regulations. Stricter environmental, safety and health laws and enforcement policies could result in substantial
costs and liabilities to us, and could subject our handling, manufacture, use, reuse or disposal of substances or
pollutants to more rigorous scrutiny than is currently the case. Consequently, compliance with these laws could
result in significant capital expenditures, as well as other costs and liabilities, which could materially adversely
affect us.
As part of the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, and Modernization Act of 2003, companies are now
required to file with the FTC, and the DOJ certain types of agreements entered into between brand and generic
pharmaceutical companies related to the settlement of patent litigation or the manufacture, marketing and sale
of generic versions of branded drugs. This requirement could affect the manner in which generic drug
manufacturers resolve intellectual property litigation and other disputes with brand pharmaceutical companies
and could result generally in an increase in private-party litigation against pharmaceutical companies or
additional investigations or proceedings by the FTC or other governmental authorities. The potential for FTC
investigations and litigation and private-party lawsuits associated with arrangements between brand and generic
drug manufacturers could adversely affect our business. In recent years, the FTC has expressed its intention
to take aggressive action to challenge settlements that include an alleged payment from the brand company to
the generic company (so-called “pay for delay” patent litigation settlements) and to call on legislators to pass
stronger laws prohibiting such settlements. In 2013, the U.S. Supreme Court held that certain of such
settlements could violate anti-trust laws and must be evaluated under a “rule of reason” standard of review.
We are subject to the effects of changes in statutes, regulations and interpretative guidance that may adversely
affect our business and that could require us to devote increased time and resources to our compliance efforts,
which may not be successful. Any changes in statutes, regulations or interpretative guidance could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, prospects and results of operations.
We also cannot predict the likelihood, nature or extent of adverse government regulation that may arise from
pending or future legislation or administrative action, either in the United States or abroad. If any legislative or
administrative actions impose constraints on the FDA’s ability to engage in oversight and implementation
activities in the normal course, our business may be negatively impacted, and if we are not able to achieve and
maintain regulatory compliance, we may not be permitted to market our products or product candidates, which
would adversely affect our ability to generate revenues and achieve or maintain profitability.
These risks, along with others, have the potential to materially and adversely affect our business, financial
position, results of operations and prospects. Although we have developed compliance programs to address
the regulatory environment, there is no guarantee that these programs will meet regulatory agency standards
now or in the future. Additionally, despite our efforts at compliance, there is no guarantee that we may not be
deemed to be deficient in some manner in the future. If we are deemed to be deficient in any significant way,
our business, financial position and results of operations could be materially affected.
The manufacture, packaging, labeling, advertising, promotion, distribution and sale of our dietary supplements
are also subject to regulation by numerous national and local governmental agencies, including the FDA and
FTC. Failure to comply with regulatory requirements pertaining to any of our products, including prescription
drugs and dietary supplements, may result in various types of penalties or fines. These include injunctions,
product withdrawals, recalls, product seizures, fines and criminal prosecutions. Individual U.S. states also
regulate dietary supplements. A state may seek to interpret claims or products presumptively valid under federal
law as illegal under that state’s regulations. Any or all of these requirements could have a material adverse
effect on us. In addition, the FDA’s policies may change and additional government regulations could impose
more stringent product labeling and post-marketing testing and other requirements. For example, the FDA has
stated that there is no specific upper limit on the amount of folic acid permitted in dietary supplements. If the
FDA were to regulate products with higher amounts of folic acid as drugs, it may require us to stop marketing
and selling certain dietary supplement products.
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There can be no assurance that the regulatory environment in which we operate will not change or that such
regulatory environment, or any specific action taken against us, will not result in a material adverse effect on
us.
The drug regulatory approval processes of the FDA and comparable foreign authorities are lengthy,
time consuming and inherently unpredictable, and if we are ultimately unable to obtain regulatory
approval for our product candidates, our business will be substantially harmed.
The time required to obtain approval by the FDA and comparable foreign authorities is unpredictable and
typically takes many years following the commencement of clinical trials and depends upon numerous factors,
including the substantial discretion of the regulatory authorities. In addition, approval policies, regulations or the
type and amount of clinical data necessary to gain approval may change during the course of a product
candidate’s clinical development and may vary among jurisdictions.
Our product candidates could fail to receive regulatory approval for many reasons. For example:
•
•
•
•
•
•

the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may disagree that our product candidates meet
the criteria for the NDA or ANDA regulatory pathway or foreign regulatory pathways;
we may be unable to demonstrate to the satisfaction of the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory
authorities that a product candidate is safe and effective or chemically identical and bioequivalent to its
branded reference product for its proposed indication;
the results of any clinical trials we conduct may not meet the level of statistical significance required by
the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities for approval;
we may be unable to demonstrate that a product candidate’s clinical and other benefits outweigh its
safety risks;
the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may fail to approve the manufacturing processes
or facilities of third party manufacturers with which we contract for clinical and commercial supplies; and
the approval policies or regulations of the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may change
significantly in a manner rendering our clinical data insufficient for approval.

This lengthy approval process as well as the unpredictability of future clinical trial results may result in our failing
to obtain regulatory approval to market certain of our product candidates, which would harm our business,
results of operations and prospects significantly. In addition, even if we obtain approval for our product
candidates, regulatory authorities may approve any of our product candidates for fewer or more limited
indications than we request or may grant approval contingent on the performance of costly post-marketing
clinical trials or may approve a product candidate with a label that does not include the labeling claims necessary
or desirable for the successful commercialization of that product candidate. Any of the foregoing scenarios could
harm the commercial prospects for our product candidates.
Any of these events could prevent us from achieving or maintaining market acceptance of the affected product
or product candidate and could substantially increase the costs of commercializing our products and product
candidates.
If we are found to have improperly promoted our products, we may be subject to restrictions on the sale
or marketing of our products and significant fines, penalties and sanctions, and our image and
reputation within the industry and marketplace could be harmed.
The FDA and other regulatory agencies, including regulatory authorities outside the United States, strictly
regulate the marketing and promotional claims that are made about drug products. In particular, promotion for
a product must be balanced, truthful, non-misleading and consistent with its labeling approved by the FDA or
by regulatory agencies in other countries. We cannot prevent physicians from prescribing our products for
indications or uses that are inconsistent with the approved package insert. If, however, we are found to have
promoted such unapproved uses prior to the FDA’s approval for an additional indication, we may, among other
consequences, receive Untitled or Warning Letters and become subject to significant liability, which would
materially harm our business. Both the U.S. federal government and foreign regulatory authorities have levied
significant civil and criminal fines against companies and individuals for alleged improper promotion and have
entered into settlement agreements with pharmaceutical companies to limit inappropriate promotional activities.
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If we become the target of such an investigation or prosecution based on our marketing and promotional
practices, we could face similar sanctions, which would materially harm our business.
In addition, management’s attention could be diverted from our business operations, significant legal expenses
could be incurred and our reputation could be damaged.
Our business operations and current and future relationships with investigators, healthcare
professionals, third-party payors, patient organizations and customers are subject to applicable
healthcare regulatory laws, which could expose us to penalties.
Our business operations and current and future arrangements with investigators, healthcare professionals,
third-party payors, patient organizations and customers subject us and our customers to broadly applicable
fraud and abuse and other healthcare laws and regulations. These laws constrain the business or financial
arrangements and relationships through which we conduct our operations, including how we research, market,
sell and distribute our products and product candidates, if approved. Such laws include:
•

•

•

•

•

•

•

the U.S. federal Anti-Kickback Statute, which prohibits, among other things, persons or entities from
knowingly and willfully soliciting, offering, receiving or providing any remuneration (including any
kickback, bribe, or certain rebates), directly or indirectly, overtly or covertly, in cash or in kind, to induce
or reward, or in return for, either the referral of an individual for, or the purchase, lease, order or
arrangement for, any good, facility, item or service, for which payment may be made, in whole or in part,
under U.S. federal and state healthcare programs such as Medicare and Medicaid. A person or entity
does not need to have actual knowledge of the statute or specific intent to violate it in order to have
committed a violation;
the U.S. federal anti-kickback prohibition known as Eliminating Kickbacks in Recovery Act or EKRA,
enacted in 2018, which prohibits certain payments related to referrals of patients to certain providers
(such as recovery homes, clinical treatment facilities and laboratories) and applies to services
reimbursed by private health plans as well as government health care programs;
the U.S. federal civil and criminal false claims, including the civil False Claims Act, which prohibit, among
other things, including through civil whistleblower or qui tam actions, individuals or entities from
knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, to the U.S. federal government, claims for payment
or approval that are false or fraudulent, knowingly making, using or causing to be made or used, a false
record or statement material to a false or fraudulent claim, or from knowingly making a false statement
to avoid, decrease or conceal an obligation to pay money to the U.S. federal government. In addition,
the government may assert that a claim including items and services resulting from a violation of the
U.S. federal Anti-Kickback Statute constitutes a false or fraudulent claim for purposes of the False
Claims Act;
the U.S. federal law HIPAA, which created additional federal criminal statutes which prohibit, among
other things, knowingly and willfully executing, or attempting to execute, a scheme to defraud any
healthcare benefit program, or knowingly and willfully falsifying, concealing or covering up a material
fact or making any materially false statement, in connection with the delivery of, or payment for,
healthcare benefits, items or services. Similar to the U.S. federal Anti-Kickback Statute, a person or
entity does not need to have actual knowledge of the statute or specific intent to violate it in order to
have committed a violation;
HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act of
2009, or HITECH and its implementing regulations, which imposes certain privacy, security and breach
reporting obligations, with respect to individually identifiable health information upon covered entities
subject to the law, such as health plans, healthcare clearinghouses and certain healthcare providers as
well as the covered entities’ business associates, which are independent contractors of a covered entity
that perform certain services that involve creating, using, maintaining or transmitting individually
identifiable health information;
the U.S. federal civil monetary penalties statute, which prohibits, among other things, the offering or
giving of remuneration to a Medicare or Medicaid beneficiary that the person knows or should know is
likely to influence the beneficiary’s selection of a particular supplier of items or services reimbursable
by a federal or state governmental program;
the U.S. FDCA, which prohibits, among other things, the adulteration or misbranding of drugs;
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• the U.S. “Federal Sunshine Law,” or Open Payments, and its implementing regulations, which require
certain manufacturers of drugs and medical supplies that are reimbursable under Medicare, Medicaid,
or the Children’s Health Insurance Program, with specific exceptions, to report annually to the
government information related to certain payments and other transfers of value to physicians, nonphysician practitioners and teaching hospitals as well as ownership and investment interests held by
physicians and their immediate family members;
• U.S. federal consumer protection and unfair competition laws, which broadly regulate marketplace
activities and activities that potentially harm consumers;
• analogous U.S. state laws and regulations, including: state anti-kickback and false claims laws; state
laws that require pharmaceutical companies to comply with the pharmaceutical industry’s voluntary
compliance guidelines and the relevant compliance guidance promulgated by the U.S. federal
government, or otherwise restrict payments that may be made to healthcare providers and other
potential referral sources; state laws and regulations that require drug manufacturers to file reports
relating to pricing sales, shipping and marketing information, which includes tracking gifts and other
remuneration and items of value provided to healthcare professionals and entities; state and local laws
that require the registration of pharmaceutical sales representatives and reporting to certain states the
shipment of opioid products into those states; and state laws governing the privacy and security of
health information in certain circumstances, many of which differ from each other in significant ways
and often are not preempted by HIPAA, thus complicating compliance efforts; and
• similar healthcare laws and regulations in the European Union, or the EU, and other jurisdictions,
including reporting requirements detailing interactions with and payments to healthcare providers.
Ensuring that our internal operations and business arrangements with third parties comply with applicable
healthcare laws and regulations involves substantial costs. It is possible that governmental authorities will
conclude that our business practices, including our arrangements with physicians and other healthcare
providers do not comply with current or future statutes, regulations, agency guidance or case law involving
applicable fraud and abuse or other healthcare laws and regulations. If our operations are found to be in violation
of any of the laws described above or any other governmental laws and regulations that may apply to us, we
may be subject to significant penalties, including civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages, fines,
exclusion from government-funded healthcare programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid or similar programs
in other countries or jurisdictions, integrity oversight and reporting obligations to resolve allegations of
non-compliance, disgorgement, individual imprisonment, contractual damages, reputational harm, diminished
profits and the curtailment or restructuring of our operations. If any of the physicians or other providers or entities
with whom we do business are found to not be in compliance with applicable laws, they may be subject to
criminal, civil or administrative sanctions, including exclusions from government funded healthcare programs
and imprisonment, which could affect our ability to operate our business. Further, defending against any such
actions can be costly, time-consuming and may require significant personnel resources. Therefore, even if we
are successful in defending against any such actions that may be brought against us, our business may be
impaired. To the extent our patient assistance programs are found to be inconsistent with applicable laws, we
may be required to restructure or discontinue such programs, or be subject to other significant penalties.
Our operations in non-U.S. jurisdictions subject us to increased regulatory oversight and regulatory,
economic, social and political uncertainties, which could cause a material adverse effect on our
business, financial position and results of operations.
We are subject to certain risks associated with our operations in non-U.S. jurisdictions, including Argentina and
Hungary, and with having assets and operations located in non-U.S. jurisdictions. Our operations in these
jurisdictions may be adversely affected by general economic conditions and economic and fiscal policy,
including changes in exchange rates and controls, interest rates and taxation policies and increased government
regulation. Certain jurisdictions have, from time to time, experienced instances of civil unrest and hostilities,
both internally and with neighboring countries. Rioting, military activity, terrorist attacks, or armed hostilities
could cause our operations there to be adversely affected or suspended. We generally do not have insurance
for losses and interruptions caused by terrorist attacks, military conflicts and wars. In addition, we operate in
countries, including Argentina and Hungary, where there have been reported instances of government
corruption and there are circumstances in which anti-bribery laws may conflict with some local customs and
practices.
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Our international operations may subject us to heightened scrutiny under the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices
Act, or FCPA, other federal statutes and regulations, including those established by the Office of Foreign Assets
Control, the Irish Criminal Justice (Money Laundering and Terrorist Financing) Acts 2010-2018, or the Irish
Money Laundering Acts, the Irish Criminal Justice (Corruption Offences) Act 2018, the U.K. Bribery Act,
anti-corruption provisions in the Hungarian Criminal Code, Argentina’s recently enacted Law 27.401 and other
similar anti-bribery laws, and could subject us to liability under such laws despite our best efforts to comply with
such laws and regulations.
The FCPA prohibits any U.S. individual or business from paying, offering, authorizing payment or offering of
anything of value, directly or indirectly, to any foreign official, political party or candidate for the purpose of
influencing any act or decision of the foreign entity in order to assist the individual or business in obtaining or
retaining business. The Irish Criminal Justice (Corruption Offences) Act 2018 renders a company liable for
prosecution where any of its officers, managers, employees, agents or subsidiaries are found to be involved in
corruption. The only defense is for the company to show that it took all reasonable steps and exercised all due
diligence to prevent such corruption from taking place. The legislation also applies to certain international
activities. The Irish Money Laundering Acts provide for criminal sanctions for engaging in “money laundering
offences,” which are offenses committed where a person knows or believes that (or is reckless as to whether or
not) the property represents the proceeds of criminal conduct and the party is involved in concealing or
disguising the true nature, source, location, disposition, movement or ownership of property, or in converting,
transferring, handling, acquiring possession or using the property, or removing the property from, or bringing
the property into, Ireland. In addition, the U.K. Bribery Act prohibits both domestic and international bribery, as
well as bribery across both private and public sectors. An organization that “fails to prevent bribery” by anyone
associated with the organization can be charged under the U.K. Bribery Act unless the organization can
establish the defense of having implemented “adequate procedures” to prevent bribery. Under these laws and
regulations, as well as other anti-corruption laws, anti-money-laundering laws, export control laws, customs
laws, sanctions laws and other laws governing our operations, various government agencies may require export
licenses, may seek to impose modifications to our business practices, including the cessation of business
activities in sanctioned countries or with sanctioned persons or entities and modifications to compliance
programs, which may increase our compliance costs, and may subject us to fines, penalties and other sanctions.
A violation of these laws or regulations could adversely impact our business, results of operations and financial
condition. As a result of our policy to comply with the FCPA, the Irish Money Laundering Acts, the Irish Criminal
Justice (Corruption Offences) Act 2018, the U.K. Bribery Act and similar anti-bribery laws, we may be at a
competitive disadvantage to competitors that are not subject to, or do not comply with, such laws and
regulations.
We are subject to various laws protecting the confidentiality of certain patient health information, and
other personal information, and our failure to comply could result in penalties and reputational damage.
Numerous U.S. states and countries in which we operate, manufacture and sell our products have, or are
developing, laws protecting data privacy and the confidentiality of certain personal data, including not only
patient health information but also data on employees, customers, contractors and other types of individuals
with whom we interact. The global data protection landscape is rapidly evolving, and we expect that there will
continue to be new and proposed laws, regulations, and industry standards concerning privacy, data protection
and information security, and we cannot yet determine the impact that such future laws, regulations and
standards may have on our business. In the United States, numerous federal and state laws and regulations,
including state data breach notification laws, state health information privacy laws and federal and state
consumer protection laws govern the collection, use, disclosure and protection of health-related and other
personal information. One example of such a law is the California Consumer Privacy Act, or the CCPA, which
took effect on January 1, 2020. The CCPA gives California consumers (defined to include all California
residents) certain rights, including the right to receive certain details regarding the processing of their data by
covered companies, the right to request deletion of their data, and the right to opt out of sales of their data. The
CCPA additionally imposes several obligations on covered companies to provide notice to California consumers
regarding their data processing activities. The CCPA provides for imposition of substantial fines on companies
that violate the law and also confers a private right of action on data subjects to seek statutory or actual damages
for breaches of their personal information. In Europe, the EU General Data Protection Regulation, or the GDPR,
which came into force on May 25, 2018, introduced new data protection requirements in the European Economic
Area (“EEA”) and substantial fines for breaches of the data protection rules.
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The GDPR expanded the territorial scope of European data privacy legislation to include not only entities that
are established in the EEA, but also entities that are not established in the EEA but that offer goods or services
to individuals located in the EEA or monitor the behavior of individuals located in the EEA. The GDPR imposes
strict obligations and restrictions on controllers and processors of personal data including, for example,
expanded disclosures about how personal data is to be used, increased requirements pertaining to health data
and pseudonymised (i.e., key-coded) data, mandatory data breach notification requirements and expanded
rights for individuals over their personal data.
This could affect our ability to collect, analyze and transfer personal data, including health data from clinical
trials and adverse event reporting, or could cause our costs to increase, and harm our business and financial
condition. The GDPR also provides for the assessment of fines on entities that violate the regulation of up to 20
million Euros or four percent of annual turnover and provides data subjects a private right of action to seek
compensation for damages suffered as a result of violations of the regulation.
While the GDPR, as a directly effective regulation, was designed to harmonize data protection law across the
EEA, it does permit member states to legislate in many areas (particularly with regard to the processing of
genetic, biometric or health data and the processing of personal data for research purposes), meaning that
inconsistencies between different member states will still arise. EEA member states have their own regimes on
medical confidentiality and national and EU-level guidance on implementation and compliance practices is often
updated or otherwise revised, which adds to the complexity of processing personal data in the EEA.
European data protection law generally prohibits the transfer of personal data to countries outside of the
EEA that are not considered by the European Commission to provide an adequate level of data protection,
unless there are specific frameworks or mechanisms in place, such as the European Commission approved
standard contractual clauses, or if very narrow legal exceptions (such as data subject consent) apply. Our ability
to receive data from the EEA could be affected by changes in law as a result of a future review of these transfer
mechanisms by European regulators under the GDPR, as well as challenges to these mechanisms in the
European courts.
In recent years, U.S. and European regulators have expressed concern over electronic marketing and the use
of third-party cookies, web beacons and similar technology for online behavioral advertising. In the EEA,
informed consent is required for the placement of many types of cookies on a user’s device, such as cookies
used for online behavioral advertising, as well as for the sending of many types of electronic marketing
communications. The current EU laws that cover the use of cookies and similar technology and marketing online
or by electronic means are under reform. A draft of the new ePrivacy Regulation is currently going through the
European legislative process. Unlike the current ePrivacy Directive, the draft ePrivacy Regulation will be directly
implemented into the laws of each of the EU member states, without the need for further enactment. When
implemented, it is expected to alter rules on third-party cookies, web beacons and similar technology for online
behavioral advertising and to impose stricter requirements on companies using these tools. The current
provisions of the draft ePrivacy Regulation also significantly increase penalties.
Failure to comply with data protection laws and regulations could result in government enforcement actions,
which may involve civil and criminal penalties, private litigation and/or adverse publicity and could negatively
affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. Claims that we have violated individuals’
privacy rights or breached our contractual obligations, even if we are not found liable, could be expensive and
time-consuming to defend and could result in adverse publicity that could harm our business, financial condition
and results of operations.
We face potential liability related to the privacy of health information we obtain from clinical trials
sponsored by us.
Most healthcare providers, including research institutions from which we obtain patient health information, are
subject to privacy and security regulations promulgated under HIPAA, as amended by HITECH. We are not
currently classified as a covered entity or business associate under HIPAA and thus are not subject to its
requirements or penalties. However, any person may be prosecuted under HIPAA’s criminal provisions either
directly or under aiding-and-abetting or conspiracy principles.
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Consequently, depending on the facts and circumstances, we could face substantial criminal penalties if we
knowingly receive individually identifiable health information from a HIPAA-covered healthcare provider or
research institution that has not satisfied HIPAA’s requirements for disclosure of individually identifiable health
information. In addition, we may maintain sensitive personally identifiable information, including health
information that we receive throughout the clinical trial process or in the course of our research collaborations.
As such, we may be subject to state laws requiring notification of affected individuals and state regulators in the
event of a breach of personal information, which is a broader class of information than the health information
protected by HIPAA. Our clinical trial programs outside the United States may implicate international data
protection laws, including the GDPR.
Our activities outside the United States impose additional compliance requirements and generate additional
risks of enforcement for noncompliance. Failure by our CROs and other third-party contractors to comply with
the strict rules on the transfer of personal data outside of the European Union into the United States may result
in the imposition of criminal and administrative sanctions on such collaborators, which could adversely affect
our business. Furthermore, certain health privacy laws, data breach notification laws and consumer protection
laws may apply directly to our operations and/or those of our collaborators and may impose restrictions on our
collection, use and dissemination of individuals’ health information. Moreover, patients about whom we or our
collaborators obtain health information, as well as the providers who share this information with us, may have
statutory or contractual rights that limit our ability to use and disclose the information. We may be required to
expend significant capital and other resources to ensure ongoing compliance with applicable privacy and data
security laws. Claims that we have violated individuals’ privacy rights or breached our contractual obligations,
even if we are not found liable, could be expensive and time-consuming to defend and could result in adverse
publicity that could harm our business. If we or third-party CROs or other contractors or consultants fail to comply
with applicable federal, state or local regulatory requirements, we could be subject to a range of regulatory
actions that could affect our or our contractors’ ability to develop and commercialize our product candidates and
could harm or prevent sales of any affected products that we are able to commercialize, or could substantially
increase the costs and expenses of developing, commercializing and marketing our products. Any threatened
or actual government enforcement action could also generate adverse publicity and require that we devote
substantial resources that could otherwise be used in other aspects of our business. Increasing use of social
media could give rise to liability, breaches of data security or reputational damage.
Our reporting and payment obligations under the Medicaid drug rebate program and other
governmental purchasing and discount or rebate programs are complex and may involve subjective
decisions. Any determination that we have failed to comply with those obligations could subject us to
penalties and sanctions, which could have a material adverse effect.
The requirements regarding price reporting and discount or rebate obligations applicable to the various
government pricing and reimbursement programs, such as the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program, are complex.
Our calculations and methodologies related to government pricing reporting are subject to review and challenge
by the applicable governmental agencies, and it is possible that such reviews could result in material changes.
In addition, because our processes for these calculations and the judgments involved in making these
calculations involve, and will continue to involve, subjective decisions and complex methodologies, these
calculations are subject to the risk of errors. For example, we were subject to an audit by the Office of Inspector
General related to purported overcharges with respect to the prices of VERT that were purchased by the U.S.
Department of Veterans Affairs. Although we believe that the prices we charged in these transactions were
appropriate and have settled this matter, an adverse determination of other audits could result in the imposition
of significant financial penalties, which could have a material adverse impact on our results of operations and
financial condition.
Any governmental agencies that have commenced (or that may commence) an investigation of our company
could impose, based on a claim of violation of fraud and false claims laws or otherwise, civil or criminal
sanctions, including fines, penalties and possible exclusion from federal health care programs (including
Medicaid and Medicare). Some of the applicable laws may impose liability even in the absence of specific intent
to defraud. Furthermore, there may be ambiguity with regard to how to properly calculate and report payments,
and even in the absence of any such ambiguity, a governmental authority could take a position contrary to a
position that we have taken and may impose civil or criminal sanctions on us.
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Any such penalties, sanctions, or exclusion from federal health care programs could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial position and results of operations. From time to time we conduct routine reviews
of our government pricing calculations. These reviews may have an impact on government price reporting and
rebate calculations used to comply with various government regulations regarding reporting and payment
obligations.
Many government and third-party payors, including Medicare, Medicaid, MCOs and others, reimburse doctors
and others for the purchase of certain prescription drugs based on a drug’s average wholesale price, or AWP.
In the past several years, state and federal government agencies have conducted ongoing investigations of
manufacturers’ reporting practices with respect to AWP, in which the agencies have suggested that reporting
of inflated AWPs by manufacturers have led to excessive payments for prescription drugs. We can give no
assurance that we will be able to resolve any future actions that may be brought against us on terms that we
deem reasonable, or that such settlements or adverse judgments, if entered, will not exceed the amount of any
reserve. Accordingly, such actions could adversely affect us and may have a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.
Increased scrutiny around the abuse of opioids, including law enforcement concerns over diversion
and legislative and regulatory efforts to combat abuse, could impact some of our pharmaceutical
products, and could reduce the demand and increase the cost, burden and liability associated with the
commercialization of opioids.
Law enforcement and regulatory agencies may apply policies that seek to limit the availability of opioids. Such
efforts may affect our opioid products, such as tramadol extended-release capsules and hydromorphone ER
(hydromorphone hydrochloride extended-release tablets). For the year ended December 31, 2020, our opioid
products represented 17% of our total revenues. Aggressive enforcement by the DEA or other regulators,
unfavorable publicity regarding, for example, the use or misuse of opioid drugs or the limitations of
abuse-deterrent formulations, litigation, public inquiries or investigations related to the abuse, sales, marketing,
distribution or storage of our products could harm our reputation, result in financial consequences in the form of
litigation costs, fines, penalties, damages, and other costs, or suspension or revocation of licenses necessary
to manufacture and distribute controlled substances. Such negative publicity could also reduce the potential
size of the market for our drugs and decrease the total revenues we are able to generate from sales. In addition,
efforts by the FDA and other regulatory bodies to combat the abuse of opioids may negatively impact the market
for our products. The FDA continues to evaluate extended-release and abuse-deterrent opioids in the
post-market setting. We expect that the FDA will continue to scrutinize the impact of abuse-deterrent opioids
and in the future could impose further restrictions to products currently on the market, which may include
changing labeling, imposing additional prescribing restrictions, or seeking a product’s removal from the market,
which could have an adverse effect on our financial performance.
In addition, some states, including the Commonwealths of Massachusetts and Virginia and the States of New
York, Ohio, Arizona, Maine, New Hampshire, Vermont, Rhode Island, Colorado, Wisconsin, Alabama, South
Carolina, Washington and New Jersey, have recently enacted, intend to enact, or have considered legislation
or regulations designed to, among other things, limit the duration and quantity of initial prescriptions of
immediate-release forms of opiates, mandate the use by prescribers of prescription drug databases and
mandate prescriber education. The attorneys general from nearly every state have also either opened an
investigation into or filed a lawsuit against pharmaceutical manufacturers and distributors of opioid products.
At the state and local level, a number of states, cities, counties, Native American tribes, third party payors,
hospitals and other health service providers, schools, individuals and guardians of children diagnosed with
neonatal abstinence syndrome have brought separate lawsuits against various pharmaceutical companies
marketing and selling opioid pain medications, alleging misleading or otherwise improper promotion of opioid
drugs to physicians and consumers. Over 2,400 of these lawsuits have been consolidated in multi-district
litigation in the Northern District of Ohio in In re: National Prescription Opiate Litigation, 1:17md2804, or Federal
Opioid MDL. The outcome of those bellwether cases will be used to evaluate the settlement and litigation value
of the remaining coordinated cases. We are not named in any of the cases pending in the multi-district litigation,
but cases continue to be filed in federal courts across the country and continue to be consolidated into the
Federal Opioid MDL.
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Cases against pharmaceutical companies marketing and selling opioid pain medications, alleging misleading
or otherwise improper promotion of opioids drugs, also continue to be separately litigated in state courts across
the country. For example, on August 26, 2019, an Oklahoma court ordered Johnson & Johnson to pay $572
million, which was later reduced to $465 million, for its role in the state’s opioid crisis, including for violating
Oklahoma’s public nuisance law. On March 15, 2018, a coalition of local governments in Arkansas, comprised
of 75 counties and 15 cities, jointly filed a lawsuit in the Circuit Court of Crittenden County, Arkansas against
more than 60 defendants, including us. The summons and complaint that we received on April 30, 2018 claimed
that we and the other defendants, including prescription opioid manufacturers, distributors and retailers, and
several physicians, were negligent and violated public nuisance law as well as various Arkansas controlled
substance laws as a result of alleged opioid sales and marketing practices. The lawsuit sought damages and
restitution for past and prospective spending related to opioid use, as well as punitive and treble damages. On
July 17, 2018, the court entered an order in the Arkansas litigation voluntarily dismissing us from the lawsuit
without prejudice.
If similar federal or state lawsuits are filed against us in the future, we may be subject to excessive litigation or
settlement costs, negative publicity, diversion of management time and attention, decreased sales or removal
of one or more of our opioid products from the market, which could have a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations and financial condition. The risk of inclusion in the Federal Opioid MDL may
intensify the impact of negative publicity and could lead to a proliferation of lawsuits naming us.
Additionally, in March 2017, President Trump announced the creation of a commission, through the Office of
National Drug Control Policy, to make recommendations to the President on how to best combat opioid addiction
and abuse. In August 2017, the commission issued a preliminary report calling on President Trump to officially
declare the crisis of opioid abuse a national emergency. On October 26, 2017, President Trump declared the
opioid crisis a ‘‘national public health emergency.’’ The commission’s final report was released in early
November 2017. In July 2017, the Pharmaceutical Care Management Association, a trade association
representing pharmacy benefit managers, wrote a letter to the commissioner of the FDA in which it expressed
support for, among other things, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or CDC, guidelines and a
seven-day limit on the supply of opioids for acute pain. In September 2017, CVS Pharmacy announced that it
would only fill first time opioid prescriptions for acute pain for a seven day supply. State legislative initiatives
may take various forms, including attempts to tax opioid products. For instance, in 2018, New York enacted a
state law (The Opioid Stewardship Act) which intended to raise $600 million from opioid manufacturers and
distributors by taxing morphine milligram equivalents. A federal district court subsequently determined that the
law was unconstitutional because the law violated the commerce clause. That ruling is currently on appeal.
These and other similar initiatives and actions, whether taken by governmental authorities or other industry
stakeholders, may result in the reduced prescribing and use of opioids, including our opioid products, which
could adversely affect our ability to commercialize our opioid products, and in turn adversely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations.
Some of our products, including methylphenidate ER, are stimulant products and face intense
competition from existing or future stimulant products and also have the potential for misuse, which
could reduce the demand and increase the cost, burden and liability associated with the
commercialization of such products.
Some of our products and product candidates are stimulants, including methylphenidate ER. The markets for
methylphenidate ER and other stimulants to treat attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (“ADHD”) are well
developed and populated with established drugs marketed by large pharmaceutical, biotechnology and generic
drug companies. There have also been efforts to develop stimulant products that are less prone to abuse, and
such products may compete with our products. Our competitors may succeed in developing, acquiring or
licensing, on an exclusive basis or otherwise, drug products or drug delivery technologies that are more
effective, less costly or less prone to abuse than our stimulant products, or any product candidate that we may
develop. In addition, because of the potential for abuse of stimulant products, regulatory agencies may develop
and apply policies that seek to limit the abuse of such stimulant products. If our competitors develop and market
stimulant products that are more effective, safer or less expensive than our product or future product candidates,
if any, or if abuse of our stimulant products result in increased liability or reduced demand for such products,
this could impact our ability to generate revenues from such stimulant products and will adversely affect our
business and financial condition.
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The DEA limits production of some of our products and limits the availability of certain of our products’
active ingredients. Procurement and production quotas set by the DEA may not be sufficient to allow
us to complete clinical trials or to meet commercial demand, and may result in clinical delays.
The DEA regulates controlled substances as Schedule I, II, III, IV or V substances, with Schedule I substances
considered to present the highest risk of substance abuse and Schedule V substances the lowest risk.
Methylphenidate included in our methylphenidate ER and M-72 products and hydromorphone included in our
hydromorphone ER product are listed as Schedule II drugs and tramadol hydrochloride included in our ConZip
product is listed as a Schedule IV drug by the DEA under the Controlled Substances Act. The manufacture,
shipment, storage, sale and use of Schedule II drugs are subject to a high degree of regulation. For example,
Schedule II drug prescriptions generally must be signed by a physician and may not be refilled without a new
prescription. Substances in Schedule IV are considered to have a lower potential for abuse relative to
substances in Schedule II.
A prescription for controlled substances in Schedule IV may be issued by a practitioner through oral
communication, in writing, or by facsimile to the pharmacist, and may be refilled if so authorized on the
prescription or by call-in. In the future, our other potential products may also be listed by the DEA as controlled
substances.
Furthermore, the DEA limits the availability of the active ingredients in certain of our current drug products and
sets a quota on the production of these products. We, or our contract manufacturing organizations, must
annually apply to the DEA for procurement and production quotas in order to obtain these substances and
produce our products. As a result, our procurement and production quotas may not be sufficient to meet
commercial demand or to complete clinical trials, which may result in delays in clinical trials or inability to meet
commercial demand. Moreover, the DEA may adjust these quotas from time to time during the year. Any delay
or refusal by the DEA to establish or modify our quotas for controlled substances could delay or stop clinical
trials or product launches, or could cause trade inventory disruptions, which could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial position, results of operations and cash flows.
We are susceptible to product liability claims that may not be covered by insurance, which, if
successful, could require us to pay substantial sums.
Like all pharmaceutical companies, we face the risk of loss resulting from, and the adverse publicity associated
with, product liability lawsuits, whether or not such claims are valid. We likely cannot avoid such claims.
Unanticipated side effects or unfavorable publicity concerning any of our products would likely have an adverse
effect on our ability to achieve acceptance by prescribing physicians, managed care providers, pharmacies and
other retailers, customers, patients and clinical trial participants. Even unsuccessful product liability claims could
require us to spend money on litigation, divert management’s time, damage our reputation and impair the
marketability of our products. In addition, although we believe that we have adequate product liability insurance
coverage, we cannot be certain that our insurance will, in fact, be sufficient to cover such claims or that we will
be able to obtain or maintain adequate insurance coverage in the future at acceptable prices. A successful
product liability claim that is excluded from coverage or exceeds our policy limits could require us to pay
substantial sums. In addition, insurance coverage for product liability may become prohibitively expensive in the
future or, with respect to certain high-risk products, may not be available at all. For example, some product
liability insurance carriers exclude from coverage claims related to abuse or misuse of our opioid products, such
as hydromorphone ER. As a result we may not be able to maintain adequate product liability insurance coverage
to mitigate the risk of large claims, or we may be required to maintain a larger self-insured retention than we
would otherwise choose.
Manufacturing or quality control problems may damage our reputation for quality production, require
costly remedial activities and negatively impact our business, results of operations and financial
condition.
As a pharmaceutical company, we are subject to substantial regulation by various governmental authorities.
For instance, we must comply with requirements of the FDA and other healthcare regulators with respect to the
manufacture of pharmaceutical products.
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We must register our facilities, whether located in the United States or elsewhere, with the FDA as well as
regulators outside the United States. Also, our products, including our investigational products, must be made
in a manner consistent with applicable cGMP regulations, or similar standards in each territory in which we
manufacture. The failure of one of our facilities, or a facility of one of our third-party suppliers, to comply with
applicable laws and regulations may lead to breach of representations made to our customers or to regulatory
or government action against us related to products made in that facility.
In addition, the FDA and other agencies periodically inspect our manufacturing facilities. Following an
inspection, an agency may issue a notice listing conditions that are believed to violate cGMP or other
regulations, or a Warning Letter for violations of “regulatory significance” that may result in enforcement action
if not promptly and adequately corrected. We have in the past received Warning Letters from the FDA regarding
certain operations. For example, in May 2017, the FDA issued a Warning Letter to us for violation of
post-marketing adverse drug experience reporting requirements, specifically for (i) failing to develop written
procedures for the surveillance, receipt, evaluation, and reporting of post-marketing adverse drug experiences,
and (ii) failing to submit periodic adverse drug experience reports annually. This Warning Letter was based on
an October-November 2016 FDA inspection. We have been providing periodic updates to FDA outlining our
corrective steps taken in response to this Warning Letter. In July 2018, the FDA conducted an inspection of our
pharmacovigilance function as follow up to the May 10, 2017 Warning Letter. On October 25, 2018, the FDA
sent us a letter stating that it completed an evaluation of our corrective actions and confirming that we had
addressed the violations contained in the Warning Letter but we cannot be assured that the FDA will continue
to be satisfied with our quality control and manufacturing systems and standards with respect to this or other
matters. Failure to comply strictly with these regulations and requirements may damage our reputation and lead
to financial penalties, compliance expenditures, the recall or seizure of products, total or partial suspension of
production or distribution, withdrawal or suspension of the applicable regulator’s review of our submissions,
enforcement actions, injunctions and criminal prosecution. Further, other federal agencies, our customers and
partners in our development, manufacturing, collaboration and other partnership agreements with respect to
our products and services may take any such FDA observations or Warning Letters into account when
considering the award of contracts or the continuation or extension of such partnership agreements. The delay
and cost of remedial actions, or obtaining approval to manufacture at a different facility, could negatively impact
our business. Any failure by us to comply with applicable laws and regulations or any actions by the FDA and
other agencies as described above could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position and
results of operations.
The illegal distribution and sale by third parties of counterfeit versions of our products or of stolen
products could have a negative impact on our reputation and a material adverse effect on our business,
results of operations and financial condition.
Third parties could illegally distribute and sell counterfeit versions of our products, which do not meet the
rigorous manufacturing and testing standards that our products undergo. Counterfeit products are frequently
unsafe or ineffective, and can be life-threatening. Counterfeit medicines may contain harmful substances, the
wrong dose of the API or no API at all. However, to distributors and users, counterfeit products may be visually
indistinguishable from the authentic version.
Reports of adverse reactions to counterfeit drugs or increased levels of counterfeiting could materially affect
patient confidence in the authentic product. It is possible that adverse events caused by unsafe counterfeit
products will mistakenly be attributed to the authentic product. In addition, thefts of inventory at warehouses,
plants or while in-transit, which are not properly stored and which are sold through unauthorized channels could
adversely impact patient safety, our reputation and our business.
Public loss of confidence in the integrity of our pharmaceutical products as a result of counterfeiting or theft
could have a material adverse effect on our reputation, business, results of operations and financial condition.
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Our employees and independent contractors, including consultants, vendors and any third parties we
may engage in connection with development and commercialization may engage in misconduct or other
improper activities, including noncompliance with regulatory standards and requirements, which could
harm our business.
Misconduct by our employees and independent contractors, including consultants, vendors and any third parties
we may engage in connection with development and commercialization, could include intentional, reckless or
negligent conduct or unauthorized activities that violate: (i) the laws and regulations of the FDA and other similar
regulatory authorities, including those laws that require the reporting of true, complete and accurate information
to such authorities; (ii) manufacturing standards; (iii) data privacy, security, fraud and abuse and other
healthcare laws and regulations; or (iv) laws that require the reporting of true, complete and accurate financial
information and data. Specifically, sales, marketing and business arrangements in the healthcare industry are
subject to extensive laws and regulations intended to prevent fraud, misconduct, kickbacks, self-dealing and
other abusive practices. These laws and regulations may restrict or prohibit a wide range of pricing, discounting,
marketing and promotion, sales commission, customer incentive programs and other business arrangements.
Activities subject to these laws could also involve the improper use or misrepresentation of information obtained
in the course of clinical trials, creation of fraudulent data in preclinical studies or clinical trials or illegal
misappropriation of drug product, which could result in regulatory sanctions and cause serious harm to our
reputation.
It is not always possible to identify and deter misconduct by employees and other third parties, and the
precautions we take to detect and prevent this activity may not be effective in controlling unknown or unmanaged
risks or losses or in protecting us from governmental investigations or other actions or lawsuits stemming from
a failure to comply with such laws or regulations. Additionally, we are subject to the risk that a person or
government could allege such fraud or other misconduct, even if none occurred. If any such actions are
instituted against us, and we are not successful in defending ourselves or asserting our rights, those actions
could have a significant impact on our business and results of operations.
Risks related to our indebtedness
Our substantial indebtedness could adversely affect our ability to raise additional capital to fund our
operations, limit our ability to react to changes in the economy or our industry and prevent us from
meeting obligations on our indebtedness.
We currently have a substantial amount of indebtedness. As of December 31, 2020, our total indebtedness was
$219.5 million (net of deferred financing costs), with unused commitments of $50.0 million under the senior
secured credit facilities.
Subject to the limits contained in our senior secured credit facilities, we may incur substantial additional
indebtedness from time to time to finance working capital, capital expenditures, investments or acquisitions, or
for other purposes. If we do so, the risks related to this high level of debt could intensify. Specifically, the high
level of debt could have important consequences, including, but not limited to:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

making it more difficult for us to satisfy our obligations with respect to our debt;
requiring a substantial portion of our cash flows to be dedicated to debt service payments instead of
other purposes, thereby reducing the amount of cash flows available for working capital, capital
expenditures, acquisitions and other general corporate purposes;
limiting our ability to obtain additional financing to fund future working capital, capital expenditures,
acquisitions or other general corporate requirements;
increasing our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions;
exposing us to the risk of increased interest rates as certain of our borrowings, including borrowings
under the senior secured credit facilities, which are at variable rates of interest;
limiting our flexibility in planning for and reacting to changes in the industry in which we compete;
placing us at a disadvantage compared to other, less leveraged competitors; and
increasing our cost of borrowing.
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The terms of the credit agreement governing our senior secured credit facilities, or the Credit
Agreement, restrict our current and future operations, particularly our ability to respond to changes or
to take certain actions.
The Credit Agreement contains a number of restrictive covenants that impose significant operating and financial
restrictions on our operating subsidiaries and may limit our ability to engage in acts that may be in our long-term
best interest, including restrictions on our ability to:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

incur additional indebtedness;
pay dividends or make other distributions or repurchase or redeem our share capital;
prepay, redeem or repurchase certain debt;
make loans and investments;
sell assets or enter into sale and lease-back transactions;
incur liens;
enter into transactions with affiliates;
alter the businesses we conduct;
enter into agreements restricting our subsidiaries’ ability to pay dividends;
consolidate, merge or sell all or substantially all of our assets;
amend or modify the organizational documents of our operating subsidiaries;
amend or modify certain indebtedness of our operating subsidiaries;
change our fiscal year; and
enter into certain derivative transactions.

In addition, the restrictive covenants in the Credit Agreement require us to comply with certain financial
covenants. As of the end of each fiscal quarter, our operating subsidiaries must (i) maintain a Total Leverage
Ratio (as defined in the Credit Agreement) no greater than 4.50:1.00 and each subsequent fiscal quarter and
(ii) maintain a Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio not less than 1.25:1.00. Our ability to meet these
financial ratios can be affected by events beyond our control.
A breach of the covenants under the Credit Agreement could result in an event of default under the Credit
Agreement. Such an event of default may allow the creditors to accelerate the related debt and may result in
the acceleration of any other debt to which a cross-acceleration or cross-default provision applies which could
have a material adverse effect on our business, operations and financial results. In addition, an event of default
under the Credit Agreement would permit the lenders under the senior secured credit facilities to terminate all
commitments to extend further credit under that facility. Furthermore, if we were unable to repay the amounts
due and payable under the senior secured credit facilities, those lenders could proceed against the collateral
granted to them to secure that indebtedness which could force us into bankruptcy or liquidation. In the event
our lenders accelerate the repayment of the borrowings, we and our subsidiaries may not have sufficient assets
to repay that indebtedness. Any acceleration of amounts due under the Credit Agreement or the exercise by
the applicable lenders of their rights under the related security documents would likely have a material adverse
effect on us. As a result of these restrictions, we may be:
•
•
•

limited in how we conduct our business;
unable to raise additional debt or equity financing to operate during general economic or business
downturns; or
unable to compete effectively or to take advantage of new business opportunities. These restrictions
may affect our ability to grow in accordance with our strategy.

We may not be able to generate sufficient cash to service all of our indebtedness and may be forced to
take other actions to satisfy our obligations under our indebtedness, which may not be successful.
Our ability to make scheduled payments on or refinance our debt obligations depends on our financial condition
and operating performance, which are subject to prevailing economic and competitive conditions and to certain
financial, business, legislative, regulatory and other factors beyond our control. We may be unable to maintain
a level of cash flows from operating activities sufficient to permit us to pay the principal, premium, if any, and
interest on our indebtedness.
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We expect our near term levels of cash flow to be negatively affected by price competition on methylphenidate
ER, VERT and Lorzone, and increased expenses associated with new product launches. As a result, we could
exhaust or significantly decrease our available cash resources, and we may not be able to generate sufficient
cash to service our debt obligations. This could, among other things, force us to raise additional funds or force
us to reduce our expenses through cost cutting measures either of which could have a material adverse effect
on our business. If our cash flows and capital resources are insufficient to fund our debt service obligations, we
could face substantial liquidity problems and could be forced to reduce or delay investments and capital
expenditures or to dispose of material assets or operations, seek additional debt or equity capital or restructure
or refinance our indebtedness. We may not be able to effect any such alternative measures on commercially
reasonable terms or at all and, even if successful, those alternative actions may not allow us to meet our
scheduled debt service obligations. The Credit Agreement restricts our ability to dispose of assets and use the
proceeds from those dispositions and also restricts our ability to raise debt or equity capital to be used to repay
other indebtedness when it becomes due. We may not be able to consummate those dispositions or to obtain
proceeds in an amount sufficient to meet any debt service obligations when due.
Our inability to generate sufficient cash flows to satisfy our debt obligations, or to refinance our indebtedness
on commercially reasonable terms or at all, would materially and adversely affect our financial position and
results of operations and our ability to satisfy our obligations, including our indebtedness.
If we cannot make scheduled payments on our debt, we will be in default and, as a result:
•
•
•

our debt holders could declare all outstanding principal and interest to be due and payable;
the lenders under the senior secured credit facilities could terminate their commitments to loan us
money and foreclose against the assets securing the borrowings; and
we could be forced into bankruptcy or liquidation.

We will require a significant amount of cash to service our indebtedness. The ability to generate cash
or refinance our indebtedness as it becomes due depends on many factors, some of which are beyond
our control.
Our ability to make scheduled payments on, or to refinance our respective obligations under, our indebtedness
and to fund planned capital expenditures and other corporate expenses will depend on the ability of our
subsidiaries to make distributions, dividends or advances to us, which in turn will depend on our subsidiaries’
future operating performance and on economic, financial, competitive, legislative, regulatory and other factors
and any legal and regulatory restrictions on the payment of distributions and dividends to which they may be
subject. Many of these factors are beyond our control. We cannot be certain that our business will generate
sufficient cash flow from operations or that future borrowings will be available to us in an amount sufficient to
enable us to satisfy our respective obligations under our indebtedness or to fund our other needs. In order for
us to satisfy our obligations under our indebtedness and fund planned capital expenditures, we must continue
to execute our business strategy. If we are unable to do so, we may need to reduce or delay our planned capital
expenditures, implement certain cost-saving initiatives, divest assets or refinance all or a portion of our
indebtedness on or before maturity. Significant delays in our planned capital expenditures, implementing cost
savings measures or divestiture of assets may materially and adversely affect our future revenue prospects. In
addition, we cannot assure our creditors that we will be able to refinance any of our indebtedness on
commercially reasonable terms or at all.
We are a holding company with nominal net worth and will depend on dividends and distributions from
our subsidiaries, which are restricted from paying dividends and distributions to us pursuant to the
terms of our existing indebtedness and may be restricted pursuant to the terms of future indebtedness,
which as a result may restrict us from paying dividends to you.
We are a holding company with nominal net worth. We do not have any material assets or conduct any business
operations other than our investments in our subsidiaries. Our business operations are conducted primarily out
of our indirect operating subsidiaries, Vertical Pharmaceuticals, LLC, Trigen Laboratories, LLC, RVL
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Osmotica Pharmaceutical US LLC. As a result, notwithstanding any restrictions on
payment of dividends under our existing indebtedness or under Irish law, our ability to pay dividends, if any, will
be dependent upon cash dividends and distributions or other transfers from our subsidiaries.
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Payments to us by our subsidiaries will be contingent upon their respective earnings and subject to any
limitations on the ability of such entities to make payments or other distributions to us. The Credit Agreement
restricts our subsidiaries from paying dividends and making distributions to its direct or indirect equity holders
unless there are available exceptions thereunder. If we are not able to meet such available exceptions that
would allow our subsidiaries to pay a dividend or make a distribution to us, and which would then allow us to
pay a dividend to you, then we will need to obtain a waiver from the lenders under the senior secured credit
facilities.
Despite our current level of indebtedness, we and our subsidiaries may still be able to incur
substantially more debt. This could further exacerbate the risks to our financial condition described
above.
We and our subsidiaries may be able to incur significant additional indebtedness in the future. Although the
Credit Agreement contains restrictions on the incurrence of additional indebtedness, these restrictions are
subject to a number of qualifications and exceptions, and the additional indebtedness incurred in compliance
with these restrictions could be substantial. These restrictions also will not prevent us from incurring obligations
that do not constitute indebtedness. If new debt is added to our current debt levels, the related risks that we and
the guarantors now face could intensify.
Our variable rate indebtedness subjects us to interest rate risk, which could cause our debt service
obligations to increase significantly.
Borrowings under the senior secured credit facilities are at variable rates of interest and expose us to interest
rate risk. Historically, we have elected that Borrowings under the senior secured credit facilities bear interest
based upon the London Inter-Bank Offered Rate, or LIBOR. The senior secured credit facilities include a LIBOR
floor of 1.00%. The interest period can be set at one, two, three or six months (or, to the extent available to all
relevant lenders, twelve months or a shorter period) as selected by us in accordance with the terms of the senior
secured credit facilities. An increase of 1.00% in LIBOR would result in a $2.2 million increase in our annual
interest expense associated with the senior secured credit facilities.
Risks related to our ordinary shares
We qualify both as an “emerging growth company” and as a “smaller reporting company,” and we
cannot be certain if the reduced disclosure requirements applicable to emerging growth companies and
smaller reporting companies will make our ordinary shares less attractive to investors.
We are an emerging growth company, as defined in the JOBS Act. For as long as we continue to be an emerging
growth company, we may take advantage of exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable
to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies, including, but not limited to, (i) not being
required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act,
(ii) reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy
statements and (iii) exemptions from the requirements of holding a non-binding advisory vote on executive
compensation.
We could be an emerging growth company for up to five years, although circumstances could cause us to lose
that status earlier, including if the market value of our ordinary shares held by non-affiliates exceeds $700.0
million as of any June 30 before that time or if we have total annual gross revenues of $1.07 billion or more
during any fiscal year before that time, in which cases, we would no longer be an emerging growth company as
of the following December 31 or, if we issue more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt during any three-year
period before that time, we would cease to be an emerging growth company immediately. In addition, we qualify
as a “smaller reporting company,” which allows us to take advantage of many of the same exemptions from
disclosure requirements, including not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and reduced disclosure obligations regarding financial statements,
executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy statements. We cannot predict if investors will find
our ordinary shares less attractive because we may rely on these exemptions. If some investors find our ordinary
shares less attractive as a result, there may be a less active trading market for our ordinary shares and our
share price may be more volatile.
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When these exemptions cease to apply, we expect to incur additional expenses and devote increased
management effort toward ensuring compliance with them, and we cannot predict or estimate the amount or
timing of such additional costs.
Under the JOBS Act, emerging growth companies can also delay adopting new or revised accounting standards
until such time as those standards apply to private companies. We have irrevocably elected not to avail
ourselves of this exemption from new or revised accounting standards and, therefore, will be subject to the
same new or revised accounting standards as other public companies that are not emerging growth companies.
Investment funds affiliated with Avista Capital Partners, or Avista, and affiliates of Altchem Limited, or
Altchem, have significant influence over us, including control over decisions that require the approval
of shareholders, which could limit your ability to influence the outcome of matters submitted to
shareholders for a vote.
We are currently controlled by Avista and Altchem, who we refer to as our Sponsors. As of March 1, 2021,
investment funds affiliated with the Sponsors beneficially owned approximately 64.5% of our outstanding
ordinary shares. For as long as the Sponsors own or control at least a majority of our outstanding voting power,
they will have the ability to exercise substantial control over all corporate actions requiring shareholder approval,
irrespective of how our other shareholders may vote, including over the election and removal of directors, any
amendment to our Constitution, the approval of any merger or other significant corporate transaction, including
a sale of substantially all of our assets. Even if their ownership falls below 50%, they will continue to be able to
strongly influence or effectively control our decisions so long as they continue to hold a significant portion of our
ordinary shares. In addition, each of the Sponsors has a contractual right to nominate two directors for so long
as such Sponsor owns at least 20% of our outstanding ordinary shares, and one director for so long as such
Sponsor owns less than 20% but more than 10% of our outstanding ordinary shares.
Additionally, the Sponsors’ interests may not align with the interests of our other shareholders. Avista and
Altchem are in the business of making investments in companies and may acquire and hold interests in
businesses that compete directly or indirectly with us. The Sponsors may also pursue acquisition opportunities
that may be complementary to our business, and, as a result, those acquisition opportunities may not be
available to us.
We are a “controlled company” within the meaning of the rules of the Nasdaq Stock Market and, as a
result, qualify for, and rely on, exemptions from certain corporate governance requirements. As a result,
you do not have the same protections afforded to shareholders of companies that are subject to such
requirements.
Because the Sponsors control a majority of the voting power of our outstanding ordinary shares, we are a
“controlled company” within the meaning of the corporate governance standards of the Nasdaq Stock Market.
Under these rules, a company of which more than 50% of the voting power for the election of directors is held
by an individual, group or another company is a “controlled company” and may elect not to comply with certain
corporate governance requirements, including the requirements that, within one year of the date of the listing of
our ordinary shares:
•
•
•

we have a board of directors that is composed of a majority of “independent directors,” as defined under
the rules of the Nasdaq Stock Market;
we have a compensation committee that is composed entirely of independent directors; and
we have a nominating and corporate governance committee that is composed entirely of independent
directors.

We intend to continue to utilize all of these exemptions. Accordingly, for so long as we are a “controlled
company,” you will not have the same protections afforded to shareholders of companies that are subject to all
of the corporate governance requirements of the Nasdaq Stock Market. Our status as a controlled company
could make our ordinary shares less attractive to some investors or otherwise harm our share price.
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Our directors who have relationships with Avista or Altchem may have conflicts of interest with respect
to matters involving our company.
Two of our seven directors are affiliated with Avista and two directors are affiliated with Altchem. In addition, our
Chief Executive Officer, Brian Markison, serves as an operating executive at Avista Capital Partners. Our
directors have fiduciary duties to us and, in addition, have duties to Avista or Altchem, as applicable. As a result,
these directors may face real or apparent conflicts of interest with respect to matters affecting both us and Avista
or Altchem, as applicable, whose interests, in some circumstances, may be adverse to ours.
Your percentage ownership in us may be diluted in the future, which could reduce your influence over
matters on which shareholders vote.
In the future, your percentage ownership in us may be diluted because of equity issuances for acquisitions,
capital market transactions or otherwise, including equity awards that we have granted or may grant in the future
to directors, officers and employees. From time to time, we may issue additional options or other share based
awards to our directors, officers and employees under our benefits plans.
Pursuant to our Articles of Association, our board of directors has the authority, without action or vote of our
shareholders and on a non-pre-emptive basis, to issue all or any part of our authorized but unissued ordinary
shares, and one or more classes or series of preferred shares having such powers, preferences and relative,
participating, optional and other special rights, including preferences over our ordinary shares respecting
dividends and distributions, as our board of directors generally may determine. The terms of one or more classes
or series of preferred shares could dilute the voting power or reduce the value of our ordinary shares. For
example, our board of directors could grant the holders of preferred shares the right to elect some number of
our directors in all events or on the happening of specified events or the right to veto specified transactions.
Similarly, the repurchase or redemption rights or liquidation preferences our board of directors could assign to
holders of preferred shares could affect the residual value of our ordinary shares.
Issuances of ordinary shares or voting preferred shares in the manner outlined above may reduce your influence
over matters on which our shareholders vote.
Currently there is a limited public market for our securities, which may limit your ability to sell your
shares.
Although our ordinary shares are listed on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol ‘‘OSMT,’’ our
shares have been thinly traded, and there may not be an active trading market for our shares. A public trading
market having the desirable characteristics of depth, liquidity and orderliness depends upon the existence of
willing buyers and sellers at any given time, such existence being dependent upon the individual decisions of
buyers and sellers over which neither we nor any market maker has control. The failure of an active and liquid
trading market to continue would likely have a material adverse effect on the value of our ordinary shares. The
market price of our ordinary shares may decline and you may not be able to sell our ordinary shares at or above
the price you paid for them, or at all. An inactive market may also impair our ability to raise capital to fund
operations by selling shares and may impair our ability to acquire other companies or technologies by using our
shares as consideration.
Registration of the beneficial interests in our shares subjects us and the holders of such beneficial
interests to certain risks.
We entered into a Depository Agreement, or DTC Agreement, with the Depository Trust Company, or DTC, in
connection with the listing and trading of our shares on the Nasdaq Global Select Market. In accordance with
the DTC Agreement, following completion of the initial public offering of our shares, DTC’s nominee, Cede &
Co., was registered as the legal owner of certain of our ordinary shares in the Irish shareholder register that we
are required to maintain pursuant to the Companies Act 2014 of Ireland, or the Irish Companies Act. Under the
DTC Agreement, DTC credited the beneficial interests in those ordinary shares in book entry form to its
participants.
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Accordingly, while the ordinary shares issued in accordance with Irish law are listed and traded on the Nasdaq
Global Select Market, it is the beneficial interests in such ordinary shares that are settled and held in DTC. In
accordance with market practice and system requirements of the Nasdaq Global Select Market, the ordinary
shares are listed and traded on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the category of “Common Share.” In
respect of beneficial interests in ordinary shares held in DTC, such beneficial ownership would not necessarily
be recognized by an Irish court. As such, investors holding beneficial interests in our ordinary shares within DTC
may have no direct rights against us and our officers and directors and may be required to obtain the cooperation
of DTC in order to assert claims against us and our officers and directors, and to look solely to DTC for the
payment of any dividends, for exercise of voting rights attaching to the underlying ordinary shares and for all
other rights arising in respect of the underlying ordinary shares. We cannot guarantee that DTC will be able to
continue to execute its obligations under the DTC Agreement, including that the beneficial owners of the ordinary
shares within DTC will receive notice of general meetings in time to instruct DTC to either effect registration of
their ordinary shares or otherwise vote their ordinary shares in the manner desired by such beneficial owners.
Any such failure may, inter alia, limit the access for, delay or prevent, such beneficial shareholders from being
able to exercise the rights attaching to the underlying ordinary shares.
DTC has certain termination rights under the DTC Agreement. In the event that the DTC Agreement is
terminated, we will use our reasonable best efforts to enter into a replacement agreement for purposes of
permitting the uninterrupted listing of our ordinary shares on the Nasdaq Global Select Market. There can be
no assurance, however, that it would be possible to enter into such a new agreement on substantially the same
terms as the DTC Agreement or at all. A termination of the DTC Agreement could, therefore, have a material
and adverse effect on us and the beneficial shareholders holding their ordinary shares within DTC. The DTC
Agreement limits DTC’s liability for any loss suffered by us. DTC disclaims any liability for any loss attributable
to circumstances beyond DTC’s control, including, but not limited to, errors committed by others. DTC is only
liable for direct losses incurred as a result of events within DTC’s control. Thus, we may not be able to recover
our entire loss if DTC does not perform its obligations under the DTC Agreement.
Our share price may be volatile, and the market price of our ordinary shares may drop below the price
you pay.
Our share price has been and may continue to be volatile. Since our initial public offering in October 2018, the
closing price of our ordinary shares as reported on the Nasdaq Global Select Market has ranged from a low of
$2.34 on June 10, 2019 to a high of $9.20 on October 22, 2018. In addition, securities markets worldwide have
experienced, and are likely to continue to experience, significant price and volume fluctuations. This market
volatility, as well as general economic, market or political conditions, could subject the market price of our shares
to wide price fluctuations regardless of our operating performance. The trading price of our shares may fluctuate
in response to various factors, including:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

market conditions in the broader stock market;
actual or anticipated fluctuations in our quarterly financial and operating results;
introduction of new products or services by us or our competitors;
issuance of new or changed securities analysts’ reports or recommendations;
results of operations that vary from expectations of securities analysts and investors;
results of operations that vary from those of our competitors;
guidance, if any, that we provide to the public, any changes in this guidance or our failure to meet this
guidance;
strategic actions by us or our competitors;
announcement by us, our competitors or our vendors of significant contracts or acquisitions;
sales, or anticipated sales, of large blocks of our shares;
additions or departures of key personnel;
regulatory, legal or political developments;
public response to press releases or other public announcements by us or third parties, including our
filings with the SEC;
litigation and governmental investigations;
changing economic conditions;
changes in accounting principles;
default under agreements governing our indebtedness;
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• exchange rate fluctuations; and
• other events or factors, including those from natural disasters, war, acts of terrorism or responses to
these events.
These and other factors, many of which are beyond our control, may cause our market price and demand for
our shares to fluctuate substantially. Fluctuations in our share price could limit or prevent investors from readily
selling their shares and may otherwise negatively affect the market price and liquidity of our shares. In addition,
in the past, when the market price of shares have been volatile, holders of those shares have sometimes
instituted securities class action litigation against the company that issued the shares. For example, on April 30,
2019 we were was served with a complaint in an action entitled Leo Shumacher, et al., v. Osmotica
Pharmaceuticals plc, et al., Superior Court of New Jersey, Somerset County No. SOM-L-000540-19, and on
May 10, 2019, a complaint entitled Jeffrey Tello, et al., v. Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc, et al., Superior Court
of New Jersey, Somerset County No. SOM-L-000617-19 was filed in the same court as the Shumacher action.
The complaints name us, certain of our directors and officers and the underwriters of our initial public offering
as defendants in putative class actions alleging violations of Sections 11 and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933
related to the disclosures contained in the registration statement and prospectus used for our initial public
offering of ordinary shares. On July 22, 2019, the plaintiffs filed an Amended Complaint consolidating the two
actions, reiterating the previously pled allegations and adding an additional individual defendant. The parties
participated in a mediation in December 2020 and agreed to settle the litigation. The parties are currently
negotiating a settlement agreement which will need to be approved by the Court. We expect the settlement to
be finalized and the litigation to be dismissed, the second quarter of 2021.
Since we have no current plans to pay regular cash dividends on our ordinary shares, you may not
receive any return on investment unless you sell your ordinary shares for a price greater than that which
you paid for it.
We do not anticipate paying any regular cash dividends on our ordinary shares for the foreseeable future. Any
decision to declare and pay dividends in the future will be made at the discretion of our board of directors and
will depend on, among other things, our results of operations, financial condition, cash requirements, contractual
restrictions and other factors that our board of directors may deem relevant. Our ability to pay dividends is, and
may be, limited by covenants of existing and any future outstanding indebtedness we or our subsidiaries incur.
In addition, our ability to pay cash dividends may be limited by Irish law, as discussed under the risk factor titled
“The rights of our shareholders may differ from the rights typically offered to shareholders of a U.S. corporation
and these differences may make our ordinary shares less attractive to investors.” Therefore, any return on
investment in our ordinary shares is solely dependent upon the appreciation of the price of our ordinary shares
on the open market, which may not occur.
Risks related to being an Irish corporation listing ordinary shares
Provisions contained in our Articles of Association, as well as provisions of Irish law, could impair a
takeover attempt, limit attempts by our shareholders to replace or remove our current directors and
management team, and limit the market price of our ordinary shares.
Our Articles of Association, together with certain provisions of the Irish Companies Act could have the effect of
delaying or preventing changes in control or changes in our management without the consent of our board of
directors.
There are a number of approaches for acquiring an Irish public limited company, including a court-approved
scheme of arrangement under the Irish Companies Act, through a tender offer by a third party, by way of a
merger with a company incorporated in the European Economic Area, or EEA, under the EU Cross-Border
Mergers Directive (EU) 2017/1132 as implemented in Ireland by the European Communities (Cross-Border
Mergers) Regulations 2008 (as amended) and by way of a merger with a company incorporated in Ireland under
the Irish Companies Act. Each method requires shareholder approval or acceptance and different thresholds
apply.
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The Irish Takeover Panel Act 1997 and the Irish Takeover Rules 2013 made thereunder, or the Irish Takeover
Rules, govern a takeover or attempted takeover of our company by means of a court-approved scheme of
arrangement or a tender offer. The Irish Takeover Rules contain detailed provisions for takeovers, including as
to disclosure, process, dealing and timetable. The Irish Takeover Rules could discourage an investor from
acquiring 30% or more of our outstanding ordinary shares unless such investor was prepared to make a bid to
acquire all outstanding ordinary shares.
Our Articles of Association contain provisions that may delay or prevent a change of control, discourage bids at
a premium over the market price of our ordinary shares and adversely affect the market price of our ordinary
shares and the voting and other rights of the holders of our ordinary shares. These provisions include:
•
•
•
•
•

permitting our board of directors to issue preference shares without shareholder approval, with such
rights, preferences and privileges as they may designate;
provisions that allow our board of directors to adopt a shareholder rights plan upon such terms and
conditions as it deems expedient and in our best interests;
establishing an advance notice procedure for shareholder proposals to be brought before shareholder
meetings, including proposed nominations of persons for election to our board of directors;
the ability of our board of directors to fill vacancies on our board in certain circumstances; and
imposing particular approval and other requirements in relation to certain business combinations.

These provisions do not make us immune from takeovers. However, these provisions may frustrate or prevent
any attempts by our shareholders to replace or remove our current management team by making it more difficult
for shareholders to replace members of our board of directors, which is responsible for appointing the members
of our management.
Our board of directors may be limited by the Irish Takeover Rules in its ability to defend an unsolicited
takeover attempt.
We are subject to the Irish Takeover Panel Act 1997 and the Irish Takeover Rules. Under the Irish Takeover
Rules, our board of directors is not permitted to take any action that might frustrate an offer for our ordinary
shares once our board of directors has received an approach that may lead to an offer or has reason to believe
that such an offer is or may be imminent, subject to certain exceptions. Potentially frustrating actions, such as
(i) the issue of shares, options, restricted share units or convertible securities, (ii) material acquisitions or
disposals, (iii) entering into contracts other than in the ordinary course of business or (iv) any action, other than
seeking alternative offers, which may result in frustration of an offer, are prohibited during the course of an offer
or at any earlier time during which our board of directors has reason to believe an offer is or may be imminent.
These provisions may give our board of directors less ability to control negotiations with hostile offerors than
would be the case for a corporation incorporated in a jurisdiction of the United States.
The operation of the Irish Takeover Rules may affect the ability of certain parties to acquire our ordinary
shares.
Under the Irish Takeover Rules, if an acquisition of ordinary shares were to increase the aggregate holding of
the acquirer and its concert parties to ordinary shares that represent 30% or more of the voting rights of a
company, the acquirer and, in certain circumstances, its concert parties would be required (except with the
consent of the Irish Takeover Panel) to make an offer for the outstanding ordinary shares at a price not less
than the highest price paid for the ordinary shares by the acquirer or its concert parties during the previous 12
months. This requirement would also be triggered by an acquisition of ordinary shares by a person holding
(together with its concert parties) ordinary shares that represent between 30% and 50% of the voting rights in
the company if the effect of such acquisition were to increase that person’s percentage of the voting rights by
0.05% within a 12-month period. Under the Irish Takeover Rules, certain separate concert parties are presumed
to be acting in concert. Our board of directors and their relevant family members, related trusts and “controlled
companies” are presumed to be acting in concert with any corporate shareholder who holds 20% or more of the
company. The application of these presumptions resulted may continue to result in restrictions upon the ability
certain concert parties and members of our board of directors to acquire more of our securities, including under
the terms of any executive incentive arrangements.

62

Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc

DIRECTORS' REPORT - continued
Risks related to being an Irish corporation listing ordinary shares – continued
We have consulted and may consult again in future with the Irish Takeover Panel with respect to the application
of this presumption and the restrictions on the ability to acquire further securities, although we are unable to
provide any assurance as to whether the Irish Takeover Panel will overrule this presumption in the future.
Our Articles of Association designate the courts of Ireland for all actions and proceedings, other than
those relating to U.S. securities law, which could limit our shareholders’ ability to obtain a favorable
judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers or employees and require shareholders to
pursue certain claims outside the United States.
Our Articles of Association provide that, unless our board of directors or one of its duly authorized committees
approves the selection of an alternate forum and to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, the courts of
Ireland shall be the exclusive forum for all actions or proceedings, other than those related to U.S. securities
law, but including (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of us, (ii) any action asserting a claim
of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any of our directors, officers or employees to us or our shareholders,
(iii) any action asserting a claim against us arising pursuant to any provision of Irish law or our Articles of
Association and (iv) any action to interpret, apply, enforce or determine the validity of our Articles of Association.
Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in our shares shall be deemed to have
notice of and to have consented to the provisions of our Articles of Association and waived any argument relating
to the inconvenience of the forums described above. As a result, certain shareholder actions and proceedings
may only be brought in Ireland and our shareholders would not have access to any U.S. courts with respect to
such actions. This choice of forum provision may limit a shareholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum
that it finds favorable for disputes with us or our directors, officers or other employees, which may discourage
such lawsuits against us and our directors, officers and employees. Alternatively, if a court were to find these
provisions of our Articles of Association inapplicable to, or unenforceable in respect of, one or more of the
specified types of actions or proceedings, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such matters
in other jurisdictions, which could adversely affect our business and financial condition.
Irish law differs from the laws in effect in the United States and U.S. shareholders may have difficulty
enforcing civil liabilities against us, our directors or members of senior management.
A number of our directors are non-residents of the United States, and all or a substantial portion of their assets
are located outside the United States. As a result, it may not be possible to serve process on these directors,
or us, in the United States or to enforce court judgments obtained in the United States against these individuals
or us in Ireland based on the civil liability provisions of the U.S. federal or state securities laws. In addition, there
is some uncertainty as to whether the courts of Ireland would recognize or enforce judgments of U.S. courts
obtained against us or our directors based on the civil liabilities provisions of the U.S. federal or state securities
laws or hear actions against us or those persons based on those laws. The United States currently does not
have a treaty with Ireland providing for the reciprocal recognition and enforcement of judgments in civil and
commercial matters. Therefore, a final judgment for the payment of money rendered by any U.S. federal or state
court based on civil liability, whether or not based solely on U.S. federal or state securities laws, would not
automatically be enforceable in Ireland. A judgment obtained against us will be enforced by the courts of Ireland
if the following general requirements are met:
•
•

•
•
•

U.S. courts must have had jurisdiction in relation to the particular defendant according to Irish conflict
of law rules (the submission to jurisdiction by the defendant would satisfy this rule); and
the judgment must be final and conclusive and the decree must be final and unalterable in the court
which pronounces it.
A judgment can be final and conclusive even if it is subject to appeal or even if an appeal is pending.
But where the effect of lodging an appeal under the applicable law is to stay execution of the judgment,
it is possible that in the meantime the judgment may not be actionable in Ireland. It remains to be
determined whether a final judgment given in default of appearance is final and conclusive. Irish courts
may also refuse to enforce a judgment of the U.S. courts that meets the above requirements for one of
the following reasons:
the judgment is not for a definite sum of money;
the judgment was obtained by fraud;
the enforcement of the judgment in Ireland would be contrary to natural or constitutional justice;
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• the judgment is contrary to Irish public policy or involves certain U.S. laws that will not be enforced in
Ireland; or
• jurisdiction cannot be obtained by the Irish courts over the judgment debtors in the enforcement
proceedings by personal service in Ireland or outside Ireland under Order 11 of the Irish Superior Courts
Rules.
As an Irish company, we are principally governed by Irish law, which differs in some material respects from laws
generally applicable to U.S. corporations and shareholders, including, among others, differences relating to
interested director and officer transactions and shareholder lawsuits. Likewise, the duties of directors and
officers of an Irish company generally are owed to the company only. Shareholders of Irish companies generally
do not have a personal right of action against directors or other officers of the company and may exercise such
rights of action on behalf of the company only in limited circumstances. Accordingly, holders of our ordinary
shares may have more difficulty protecting their interests than would holders of shares of a corporation
incorporated in a jurisdiction of the United States.
The rights of our shareholders may differ from the rights typically offered to shareholders of a U.S.
corporation and these differences may make our ordinary shares less attractive to investors.
We are incorporated under Irish law and, therefore, certain of the rights of holders of our shares are governed
by Irish law, including the provisions of the Irish Companies Act, and by our Articles of Association. These rights
differ in certain respects from the rights of shareholders in typical U.S. corporations and these differences may
make our ordinary shares less attractive to investors. The principal differences include the following:
•

•

•
•

•

under Irish law, dividends may only be declared if we have, on an individual entity basis, profits available
for distribution, within the meaning of the Irish Companies Act. In addition, no distribution or dividend
may be paid or made by us unless our net assets are equal to, or exceed, the aggregate of our called
up share capital plus non-distributable reserves and the distribution does not reduce our net assets
below such aggregate;
under Irish law, each shareholder generally has preemptive rights to subscribe on a proportionate basis
to any issuance of shares. Preemption rights may be disapplied under Irish law for renewable five-year
periods by Irish companies by way of a provision in such companies’ articles of association or a special
resolution of their shareholders. We have opted out of these preemption rights in our Articles of
Association as permitted under Irish law for the maximum period permitted of five years from the date
of adoption of the Articles of Association;
under Irish law, certain matters require the approval of holders of 75% of the votes cast at a general
meeting of our shareholders, including amendments to our Articles of Association, which may limit our
flexibility to manage our capital structure;
under Irish law, a bidder seeking to acquire us would need, on a tender offer, to receive shareholder
acceptance in respect of 80% of our outstanding shares. If this 80% threshold is not achieved in the
offer, under Irish law, the bidder cannot complete a “second step merger” to obtain 100% control of us.
Accordingly, tender of 80% of our outstanding shares will likely be a condition in a tender offer to acquire
us, not 50% as is more common in tender offers for corporations organized under U.S. law; and
under Irish law, shareholders may be required to disclose information regarding their equity interests
upon our request, and the failure to provide the required information could result in the loss or restriction
of rights attaching to the shares, including prohibitions on the transfer of the shares, as well as
restrictions on voting, dividends and other payments.

Risks related to taxation
Changes in our effective tax rate may reduce our net income in future periods.
We cannot give any assurance as to what our effective tax rate will be because of, among other things,
uncertainty regarding the tax policies of the jurisdictions in which we operate and the varying applications of
statutes, regulations and related interpretations.
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A number of factors may increase our future effective tax rates, including: the jurisdictions in which profits are
determined to be earned and taxed (which may vary depending on our taxable presence in such jurisdictions
as may be determined by tax authorities in such jurisdictions); the resolution of issues arising from tax audits
that may be undertaken by various tax authorities; changes in the valuation of our deferred tax assets and
liabilities due to changes in applicable tax legislation; increases in expenses that are not deductible for tax
purposes, including transaction costs and impairments of goodwill in connection with acquisitions; changes in
available tax credits; changes in share-based compensation; changes in tax laws or the interpretation of such
tax laws changes to currently applicable tax treaties, including those resulting in a loss of treaty benefits;
changes in GAAP; and challenges to the transfer pricing policies related to our structure undertaken by various
tax authorities. Currently, jurisdictions within the Organization for Economic Co-Operation and Development, or
the OECD, are reviewing OECD proposals relating to base erosion and profit shifting. Our effective tax rate
could be adversely affected to the extent that countries adopt such OECD proposals.
U.S. tax legislation enacted in 2017 has significantly changed the U.S. federal income taxation of corporations
and multinational consolidated groups, including by reducing the U.S. corporate income tax rate, limiting interest
deduction, adopting elements of a territorial international tax system and introducing new anti-base erosion
provisions. This legislation is unclear in many respects and could be subject to potential amendments and
technical corrections and subject to differing interpretations and implementing regulations by the U.S.
Department of Treasury and the Internal Revenue Service, any of which could lessen or increase certain
adverse impacts of the legislation or affect our actual effective tax rate.
It is possible that in the future, whether as a result of a change in law or the practice of any relevant tax authority
or as a result of any change in the conduct of our affairs, we could become, or be regarded as having become
tax resident in a jurisdiction other than Ireland. Should we cease to be an Irish tax resident, we may be subject
to a charge of Irish capital gains tax as a result of a deemed disposal of our assets. Our actual effective tax rate
may vary from our expectation and that variance may be material. Additionally, the tax laws of Ireland and other
jurisdictions in which we operate could change in the future, and such changes could cause a material adverse
change in our effective tax rate.
If our tax rates or tax expenses were to increase as described above, such increases could cause a material
and adverse change in our worldwide effective tax rate and we may have to take action, at potentially significant
expense, to seek to mitigate the effect of such changes. In addition, any amendments to the current double
taxation treaties between Ireland and other jurisdictions could subject us to increased taxation. Any such
amendments to double taxation treaties or increases in taxation based on examinations by taxing authorities, if
such increases are ultimately sustained, could result in increased charges, financial loss, including penalties,
and reputational damage and materially and adversely affect our results, financial condition and prospects.
If we are a passive foreign investment company, U.S. investors in our ordinary shares could be subject
to adverse U.S. federal income tax consequences.
The rules governing passive foreign investment companies, or PFICs, can have adverse effects for U.S. federal
income tax purposes. We would be classified as a PFIC for any taxable year in which either: (i) at least 75% of
our gross income is classified as ‘‘passive income’’ for purposes of the PFIC rules, or (ii) at least 50% of the fair
market value of our assets (determined on the basis of a quarterly average) is attributable to assets that produce
or are held for the production of ‘‘passive income.’’ For this purpose, we will be treated as owning our
proportionate share of the assets and earning our proportionate share of the income of any other corporation
we own, directly or indirectly, 25% or more (by value) of its stock.
We do not believe that we were a PFIC for the 2020 taxable year, and we do not anticipate becoming a PFIC
for the 2021 taxable year; however, such a determination cannot be made until following the end of such taxable
year.
The determination of whether we are a PFIC must be made annually after the close of each taxable year,
depends on the particular facts and circumstances (such as the valuation of our assets, including goodwill and
other intangible assets) and may also be affected by the interpretation and application of the PFIC rules.
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The fair market value of our assets is expected to depend, in part, upon (a) the market price of our ordinary
shares and (b) the composition of our income and assets, which will be affected by how, and how quickly, we
spend any cash that is raised in any financing transaction. In light of the foregoing, no assurance can be
provided that we are not a PFIC for the current taxable year or that we will not become a PFIC for any future
taxable year.
If we are a PFIC, U.S. holders of our ordinary shares would be subject to adverse U.S. federal income tax
consequences, such as ineligibility for any preferred tax rates on capital gains or on actual or deemed dividends,
interest charges on certain taxes treated as deferred, and additional reporting requirements under U.S. federal
income tax laws and regulations. If we are classified as a PFIC in any taxable year with respect to which a U.S.
holder owns ordinary shares, we generally will continue to be treated as a PFIC with respect to such U.S. holder
in all succeeding taxable years, regardless of whether we continue to meet the tests described above, unless
the U.S. holder makes a ‘‘deemed sale election.’’ Furthermore, whether or not U.S. holders of our ordinary
shares make timely qualified electing fund, or QEF, elections, if we provide the necessary information to U.S.
holders to make such elections, or mark-to-market elections may affect the U.S. federal income tax
consequences to U.S. holders with respect to the acquisition, ownership and disposition of our ordinary shares
and any distributions such U.S. holders may receive. Investors should consult their own tax advisors regarding
all aspects of the application of the PFIC rules to our ordinary shares.
U.S. holders of 10% or more of the voting power or value of our ordinary shares may be subject to U.S.
federal income taxation at ordinary income tax rates on undistributed earnings and profits.
There is a risk that we will be classified as a ‘‘controlled foreign corporation,’’ or CFC, for U.S. federal income
tax purposes. We will generally be classified as a CFC if more than 50% of our outstanding shares, measured
by reference to voting power or value, are owned (directly, indirectly or by attribution) by ‘‘U.S. Shareholders.’’
For this purpose, a ‘‘U.S. Shareholder’’ is any U.S. person that owns directly, indirectly or by attribution, 10% or
more of the total voting power or total value of our outstanding shares. If we are classified as a CFC, a U.S.
Shareholder may be subject to U.S. income taxation at ordinary income tax rates on its proportionate share of
our undistributed earnings and profits attributable to ‘‘subpart F income’’ or undistributed earnings and profits
invested in certain U.S. property and may also be subject to tax at ordinary income tax rates on any gain realized
on a sale of ordinary shares, to the extent of our current and accumulated earnings and profits attributable to
such shares. A U.S. Shareholder of a CFC is also required to include in gross income for a taxable year, at a
reduced effective tax rate, its proportionate share of certain non-U.S. active business income of a CFC not
included in a CFC’s ‘‘subpart F income,’’ or ‘‘global intangible low-taxed income,’’ to the extent such CFC’s
‘‘tested income’’ is in excess of 10% of the adjusted U.S. federal income tax basis of depreciable tangible assets
used in the CFC’s trade or business (reduced by a U.S. Shareholder’s allocable net interest expense) and is
not otherwise offset by any ‘‘tested loss’’ attributable to other CFCs owned by such U.S. Shareholder. Foreign
taxes paid by a CFC attributable to the CFC’s ‘‘subpart F income’’ and ‘‘global intangible low-taxed income’’ and
any corresponding foreign tax credits may affect the amount of income includible in a U.S. Shareholder’s gross
income for U.S. tax purposes. Even if we are not classified as a CFC, certain of our non-U.S. subsidiaries could
be treated as CFCs due to the application of certain attribution rules that currently apply in determining CFC
status. If certain non-U.S. subsidiaries are classified as CFCs, any U.S. Shareholder may be required to report
annually and include in its U.S. taxable income its pro rata share of ‘‘subpart F income,’’ ‘‘global intangible lowtaxed income’’ and investments in U.S. property attributable to those non-U.S. subsidiaries. The CFC rules are
complex and U.S. Shareholders and U.S. holders of our ordinary shares are urged to consult their own tax
advisors regarding the possible application of the CFC, ‘‘subpart F income,’’ and ‘‘global intangible low-taxed
income’’ rules (including applicable direct and indirect attribution rules) to them based on their particular
circumstances.
A future transfer of your ordinary shares, other than one effected by means of the transfer of book entry
interests in DTC, may be subject to Irish stamp duty.
Transfers of ordinary shares effected by means of the transfer of book entry interests in the DTC should not be
subject to Irish stamp duty where ordinary shares are traded through DTC, either directly or through brokers
that hold such shares on behalf of customers through DTC. However, if you hold your ordinary shares as of
record rather than beneficially through DTC, any transfer of your ordinary shares could be subject to Irish stamp
duty (currently at the rate of 1% of the higher of the price paid or the market value of the shares acquired).
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Payment of Irish stamp duty is generally a legal obligation of the transferee. The potential for stamp duty to
arise could adversely affect the price of our ordinary shares.
General risk factors
We are, and will continue to be in the future, a party to legal proceedings that could result in adverse
outcomes.
We may be a party to legal proceedings, including matters involving securities liability, personnel and
employment issues, intellectual property claims and other proceedings arising in the ordinary course of
business. In addition, there are an increasing number of investigations and proceedings in the health care
industry generally that seek recovery under the statutes and regulations identified in the section entitled
“Business — Government Regulation and Approval Process.” We evaluate our exposure to these legal
proceedings and establish reserves for the estimated liabilities in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, or GAAP. Assessing and predicting the outcome of these matters involves substantial
uncertainties. Unexpected outcomes in these legal proceedings, or changes in our evaluation or predictions
and accompanying changes in established reserves, could have a material adverse impact on our financial
results.
For more information on our material pending litigation, see the risk factor under the caption “—Our competitors
or other third parties may allege that we, our suppliers or partners are infringing their intellectual property, forcing
us to expend substantial resources in litigation, the outcome of which is uncertain. Any unfavorable outcome of
such litigation, including losses related to “at-risk” product launches, could have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial position and results of operations” and the section entitled “Legal Proceedings” herein.
We are increasingly dependent on information technology, and our systems and infrastructure face
certain risks, including cybersecurity and data leakage risks.
Significant disruptions to our information technology systems or breaches of information security could
adversely affect our business. In the ordinary course of business, we collect, store and transmit large amounts
of confidential information, and it is critical that we do so in a secure manner to maintain the confidentiality and
integrity of such confidential information. The size and complexity of our information technology systems, and
those of our third-party vendors with whom we contract, make such systems potentially vulnerable to service
interruptions and security breaches from inadvertent or intentional actions by our employees, partners or
vendors, from attacks by malicious third parties. Such attacks are of ever-increasing levels of sophistication and
are made by groups and individuals with a wide range of motives (including, but not limited to, industrial
espionage) and expertise, including organized criminal groups, “hacktivists,” nation states and others. As a
global pharmaceutical company, our systems are subject to frequent attacks. Due to the nature of some of these
attacks, there is a risk that they may remain undetected for a period of time. Service interruptions could also
result from intentional or accidental physical damage to our systems infrastructure maintained by us or by third
parties. Maintaining the secrecy of this confidential, proprietary, or trade secret information is important to our
competitive business position. While we have taken steps to protect such information and invested in information
technology, there can be no assurance that our efforts will prevent service interruptions or security breaches in
our systems or the unauthorized or inadvertent wrongful use or disclosure of confidential information that could
adversely affect our business operations or result in the loss, dissemination, or misuse of critical or sensitive
information. A breach of our security measures or the accidental loss, inadvertent disclosure, unapproved
dissemination, misappropriation or misuse of trade secrets, proprietary information, or other confidential
information, whether as a result of theft, hacking, fraud, trickery or other forms of deception, or for any other
reason, could enable others to produce competing products, use our proprietary technology or information, or
adversely affect our business or financial condition. Further, any such interruption, security breach, loss or
disclosure of confidential information, could result in financial, legal, business, and reputational harm to us and
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position, results of operations or cash flow.
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Material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting have occurred in the past and could
occur in the future.
We are required to comply with the SEC’s rules implementing Sections 302 and 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act,
which require management to certify financial and other information in our quarterly and annual reports and
provide an annual management report on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting.
Maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting is necessary for us to produce reliable financial
reports and is important to help prevent financial fraud. We have in the past and may in the future identify
material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting. If we are unable to maintain adequate
internal controls, our business and operating results could be harmed, we could be subjected to regulatory
scrutiny, civil or criminal penalties or shareholder litigation, the defense of any of which could cause the diversion
of management’s attention and resources, we could incur significant legal and other expenses, and we could
be required to pay damages as a result of such actions if any such actions were not resolved in our favor.
Moreover, we may be the subject of negative publicity focusing on a material weakness and we may be subject
to negative reactions from shareholders and others with whom we do business. Further, we may not be able to
remediate a future material weakness in a timely manner and our management may be required to devote
significant time and expense to remediate any such material weakness. Failure to maintain adequate internal
control over financial reporting could also result in financial statements that do not accurately reflect our financial
condition or results of operations, which could result in the need to restate previously issued financial
statements. There can be no assurance that we will not identify any significant deficiencies or other material
weaknesses in the future that will impair our ability to report our financial condition and results of operations
accurately or on a timely basis. In addition, if we are unable to assert that our internal control over financial
reporting is effective, or if our independent registered public accounting firm is unable to express an unqualified
opinion as to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting in future periods, investors may
lose confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports.
We have in the past identified errors in our financial statements, which required us to restate those
financial statements. If we identify errors in our financial reporting in the future, we may be required to
restate previously issued financial statements and any such restatement may subject us to regulatory
penalties and could cause investors to lose confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our
financial statements.
In connection with the preparation of the prospectus for our initial public offering, we identified errors in our
financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2017 related to our accounting
for certain aspects of the Business Combination. The required adjustments to address these errors led to
restatements of those financial statements. In addition, we had to correct certain misstatements in our annual
and interim financial statements for 2018 and 2019 related to misstatements associated with the tax treatment
of certain intercompany transactions at the time of the Business Combination. Additionally, for the period ended
September 30, 2019, revisions were necessary to correct misstatements related to uncertain tax positions and
prepaid taxes and certain other previously identified immaterial misstatements. If we are required to restate any
of our financial statements in the future due to our inability to adequately remedy the issues that gave rise to
these restatements or for any other reason, we may be subject to regulatory penalties and investors could lose
confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial statements, which could cause our share price to
decline.
Our operating results are affected by many factors and may fluctuate significantly on a quarterly basis.
Our operating results may vary substantially from quarter to quarter and may be greater or less than those
achieved in the immediately preceding period or in the comparable period of the prior year. Factors that may
cause quarterly results to vary include, but are not limited to, the following:
•
•
•
•

our ability to create demand in the marketplace for products we promote;
the number of new product introductions;
losses related to inventory write-offs;
marketing exclusivity, if any, which may be obtained on certain new products;
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• the level of competition in the marketplace for certain products;
• price decreases and associated customer shelf stock adjustments;
• availability of raw materials and finished products from suppliers;
• our ability to manufacture products at our manufacturing facilities;
• the scope and outcome of governmental regulatory actions;
• our dependence on a small number of products for a significant portion of total revenues or income;
and
• legal actions asserting intellectual property rights against our products brought by competitors and legal
challenges to our intellectual property rights brought against us by our competitors; price erosion and
customer consolidation; and significant payments (such as milestones) payable by us under licensing
and development agreements to our partners before the related product has received FDA approval.
The profitability of our product sales is also dependent upon the prices we are able to charge for our products,
the costs to purchase products from third parties and our ability to manufacture our products in a cost-effective
manner. If our total revenues decline or do not grow as anticipated, we may not be able to reduce our operating
expenses to offset such declines. Failure to achieve anticipated levels of total revenues could, therefore,
significantly harm our business and operating results.
Financial risk management
We are exposed to various market risks, which may result in potential losses arising from adverse changes in
market rates, such as interest rates and foreign exchange rates. We do not enter into derivatives or other financial
instruments for trading or speculative purposes and do not believe we are exposed to material market risk with
respect to our cash and cash equivalents.
Through the operation of our subsidiaries based in Argentina and Hungary, we are exposed to foreign exchange
rate risks. In addition to the operations of our foreign subsidiaries, we also contract with vendors that are located
outside the United States, and in some cases make payments denominated in foreign currencies. We are subject
to fluctuations in foreign currency rates in connection with these arrangements. We do not currently hedge our
foreign currency exchange rate risk. As of December 31, 2020, our liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
were not material.
We are exposed to fluctuations in interest rates on our senior secured credit facilities. An increase in interest rates
could have a material impact on our cash flow. As of December 31, 2020, a 100 basis point increase in assumed
interest rates for our variable interest credit facilities would have an annual impact of approximately $2.2 million
on interest expense.
As of December 31, 2020, we had cash and cash equivalents of $114.1 million. We do not engage in any hedging
activities against changes in interest rates. Because of the short-term maturities of our cash and cash equivalents,
we do not believe that an immediate 10% increase in interest rates would have a significant impact on the realized
value of our investments.
Inflation generally affects us by increasing our cost of labor, API costs and costs of clinical trials. We do not believe
that inflation had a material effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations during the years
ended December 31, 2020 and 2019.
Acquisition of own shares
During the year the Company redeemed 1,435,725 ordinary shares (2019: 673,182 ordinary shares) for $8.1
million (2019: $2.8 million). These shares were subsequently cancelled. At the balance sheet date no shares
were held in treasury.
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Directors
The names of the persons who served as directors during the financial year are listed below:
Fred Weiss
Sriram Venkataraman
Brian Markison
Juan Vergez
Carlos Sielecki
David Burgstahler
Gregory Cowan
Michael Debiasi
Joachim Benes

(resigned 23 March 2020)

(appointed 23 March 2020)

Directors’ and secretary’s interests in shares and debentures
The interests of the directors and the secretary in office as at December 31, 2020 and 2019 in shares of the
Company were:

Ordinary
shares
Directors:
Fred Weiss
31,183
Sriram
Venkataraman
16,763,859
Brian Markison
1,488,242
Juan Vergez
David Burgstahler 16,763,859
Gregory Cowan
23,960
Michael DeBiasi
Joachim Benes
Secretary
Christopher Klein

93,854

December 31,2020
Share
Restricted
options
stock units

December 31, 2019
Ordinary
Share
Restricted
shares
options
stock units

-

61,652

-

-

71,440

1,285,052
-

637,778
61,652
-

20,450,785
1,488,242
20,450,785
-*

1,285,052
-*

387,991
57,551
-*

171,340

176,399

60,183

171,340

104,849

The directors and secretary had no other interests in the shares or debentures of the company or any other
group company at December 31, 2020 or on their date of appointment.
*held at date of appointment
Disclosure of information to auditors
For the purposes of section 330 of the Companies Act, each of the persons who are directors at the date of
approval of this report individually confirm that:
•
•

In so far as they are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the company’s statutory auditors
are unaware; and
That they have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a director in order to make themselves
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the company’s statutory auditors are aware of
that information.

Auditors
In accordance with Section 383(2) of the Companies Act 2014, the auditor, Ernst & Young, Chartered
Accountants; who were appointed in 2019, have expressed their willingness to continue in office.
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On behalf of the board

/s/ Brian Markison
Brian Markison

/s/ Gregory L. Cowan
Gregory L. Cowan

Director

Director

Date: May 6, 2021

Date: May 6, 2021

71

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF OSMOTICA PHARMACEUTICALS PLC
Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc (the 'Company') and its subsidiaries (the 'Group') for the
year ended 31 December 2020 which comprise the Consolidated Statement of Operations and Comprehensive Loss, the Consolidated
Balance Sheet, the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity, the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, the
Company Balance Sheet, the Company Statement of Changes in Equity, the related notes 1 to 23 in respect of the Group financial
statements and the related notes 1 to 13 in respect to the Company financial statements, including the summary of significant
accounting policies set out therein. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the Group financial
statements is Irish law and United States Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (U.S. GAAP) issued in the United States of
America by the Financial Accounting Standards Board, and as defined in section 279 of Part 6 of the Companies Act 2014, to the
extent that the use of those principles in the preparation of the financial statements does not contravene any provision of that Part of
the Companies Act 2014. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the Company financial
statements is Irish law and FRS 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland issued in the
United Kingdom by the Financial Reporting Council.
In our opinion:
•
•
•

•
•

the Group financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2020 and of the loss for the Group for the year then ended,
the Company statement of financial position gives a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial position of the
Company as at 31 December 2020,
the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP, as defined in section 279 of
Part 6 of the Companies Act 2014, to the extent that the use of those principles in the preparation of the financial statements
does not contravene any provision of that Part of the Companies Act 2014;
the Company statement of financial position has been properly prepared in accordance with FRS 102 The Financial
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland; and
the Group financial statements and the Company statement of financial position have been properly prepared in accordance
with the requirements of the Companies Act 2014.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (Ireland) (ISAs (Ireland)) and applicable law. Our
responsibilities under those standards are described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section
of our report. We are independent of the Group and Company in accordance with ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit
of financial statements in Ireland, including the Ethical Standard as applied to listed entities issued by the Irish Accounting and
Auditing Supervisory Authority (IAASA), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Conclusions relating to going concern
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the
preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the group and parent company’s
ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting included:
•

In conjunction with our walkthrough of the Group’s financial close process, we confirmed our understanding of
management’s Going Concern assessment process and also engaged with management to ensure all key factors were
considered in their assessment;

•

We obtained management’s going concern assessment (through June 30, 2022) including the cash forecast and covenant
calculation for the going concern period, which covers a period of greater than 12 months from the date of signing this
audit opinion.
We tested the factors and assumptions included in the forecasts. We considered, with the assistance of our internal valuations
and business modelling specialists, the appropriateness of the methods used to calculate the cash forecasts and covenant
calculations and determined through inspection and testing of the methodology and calculations that the methods utilised
were sufficiently robust to enable an assessment for the entity;
We performed reverse stress testing in order to identify what factors would lead to the Group utilising all liquidity during
the going concern period;
We considered the mitigating factors included in the cash forecasts and covenant calculations that are within the control of
the Group, including review of the Group’s non-operating cash outflows and consideration of the Group’s ability to control
these outflows;
We also verified credit facilities available to the Group, noting that the Group had access to undrawn bank facilities
amounting to $50m at 31 December 2020; and
We reviewed the Group’s going concern disclosures included in the financial statements in order to assess that the
disclosures were appropriate and in conformity with financial reporting standards.

•

•
•

•
•

We have observed that the Company expects its near-term levels of profitability and cash flow to be negatively affected by price
competition on its generic products, and increased expenses associated with new product launches forcing the Company to raise
additional funds or reduce expenses through cost cutting measures, either of which could have a material adverse effect on the
business. The Company believes it has sufficient plans to effectively manage its expenses and avail itself of cure provisions (whereby
the company makes cash payments to its lenders to “cure” a deterioration of adjusted EBITDA below agreed debt and fixed charge
coverage ratios) provided for in its credit agreement, in order to maintain compliance with its debt covenants therein. The use of
the cure provisions will result in the utilization of cash to prepay debt. Management concluded that based on the current facts and
circumstances, including the use of the cure provisions provided for in the credit agreement utilizing cash to prepay debt, and the
Company’s ability to implement spending reductions and program deferrals, that the Company can effectively manage its spending
to improve EBITDA levels in order to maintain compliance with debt covenants and other obligations in its credit agreement for at
least 12 months beyond the issuance date of these consolidated financial statements. As a result, the Company has concluded that
its existing cash and cash equivalents, together with cash generated from operations, will be sufficient to meet anticipated cash needs
for at least the next 12 months.
Conclusion
Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that,
individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group and Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a
period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.
Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of
this report. However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this statement is not a guarantee as to the Group
and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
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Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the financial
statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to
fraud) we identified. These matters include those which had the greatest effect on the overall audit strategy, the allocation of
resources in the audit, and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
GROUP AUDIT MATTERS
Risk

Our response to the risk

Key observations communicated to the
Audit Committee

Revenue recognition –
Management may overstate
revenue by manipulating the
historical data used to develop
the assumptions in the
calculation of the chargebacks,
rebates and returns reserve.

We obtained an understanding of the
revenue recognition process and
performed a walkthrough of the revenue
class of transactions. We also identified
controls in the process that are
responsive to the identified risk.

Our observations included a summary of
our audit procedures over revenue
recognition including the procedures to
address the identified revenue
recognition risk, our consideration of the
Group’s revenue recognition policies and
the related disclosures in the financial
statements.

Refer to the Accounting policies
(Note 2); and Notes 3 and 6 of the
Consolidated Financial Statements
The Group sells to customers
under various commercial and
government mandated contracts
and reimbursement arrangements
that include rebates and provide a
right of return for certain products.
These arrangements lead to
material deductions to gross sales
in arriving at revenue to recognize
the obligations for the Group to
provide customers with rebates,
discounts, allowances and the right
of return, for which unsettled
amounts are accrued.
Rebate, discount, allowance and
return arrangements are complex
and establishing an appropriate
accrual requires significant
estimation on the part of
management. Changes in estimates
can have a significant financial
impact.

We obtained management’s calculations
for accruals under applicable schemes
and assessed the assumptions, used by
reference to the Group’s stated
commercial policies, the terms of the
applicable contracts, third party data and
historical levels of product returns.
We compared the assumptions to
contracted prices, historical rebates,
discounts, allowances and returns levels
(where relevant) and to current payment
trends.
We also considered the historical
accuracy of the group’s estimates in
previous years and the effect of any
adjustments to prior year’s accruals in
the current year’s results. We reviewed
subsequent credit memos and payments
made.
We formed an independent expectation
of the largest elements of the accrual at
December 31, 2020 using third party
data (where relevant) and compared this
expectation to the actual accrual
recognized by the Group.
We also evaluated the completeness and
accuracy of the Group’s revenue
recognition disclosures included in
Notes 2, 3 and 6 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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GROUP AUDIT MATTERS
Risk

Our response to the risk

Key observations communicated to the
Audit Committee

Management may use
inappropriate assumptions to
develop revenue forecasts in the
PFI that the Company uses to
estimate the fair value of the
Company’s intangible assets
related to its generic product
portfolio.

We obtained an understanding of the
valuation approaches and evaluated the
design of controls over the preparation
of PFI and the overall impairment
assessment.

Our observations included a summary of
our audit procedures over impairment
assessment performed by management.
We also communicated our consideration
of the Group’s related accounting
policies and disclosures in the financial
statements.

Refer to the accounting policies
(Note 2); and Note 10 of the
Consolidated Financial
Statements.
The assumptions used by
management to project its
financial information are highly
subjective in nature and are based
on management’s expectations for
the business given the Company’s
own performance and plans and
conditions for the industry and
market as a whole.

Our audit procedures included, among
others, evaluating the revenue growth
rates, gross margin percentage and
operating expenses. We tested the
impairment model for clerical accuracy
and reconciled the calculations to the
charge recorded. We also validated the
asset value prior to impairment and
further validated that the impairment
was appropriately recorded. We
involved our specialist to assist in
performing review procedures over the
valuation model and the discount rate
used.

As such, we identified significant
assumptions that are more likely to
affect the estimated fair value.
Management could exercise bias
to avoid any significant
impairments which may
negatively affect investor
confidence.
Auditing the assumptions used in
preparing the PFI was challenging
because they are complex and
subjective in nature.
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PARENT COMPANY AUDIT MATTERS
Risk

Our response to the risk

Key observations communicated to the
Audit Committee

Valuation of investments in
subsidiaries

We tested the design and
implementation of key controls
addressing the identified audit risks for
valuation in investments in subsidiaries.

Our observations included a summary of
our audit procedures over impairment
assessment performed by management.
We also communicated our consideration
of the Group’s related accounting
policies and disclosures in the financial
statements.

Refer to the Accounting policies;
and Note 2 of the Parent
Company’s balance sheet
The Parent Company records
investments in subsidiaries at cost
less impairment. The carrying
value of the financial assets are
reviewed for impairment if events
or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. Where
there are indicators of impairment
of investments in Parent Company
undertakings, management
performs and impairment test,
comparing the carrying value of
the investments in subsidiaries
with the higher of fair value less
costs to sell or value in use.

We performed audit procedures to
evaluate the appropriateness of
managements impairment test.
Our audit procedures included, among
others, assessing the methodologies used
and testing the significant assumptions
and underlying data used by the Parent
Company.
We have also reviewed the disclosures
made by the Parent Company.

We identified a significant risk of
error that the carrying value of the
investments in subsidiaries may be
higher than the recoverable
amount considering the continued
competitive environment in which
the Group operates.
As a result of the Parent
Company’s impairment review
completed during the year an
impairment charge of $149.1
million was recognised.
In the prior year, our auditor’s report included a key audit matter in relation to the accuracy of historical tax balances. In the current
year, this matter is not included in the audit report as it did not have a significant effect on the overall audit strategy; the allocation
of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team.
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Our application of materiality
We apply the concept of materiality in planning and performing the audit, in evaluating the effect of identified misstatements on the
audit and in forming our audit opinion.
Materiality
Materiality is the magnitude of an omission or misstatement that, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of the users of the financial statements. Materiality provides a basis for determining the nature and
extent of our audit procedures.
We determined materiality for the Group to be approximately $3.5 million (2019: $1.2 million), which is approximately 3.5% of
Group Operating Expenses (excluding impairments). We believe that Operating Expenses (excluding impairments) is a key
performance indicator for the Group and is also a key metric used by the Group. Operating Expenses (excluding impairments) to be
the most appropriate performance metric on which to base our materiality calculation as we consider it to be the most relevant
performance measure to the main stakeholders of the Group. During the course of our audit, we reassessed initial materiality and
the only change in final materiality was to reflect the actual reported performance of the Group in the year.
Performance materiality
Performance materiality is the application of materiality at the individual account or balance level. It is set at an amount to reduce
to an appropriately low level the probability that the aggregate of uncorrected and undetected misstatements exceeds materiality.
On the basis of our risk assessments, together with our assessment of the Group's overall control environment, our judgement was
that performance materiality should be set at 50% of our planning materiality, namely $1.7 million (2019: $0.6 million). We have
set performance materiality at this percentage due to our past history of misstatements, our ability to assess the likelihood of
misstatements, both corrected and uncorrected, the effectiveness of the control environment and other factors affecting the entity
and its financial reporting.
Audit work at component locations for the purpose of obtaining audit coverage over significant financial statement accounts has
been undertaken based on the combined balances of all reporting components due to the centralization of all accounting at a Group
level.
Reporting threshold
Reporting Threshold is the amount below which identified misstatements are considered as being clearly trivial.
We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them all uncorrected audit differences in excess of $0.2 m (2019: $0.06
million), which is set at approximately 5% of planning materiality, as well as differences below that threshold that, in our view,
warranted reporting on qualitative grounds. We evaluate any uncorrected misstatements against both the quantitative measures of
materiality discussed above and in light of other relevant qualitative considerations in forming our opinion.
An overview of the scope of our audit
Tailoring the scope
Our assessment of audit risk, our evaluation of materiality and our allocation of performance materiality determine our audit scope
for each entity within the Group. Taken together, this enables us to form an opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements. In
assessing the risk of material misstatement to the Group financial statements, and to ensure we had adequate quantitative coverage
of significant accounts in the financial statements, of the 3 reporting components of the Group, we selected 3 components covering
entities across the United States of America, Hungary and Argentina, which represent the principal business units within the Group.
Of the 3 components selected, we performed an audit of the complete financial information of 1 component (“full scope component”)
which was selected based on its size or risk characteristics. For the remaining 2 components (“Specified Procedures Scope”), we
performed audit procedures on specific accounts within those components that we considered had the potential for the greatest
impact on the significant accounts in the financial statements either because of the size of these accounts or their risk profile.
The reporting components where we performed audit procedures accounted for 100% of the Group’s EBITDA adjusted for nonrecurring items, 100% of the Group’s revenue and 100% of the Group’s total assets. For the current year, the full scope components
contributed 99% of the Group’s EBITDA adjusted for non-recurring items, 99% of the Group’s revenue and 99% of the Group’s
total assets. The audit scope of this component may not have included testing of all significant accounts of the component but will
have contributed to the coverage of significant accounts tested for the Group.
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Tailoring the scope (continued)
The remaining components together represent 1% of the Group’s EBITDA adjusted for non-recurring items, revenue and total assets.
For any remaining components, we evaluated the existence and effectiveness of group wide controls at a consolidated level over the
preparation of the component financial information, including a number of monitoring and review controls which assess the overall
performance of the group. Further to this we performed other procedures at a consolidated level, including gross margin analytical
review, testing of consolidation journals, intercompany elimination and foreign currency translation recalculations to respond to
potential risks of material misstatement to the group financial statements.
The charts below illustrate the coverage obtained from the work performed by our component audit teams.

Profit before tax adjusted for
non-recurring items

Total assets

Revenue

99% Full scope

99% Full scope

1% Specified
Procedures

1% Specified
Procedures

0% Other
procedures

0% Other
procedures

99% Full scope
1% Specified
Procedures
0% Other
procedures

Involvement with component teams
In establishing our overall approach to the group audit, we determined the type of work that needed to be undertaken at each of the
components by us, as the primary audit engagement team, or by component auditors from other EY global network firms operating
under our instruction. For all components we determined the appropriate level of involvement to enable us to determine that
sufficient audit evidence had been obtained as a basis for our opinion on the group as a whole. The primary team interacted with
component teams where appropriate during various stages of the audit, reviewed key working papers and were responsible for the
scope and direction of the audit process. This, together with the additional procedures performed at a group level, gave us appropriate
evidence for our opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the Directors'
Report and the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information
and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify
such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material
misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.
Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2014
In our opinion, based solely on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, we report that:
• the information given in the Directors’ Report, on which we are not required to report, is consistent with the financial
statements; and
•

the Directors’ Report, on which we are not required to report, has been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act
2014.
We have obtained all the information and explanations which, to the best of our knowledge and belief, are necessary for the
purposes of our audit.
In our opinion the accounting records of the Company were sufficient to permit the financial statements to be readily and properly
audited and the Company statement of financial position is in agreement with the accounting records.
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Matters on which we are required to report by exception
Based on our knowledge and understanding of the Group and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not
identified material misstatements in the directors' report. We have nothing to report in respect of Sections 305 to 312 of the
Companies Act 2014 which require us to report to you if, in our opinion, the disclosures of directors’ remuneration and transactions
specified by the Act are not made.
Respective responsibilities
Responsibilities of directors for the financial statements
As explained more fully in the directors' responsibilities statement set on page 3, the directors are responsible for the preparation of
the financial statements in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework that give a true and fair view, and for such
internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group and the Company’s ability to continue as
going concerns, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
management either intends to liquidate the Group or the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so
.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a
high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (Ireland) will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the IAASA's website at:
http://www.iaasaie/getmedia/b2389013-1cf6-458b-9b8f-a98202dc9c3a/Description_of_auditors_responsibilities_for_audit.pdf.
This description forms part of our auditor's report.
The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities
Our report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with section 391 of the Companies Act 2014. Our
audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in
an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to
anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we
have formed.

Brian Lenihan
For and on behalf of Ernst & Young
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Audit Firm
Dublin
6 May 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
Financial Year Ended December 31, 2020 (in thousands, except share and per share data)

2020

2019

$

$

145,850
4,107
27,927

235,472
3,641
918

177,884

240,031

Cost of goods sold (inclusive of amortization of intangibles)

(74,480)

(111,630)

Gross profit

103,404

128,401

(81,961)
(19,696)
(72,183)
(173,840)

(93,030)
(32,319)
(283,747)
(409,096)

Operating loss

(70,436)

(280,695)

Other income (expense):
Interest expense and amortization of debt discount
Other non-operating income, net
Total other non-operating expense, net

(14,396)
546

(18,211)
884

(13,850)

(17,327)

(84,286)
4,697

(298,022)
27,121

(79,589)

(270,901)

Notes

Revenues:
Net product sales
Royalty revenue
Licensing and contract revenue
Total revenue

3
3
3

Operating expenses:
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Research and development expenses
Impairment of intangibles and fixed assets
Total operating expenses

Loss before income taxes
Income tax benefit

4

Net loss
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax
Change in foreign currency translation adjustments

-

Comprehensive loss
Loss per share attributable to shareholders
Basic
Diluted

5

Weighted average number of shares:
Basic and diluted

5

(383)

(79,589)

(271,284)

(1.31)
(1.31)

(5.17)
(5.17)

60,652,999

52,367,444

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
As at December 31, 2020 (in thousands, except share data)

2020

2019

$

$

Notes

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets

114,053
26,412
17,934
14,755
173,154

95,865
43,914
21,305
11,546
172,630

28,054
2,755
65,758
100,855
373
370,949

30,238
4,983
153,986
100,855
563
463,255

6,768
22,046
25,471
40
1,457
2
55,784

8,495
26,929
38,324
127
2,062
75,937

12
13
13
4

219,525
4
1,436
344
221,309
277,093

267,950
44
3,116
1,500
272,610
348,547

19

625
72,321
475,749
(452,610)
(2,229)
93,856
370,949

518
10,000
479,440
(373,021)
(2,229)
114,708
463,255

6
7

Property, plant and equipment
Operating lease assets
Intangibles
Goodwill
Other non-current assets
Total assets

8
9
10
10

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Trade accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Provisions for liabilities
Current portion of long-term debt, net of deferred financing costs
Current portion of obligation under finance leases
Lease liability – current portion
Income taxes payable – current portion
Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities:
Long-term debt, net of non-current deferred financing costs
Long-term portion of obligation under finance leases
Lease liability – long term portion
Deferred taxes – long-term portion
Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Shareholders’ Equity
Called up share capital presented as equity
Share premium account
Other reserve
Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total shareholders’ equity
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

11
6
12
12
13

On behalf of the board
/s/ Brian Markison
Brian Markison
Director

/s/ Gregory L. Cowan
Gregory L. Cowan
Director

Date: May 6, 2021
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY/PARTNERS' CAPITAL
Financial Year Ended As at December 31, 2020 (in thousands, except share data)
Number of
shares

Balance at January 1, 2019
Repurchase and cancellation of ordinary shares
Transfer of reserves approved by the High Court
Share compensation
Net loss

52,518,924
(673,182)
-

Change in foreign currency translation

Amount

Share
premium

Other
reserves

Accumulated
deficit

$

$

$

$

525
(7)
-

362,542
(352,542)
-

124,746
(2,780)
352,452
4,932
-

-

-

-

-

Balance at 31 December, 2019

51,845,742

518

10,000

479,440

Repurchase and cancellation of ordinary shares
Issuance of ordinary shares, net of offering costs
Payments of taxes related to net share settlement of
equity awards
Share compensation
Net loss

(1,435,725)
11,900,000

(15)
119

62,321

(8,086)
(749)
5,144
-

235,815
-

3
-

-

-

-

-

-

62,545,832

625

72,321

475,749

Change in foreign currency translation
Balance at December 31, 2020

(102,120)
(270,901)
(373,021)
(79,589)
(452,610)

Accumulated
other
comprehensive
loss
$

Total
shareholders'
equity
$

(1,846)
-

383,847
(2,787)
4,932
(270,901)

(383)

(383)

(2,229)

114,708

-

(8,101)
62,440

-

(749)
5,147
(79,589)

(2,229)

93,856

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Financial Year Ended December 31, 2020

Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by/(used in)
operating activities
Depreciation and amortization
Share compensation
Impairment of intangibles and fixed assets
Deferred income tax benefit
Loss on sale of fixed assets
Bad debt provision
Non-cash interest expense and amortization of deferred financing fees and
loan organization fees
Write off of deferred financing fees in connection with prepayment
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Trade accounts receivable, net
Inventories, net
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Trade accounts payable
Accrued and other current liabilities

2020

2019

$

$

(79,589)

(270,901)

21,026
4,925
72,183
(1,156)
287
6

57,015
4,932
283,747
(26,794)
173
(164)

1,269
496

1,337
-

17,496
3,371
(3,209)
(1,723)
(17,792)

12,674
3,078
9,177
(16,375)
(24,332)

Net cash provided by operating activities

17,590

33,567

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets
Payments on disposals of leased assets
Purchase of property, plant and equipment

50
(214)
(2,920)

17
(74)
(3,963)

Net cash used in investing activities

(3,084)

(4,020)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS - continued
Financial Year Ended December 31, 2020

2020
$
Cash flows from financing activities
Payments on finance lease obligations
Proceeds from initial public offering and private placement, net of issuance
costs
Proceeds from purchases of stock under ESPP
Debt repayment
Repurchase of ordinary shares
Payments for taxes related to net share settlement of equity awards
Proceeds from insurance financing loan
Repayment of insurance financing loan
Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities
Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Effect on cash of changes in exchange rate
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period
Supplemental disclosures of cash and non-cash transactions:
Cash paid for interest
Income taxes paid

2019
$

(127)

(130)

62,440
219
(50,000)
(8,101)
(749)
3,682

(2,787)
1,314
(3,088)
(4,691)

18,188
95,865

24,856
175
70,834

114,053

95,865

14,745
2,044

15,181
1,290

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1

Organization and nature of operations
Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc (formerly known as Lilydale Limited and Osmotica Pharmaceuticals Limited)
(“the Company”) is an Irish public limited company. Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc was incorporated in
Ireland on July 13, 2017 with registration number 607944 and has its registered office at 25 – 28 North Wall
Quay, Dublin 1, D01 H104.
Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp. acquired Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc on April 30, 2018 for the purpose of
facilitating an offering of ordinary shares in an initial public offering. On October 22, 2018, Osmotica
Pharmaceuticals plc completed its initial public offering (the “IPO”), in which it issued and allotted 7,647,500
ordinary shares at a public offering price of $7.00 per share. The number of shares issued in the IPO
reflected the exercise in full of the underwriters’ option to purchase 997,500 additional ordinary shares. In
addition, the Company issued and allotted 2,014,285 ordinary shares at the public offering price in a private
placement to investment funds affiliated with Avista Capital Partners, Altchem Limited and an entity
controlled by the Company’s Chief Financial Officer. The aggregate net proceeds from the IPO and the
private placement were approximately $58.1 million after deducting underwriting discounts and
commissions and estimated offering expenses.
Immediately prior to the IPO and prior to the commencement of trading of Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc’s
ordinary shares on the Nasdaq Global Select Market, Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp. undertook a series of
restructuring transactions that resulted in Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc becoming the direct parent of
Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp with each holder of common units of Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp. receiving
approximately 42.84 ordinary shares of Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc in exchange for each such common
unit. In addition, each holder of an option to purchase common units of Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp. received
an option to purchase the number of ordinary shares of Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc determined by
multiplying the number of units underlying such option by approximately 42.84 (rounded down to the nearest
whole share) and dividing the exercise price per unit for such option by approximately 42.84 (rounded up to
the nearest whole cent). These transactions are referred to as the “Reorganization”. Accordingly, all share
and share amounts for all periods presented in the accompanying financial statements have been adjusted
retroactively, where applicable, to reflect the Reorganization.
Until the Reorganization on October 17, 2018, Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc did not conduct any
operations (other than activities incidental to its formation, the Reorganization and the pursuit of an initial
public offering). Upon the completion of the Reorganization, the historical consolidated financial statements
of Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp. became the historical financial statements of Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc.
Accordingly, the accompanying consolidated financial statements included herein reflect the financial
information of Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp.
Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp.is a Luxembourg special limited partnership, formed on January 28, 2016.
Osmotica Holdings US LLC, a subsidiary of Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp. entered into a fifty-fifty partnership
(the “Merger”), effective February 3, 2016, pursuant to a definitive agreement between Vertical/Trigen
Holdings, LLC (“Vertical/Trigen”) and members, and Osmotica Holdings Corp Limited and Subsidiaries.
Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp. and several other holding companies and partnerships were formed as a result
of the Merger. Pursuant to the Merger, Vertical/Trigen was deemed to be the accounting acquirer. Osmotica
is a fully integrated biopharmaceutical company focused on the development and commercialization of
specialty products that target markets with underserved patient populations.
Unless otherwise indicated or required by the context, references throughout to “Osmotica,” or the
“Company,” refer to (i) prior to the completion of the Reorganization, Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp. and its
consolidated subsidiaries, including, from and after April 30, 2018, Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc, and (ii)
following the completion of the Reorganization, Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc and its consolidated
subsidiaries, including Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued

2

Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Significant Accounting Policies
Going Concern Evaluation
The Company devotes significant financial resources to the manufacture, marketing and commercialization
of its approved products, and support of its research and development efforts. The Company’s future
operating performance depends on many assumptions, including assumptions with respect to product sales
and expenses, commercialization costs, research and development expenses as well as other factors.
These assumptions may prove to be wrong or other factors may adversely affect the Company’s operating
results. As a result, the Company’s operating results may fluctuate significantly quarter to quarter or year
to year. The Company expects its near term levels of profitability to be negatively affected by price
competition on our generic products, and increased expenses associated with new product launches. As
a result, it’s possible it would not be able to comply with financial covenants in its credit agreement or
generate sufficient cash to service its debt obligations.
As of December 31, 2020, we had cash and cash equivalents of $114.1 million and borrowing availability
under the Revolver of $50.0 million. The directors believe that the group’s existing cash balances, cash we
expect to generate from operations of the existing product portfolio, near-term product launches and product
pipeline, as well as funds available under the Revolver, will be sufficient to fund the group’s operations and
to meet its existing obligations for at least the next 12 months.
The Company is currently undertaking a comprehensive review of strategic options to maximize shareholder
value. The options under consideration include divestitures of non-strategic assets, re-financings and
commercialization or collaboration agreements. In the event the Company is unable to generate sufficient
proceeds from these strategic options such that it can reduce, retire or refinance its existing debt, the
Company believes it has sufficient plans to effectively manage its expenses and avail itself of cure
provisions provided for in its credit agreement, in order to maintain compliance with its debt covenants
therein. The use of the cure provisions will result in utilization of cash to pay down the debt balance.
A significant portion of the Company’s expense base is discretionary and the Company has the ability to
reduce or defer spending to reduce expenses and improve profitability and cash flow to maintain compliance
with its debt covenants. This could include, among other things, significant reductions in its general and
administrative expenses, research and development expenses, including deferral of clinical trial programs,
and deferrals of certain promotional and capital spending programs which could negatively impact the
Company’s revenue growth and plans. The Company has previously demonstrated an ability to implement
various cost reduction initiatives. During the third quarter of 2019 and continuing into 2020, the Company
reduced its field force by an aggregate of 90 positions, generating annualized savings of approximately $10
million, and took measures to realign its operating infrastructure to prepare for the launch of Upneeq and
implemented other cost-savings measures to reduce its expenses.
Based on the current facts and circumstances, the use of the cure provisions provided for in the credit
agreement, which will result in utilizing cash to prepay debt, and the Company’s ability to implement
spending reductions and program deferrals, we believe it is probable that the Company can effectively
manage its spending to improve profitability in order to maintain compliance with the debt covenants and
other obligations in our credit agreement for at least the next twelve months beyond issuance date, even if
the strategic review does not generate sufficient proceeds to reduce, retire or refinance our existing debt.
As a result, the Company has concluded that, after consideration of management’s plans it has sufficient
liquidity, including funds available under the Revolver, to meet its obligations within one year after the
issuance date of its Consolidated Financial Statements, and it does not have substantial doubt about its
ability to continue as a going concern.
Basis of Presentation— The directors have elected to prepare the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with Section 279 of the Companies Act 2014, which provides that a true and fair view of the
state of affairs and profit or loss may be given by preparing the financial statements in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”), as defined in
Section 279(1) of the Companies Act 2014, to the extent that the use of those principles in the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements does not contravene any provision of Part 6 of the Irish Companies
Act 2014.
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Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies – continued
Consolidated financial statements and notes prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP were included in the
Group’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020, filed with the United States
(U.S.) Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC).
These consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with Irish Company Law, to present
to the shareholders of the Group and to file with the Companies Registration Office in Ireland. Accordingly,
these consolidated financial statements include presentation and additional disclosures required by the
Companies Act 2014, in addition to those disclosures required under U.S. GAAP.
Principles of Consolidation—The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of
Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc and its wholly-owned domestic and foreign subsidiaries. All inter-company
transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation. The Company is not involved with variable
interest entities.
Use of Estimates—The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
revenues and expenses, and related disclosures in the condensed consolidated financial statements and
accompanying notes. Management bases it estimates on historical experience and on assumptions
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could differ materially from those
estimates.
Foreign Currency Translation—The financial position and results of operations of the Company’s non-U.S.
subsidiaries are generally determined using U.S. Dollars as the functional currency. Our subsidiary in
Argentina is currently operating in a highly inflationary environment, as a result, we account for translation
in accordance with US GAAP. Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are included in selling, general
and administrative expenses in the Company’s statements of operations and comprehensive loss.
Cash and Cash Equivalents—The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity
date of three months or less to be cash equivalents.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments—The Company applies Accounting Standards Committee (“ASC”) 820,
Fair Value Measurement (“ASC 820”), which establishes a framework for measuring fair value and clarifies
the definition of fair value within that framework. ASC 820 defines fair value as an exit price, which is the
price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability in the Company’s principal or most
advantageous market in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. The
fair value hierarchy established in ASC 820 generally requires an entity to maximize the use of observable
inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. Observable inputs reflect
the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability and are developed based
on market data obtained from sources independent of the reporting entity. Unobservable inputs reflect the
entity’s own assumptions based on market data and the entity’s judgments about the assumptions that
market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability and are to be developed based on the best
information available in the circumstances.
The Company’s financial instruments include cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts
payable and short and long-term debt. The fair values of these financial instruments approximate book value
because of the short maturity of these instruments.
The valuation hierarchy is composed of three levels. The classification within the valuation hierarchy is
based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The levels within the
valuation hierarchy are described below:
Level 1 — Assets and liabilities with unadjusted, quoted prices listed on active market exchanges. Inputs to
the fair value measurement are observable inputs, such as quoted prices in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities.
Level 2 — Inputs to the fair value measurement are determined using prices for recently traded assets and
liabilities with similar underlying terms, as well as direct or indirect observable inputs, such as interest rates
and yield curves that are observable at commonly quoted intervals.
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Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - continued
Level 3 — Inputs to the fair value measurement are unobservable inputs, such as estimates, assumptions,
and valuation techniques when little or no market data exists for the assets or liabilities.
Inventories—Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value at approximate costs
determined on the first-in first-out basis. The Company maintains an allowance for excess and obsolete
inventory as well as inventory where the cost is in excess of its net realizable value (“NRV”) based on
management’s assessments. The Company capitalizes inventory costs associated with its products prior to
regulatory approval when, based on management judgement, future commercialization is considered
probable and future economic benefit is expected to be realized. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, there
were no capitalized inventory costs associated with products that had not yet achieved regulatory approval.
The Company assesses the regulatory approval process and where the product stands in relation to that
approval process including any known constraints or impediments to approval. The Company also
considers the shelf life of the product in relation to the product timeline for approval. Sample inventory
utilized for promoting the Company’s products are expensed and included in cost of goods sold when the
sample units are purchased or manufactured.
Property, Plant and Equipment—Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost, less accumulated
depreciation. Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense when incurred. Additions and improvements
that extend the economic useful life of the asset are capitalized and depreciated over the remaining useful
lives of the assets. The cost and accumulated depreciation of assets sold or retired are removed from the
respective accounts, and any resulting gain or loss is reflected in current earnings. Depreciation is provided
using the straight-line method in amounts considered to be sufficient to amortize the cost of the assets to
operations over their estimated useful lives or lease terms, as follows:
Asset category
Buildings

Leasehold improvements

Machinery
Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Computer hardware and software

Depreciable life
20 - 30 years
Lesser of the useful
life of the
improvement or the
terms of the
underlying lease
3 - 15 years
3 - 10 years
3 - 12 years

Long-Lived Assets, Including Definite-Lived Intangible Assets—Intangible assets are stated at cost less
accumulated amortization. Amortization is generally recorded on a straight-line basis or based on the
expected pattern of cash flows over estimated useful lives ranging from 5 to 20 years. The Company
periodically reviews the estimated useful lives of intangible assets and makes adjustments when events
indicate that a shorter life is appropriate.
Long-lived assets, other than goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangibles, are evaluated for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be
recoverable through the estimated undiscounted future cash flows derived from such assets.
Factors that the Company considers in deciding when to perform an impairment review include significant
changes in the Company’s forecasted projections for the asset or asset group for reasons including, but not
limited to, significant under-performance of a product in relation to expectations, significant changes, or
planned changes in the Company’s use of the assets, significant negative industry or economic trends, and
new or competing products that enter the marketplace. The impairment test is based on a comparison of
the undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated from the use of the asset group. If impairment is
indicated, the asset is written down by the amount by which the carrying value of the asset exceeds the
related fair value of the asset with the related impairment charge recognized within the statements of
operations and comprehensive loss.
The Company recorded impairment charges of $72.2 million and $283.7 million, in regard to definite-lived
and indefinite-lived intangible assets for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively (see
Note 10).
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Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - continued
Goodwill and Indefinite Lived Intangible Assets— Goodwill, which represents the excess of purchase price
over the fair value of net assets acquired, is carried at cost. Irish Company Law requires goodwill and
indefinite lived intangible assets to be amortized. However, the Company does not believe this gives a true
and fair view, as not all goodwill and intangible assets decline in value. In addition, as goodwill that does
decline in value rarely does so on a straight-line basis, straight-line amortization of goodwill and indefinite
lived intangible assets over an arbitrary period does not reflect the economic reality. Therefore Goodwill
and indefinite lived assets are not amortized; rather, they are subject to a periodic assessment for
impairment by applying a fair value-based test, which represents the excess of purchase price over the fair
value of net assets acquired, is carried at cost.
The Company is organized in one reporting unit and evaluates the goodwill for the Company as a whole.
Goodwill is assessed for impairment on an annual basis as of October 1st of each year or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired. Under the authoritative
guidance issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB”), the Company has the option
to first assess the qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of the
reporting unit is less than its carrying amount as a basis for determining whether it is necessary to perform
a quantitative goodwill impairment test. If the Company determines that it is more likely than not that the fair
value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, then the goodwill impairment test is performed.
The goodwill impairment test requires the Company to estimate the fair value of the reporting unit and to
compare the fair value of the reporting unit with its carrying amount. If the fair value exceeds the carrying
value, then no impairment is recognized. If the carrying value recorded exceeds the fair value calculated,
then an impairment charge is recognized for the difference. The judgments made in determining the
projected cash flows used to estimate the fair value can materially impact the Company’s financial condition
and results of operations. There was no impairment of goodwill for the year ended December 31, 2020 and
2019, respectively. (see Note 10).
In-Process Research and Development (“IPR&D”) intangible assets represent the value assigned to
acquired Research & Development (“R&D”) projects that principally represent rights to develop and sell a
product that the Company has acquired which have not yet been completed or approved. These assets are
subject to impairment testing until completion or abandonment of each project. Impairment testing requires
the development of significant estimates and assumptions involving the determination of estimated net cash
flows for each year for each project or product (including net revenues, cost of sales, R&D costs, selling
and marketing costs and other costs which may be allocated), the appropriate discount rate to select in
order to measure the risk inherent in each future cash flow stream, the assessment of each asset’s life
cycle, the potential regulatory and commercial success risks, and competitive trends impacting each asset
and related cash flow stream as well as other factors. The major risks and uncertainties associated with the
timely and successful completion of the IPR&D projects include legal risk, market risk and regulatory risk.
If applicable, upon abandonment of the IPR&D product, the assets are reduced to zero. IPR&D is assessed
for impairment on an annual basis as of October 1st of each year or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired. If the fair value of the IPR&D is less than its
carrying amount, an impairment is recognized for the difference. The Company recognized an impairment
charge to IPR&D of $28.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 and we recognized no impairment
charges of IPR&D for the year ended December 31, 2019 (see Note 10).
Product Sales—Revenue is recognized at the point in time when the Company’s performance obligations
with the applicable customers have been satisfied. At contract inception, the Company determines if the
contract is within the scope of ASC Topic 606 and then evaluates the contract using the following five steps:
(1) identify the contract with the customer; (2) identify the performance obligations; (3) determine the
transaction price; (4) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations; and (5) recognize
revenue at the point in time when the entity satisfies a performance obligation.
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Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies – continued
Revenue is recorded at the transaction price, which is the amount of consideration the Company expects
to receive in exchange for transferring products to a customer. The Company considered the unit of account
for each purchase order that contains more than one product. Because all products in a given purchase
order are generally delivered at the same time and the method of revenue recognition is the same for each,
there is no need to separate an individual order into separate performance obligations. The Company
determines the transaction price based on fixed consideration in its contractual agreements, which includes
estimates of variable consideration, and the transaction price is allocated entirely to the performance
obligation to provide pharmaceutical products. In determining the transaction price, a significant financing
component does not exist since the timing from when the Company delivers product to when the customers
pay for the product is less than one year and the customers do not pay for product in advance of the transfer
of the product.
The Company records product sales net of any variable consideration, which includes estimated
chargebacks, certain commercial rebates, and discounts and allowances. The Company utilizes the
expected value method to estimate all elements of variable consideration included in the transaction price.
The variable consideration is recorded as a reduction of revenue at the time revenues are recognized. The
Company will only recognize revenue to the extent that it is probable that a significant revenue reversal will
not occur in a future period. These estimates may differ from actual consideration amount received and the
Company will re-assess these estimates each reporting period to reflect known changes in factors.
Royalty Revenue—For arrangements that include sales-based royalties, including milestone payments
based on the level of sales, and the license is deemed to be the predominant item to which the royalties
relate, the Company recognizes revenue at the later of (a) when the related sales occur, or (b) when the
performance obligation to which some or all the royalty has been allocated has been satisfied (or partially
satisfied).
Licensing and Contract Revenue—The Company has arrangements with commercial partners that allow
for the purchase of product from the Company by the commercial partners for purposes of sub-distribution.
The Company recognizes revenue from an arrangement when control of such product is transferred to the
commercial partner, which is typically upon delivery. In these situations, the performance obligation is
satisfied when product is delivered to the Company’s commercial partner. Licensing revenue is recognized
in the period in which the product subject to the sublicensing arrangement is sold by the Company to its
commercial partner. Sales deductions, such as returns on product sales, government program rebates,
price adjustments, and prompt pay discounts in regard to licensing revenue is generally the responsibility
of the Company’s commercial partners and not recorded by the Company.
The transfer of the license is a performance obligation satisfied at a point in time. For arrangements that
include non-sales based milestones, including milestone payments based on regulatory approvals or other
activities, and the license is deemed to be the predominant item to which the milestones relate, the
Company recognizes revenue at the later of a) when the milestone activity is achieved, or b) when the
performance obligation to which some or all the milestone has been allocated has been satisfied (or partially
satisfied). For arrangements that include sales-based royalties, including milestone payments based on
the level of sales, and the license is deemed to be the predominant item to which the royalties relate, the
Company recognizes revenue at the later of (a) when the related sales occur, or (b) when the performance
obligation to which some or all the royalty has been allocated has been satisfied (or partially satisfied).
Freight—The Company records amounts billed to customers for shipping and handling as revenue, and
records shipping and handling expenses related to product sales as cost of goods sold. The Company
accounts for shipping and handling activities related to contracts with customers as costs to fulfill the
promise to transfer the associated products. When shipping and handling costs are incurred after a
customer obtains control of the products, the Company also has elected to account for these as costs to
fulfill the promise and not as a separate performance obligation.
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Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies – continued
Chargebacks—The Company enters into contractual agreements with certain third parties such as retailers,
hospitals, and group-purchasing organizations (“GPOs”) to sell certain products at predetermined prices.
Similarly, the Company maintains an allowance for rebates and discounts related to chargebacks,
wholesaler fees for service contracts, GPO administrative fees, government programs, prompt payment and
other adjustments with certain customers. Most of the parties have elected to have these contracts
administered through wholesalers that buy the product from the Company and subsequently sell it to these
third parties. As noted elsewhere, these wholesalers represent a significant percentage of the Company’s
gross sales. When a wholesaler sells products to one of these third parties that are subject to a contractual
price agreement, the difference between the price paid to the Company by the wholesaler and the price
under the specific contract is charged back to the Company by the wholesaler. Utilizing this information, the
Company estimates a chargeback percentage for each product and records an allowance as a reduction to
gross sales when the Company records its sale of the products. The Company reduces the chargeback
allowance when a chargeback request from a wholesaler is processed. The Company’s provision for
chargebacks is fully reserved for at the time when sales revenues are recognized.
The Company obtains product inventory reports from major wholesalers to aid in analyzing the
reasonableness of the chargeback allowance and to monitor whether wholesaler inventory levels do not
significantly exceed customer demand. The Company assesses the reasonableness of its chargeback
allowance by applying a product chargeback percentage that is based on a combination of historical activity
and current price and mix expectations to the quantities of inventory on hand at the wholesalers according
to wholesaler inventory reports. In addition, the Company estimates the percentage of gross sales that were
generated through direct and indirect sales channels and the percentage of contract vs. non-contract
revenue in the period, as these each affect the estimated reserve calculation. In accordance with its
accounting policy, the Company estimates the percentage amount of wholesaler inventory that will
ultimately be sold to third parties that are subject to contractual price agreements based on a trend of such
sales through wholesalers. The Company uses this percentage estimate until historical trends indicate that
a revision should be made. On an ongoing basis, the Company evaluates its actual chargeback rate
experience, and new trends are factored into its estimates each quarter as market conditions change.
The Company ensures that chargebacks are reasonable through review of contractual obligations, historical
trends and evaluation of recent activity. Furthermore, other events that could materially alter chargebacks
include: changes in product pricing as a result of competitive market dynamics or negotiations with
customers, changes in demand for specific products due to external factors such as competitor supply
position or consumer preferences, customer shifts in buying patterns from direct to indirect through
wholesalers, which could either individually or in aggregate increase or decrease the chargebacks
depending on the direction and trend of the change(s).
Commercial Rebates—The Company maintains an allowance for commercial rebates that it has in place
with certain customers. Commercial rebates vary by product and by volume purchased by each eligible
customer. The Company tracks sales by product number for each eligible customer and then applies the
applicable commercial rebate percentage, using both historical trends and actual experience to estimate its
commercial rebates. The Company reduces gross sales and increases the commercial rebates allowance
by the estimated commercial rebates when the Company sells its products to eligible customers. The
Company reduces the commercial rebate allowance when it processes a customer request for a rebate. At
each month end, the Company analyzes the allowance for commercial rebates against actual rebates
processed and makes necessary adjustments as appropriate. The Company’s provision for commercial
rebates is fully reserved for at the time when sales revenues are recognized.
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Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies – continued
The allowance for commercial rebates takes into consideration price adjustments which are credits issued
to reflect increases or decreases in the invoice or contract prices of the Company’s products. In the case of
a price decrease, a credit is given for products remaining in customer’s inventories at the time of the price
reduction. Contractual price protection results in a similar credit when the invoice or contract prices of the
Company’s products increase, effectively allowing customers to purchase products at previous prices for a
specified period of time. Amounts recorded for estimated shelf-stock adjustments and price protections are
based upon specified terms with direct customers, estimated changes in market prices, and estimates of
inventory held by customers. The Company regularly monitors these and other factors and evaluates the
reserve as additional information becomes available. The Company ensures that commercial rebates are
reasonable through review of contractual obligations, review of historical trends and evaluation of recent
activity. Furthermore, other events that could materially alter commercial rebates include: changes in
product pricing as a result of competitive market dynamics or negotiations with customers, changes in
demand for specific products due to external factors such as competitor supply position or consumer
preferences, customer shifts in buying patterns from direct to indirect through wholesalers, which could
either individually or in aggregate increase or decrease the commercial rebates depending on the direction
and velocity of the change(s).
Product Returns—Certain of the Company’s products are sold with the customer having the right to return
the product within specified periods. Estimated return accruals are made at the time of sale based upon
historical experience. Historical factors such as one-time recall events as well as pending new
developments like comparable product approvals or significant pricing movement that may impact the
expected level of returns are taken into account monthly to determine the appropriate accrued expense.
As part of the evaluation of the liability required, the Company considers actual returns to date that are in
process, the expected impact of any product recalls and the amount of wholesaler’s inventory to assess the
magnitude of unconsumed product that may result in product returns to the Company in the future. The
product returns level can be impacted by factors such as overall market demand and market competition
and availability for substitute products which can increase or decrease the pull through for sales of the
Company’s products and ultimately impact the level of product returns. Product returns are fully reserved
for at the time when sales revenues are recognized.
The Company ensures that product returns are reasonable through review of historical trends and
evaluation of recent activity. Furthermore, other events that could materially alter product returns include:
acquisitions and integration activities that consolidate dissimilar contract terms and could impact the return
rate as typically the Company purchases smaller entities with less contracting power and integrates those
product sales to Company contracts; and consumer demand shifts by products, which could either increase
or decrease the product returns depending on the product or products specifically demanded and ultimately
returned.
Accrual for Promotions and Co-Pay Discount Cards—From time to time the Company authorizes various
retailers to run in-store promotional sales of its products. The Company accrues an estimate of the dollar
amount expected to be owed back to the retailer. Additionally, the Company provides consumer co-pay
discount cards, administered through outside agents to provide discounted products when redeemed. Upon
release of the cards into the market, the Company records an estimate of the dollar value of co-pay
discounts expected to be utilized taking into consideration historical experience.
Government Program Rebates—Federal law requires that a pharmaceutical distributor, as a condition of
having federal funds being made available to the States for the manufacturer’s drugs under Medicaid and
Medicare Part B, must enter into a rebate agreement to pay rebates to state Medicaid programs for the
distributor’s covered outpatient drugs that are dispensed to Medicaid beneficiaries and paid for by a state
Medicaid program under a fee-for-service arrangement. The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services
(“CMS”) are responsible for administering the Medicaid rebate agreements between the federal government
and pharmaceutical manufacturers. Rebates are also due on the utilization of Medicaid managed care
organizations (“MMCOs”).
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Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies – continued
The Company also pays rebates to managed care organizations (“MCOs”) for the reimbursement of a
portion of the sales price of prescriptions filled that are covered by the respective plans. The liability for
Medicaid, Medicare, and other government program rebates is settled in cash and is estimated at the time
when sales revenues are recognized based on historical and current rebate redemption and utilization rates
contractually submitted by each state’s program administrator and assumptions regarding future
government program utilization for each product sold; and accordingly recorded as a reduction of product
sales.
Business Combinations—The Company accounts for its business combinations under the provisions of
ASC Topic 805, Business Combinations (“ASC 805”), which requires that the purchase method of
accounting be used for all business combinations. Assets acquired, and liabilities assumed, are recorded
at the date of acquisition at their respective fair values. Amounts allocated to acquire IPR&D are capitalized
at the date of an acquisition and are not amortized. As products in development are approved for sale,
amounts are allocated to product rights and licenses and amortized over their estimated useful lives.
Definite-lived intangible assets are amortized over the expected life of the asset. Any excess of the purchase
price over the estimated fair values of the net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.
Goodwill represents the excess purchase price over the fair value of the tangible net assets and intangible
assets acquired in a business combination. Acquisition-related expenses are recognized separately from
business combinations and are expensed as incurred. If the business combination provides for contingent
consideration, the Company records the contingent consideration at fair value at the acquisition date.
Changes in fair value of contingent consideration resulting from events after the acquisition date, such as
earn-outs, are recognized as follows: 1) if the contingent consideration is classified as equity, the contingent
consideration is not re-measured and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity, or 2) if the
contingent consideration is classified as a liability, the changes in fair value are recognized in earnings.
Purchases of developed products and licenses that are accounted for as an asset acquisition are capitalized
as intangible assets and amortized over an estimated useful life. IPR&D assets acquired as part of an asset
acquisition are expensed immediately if they have no alternative future uses.
In-Process Research and Development—In-process research and development represent the fair value
assigned to incomplete research projects that the Company acquires through business combinations or
developed internally which, at that time, have not reached technological feasibility. Intangible assets
associated with IPR&D projects are not amortized until regulatory approval is obtained and product is
launched, subject to certain specified conditions and management judgment. The useful life of an amortizing
asset generally is determined by identifying the period in which substantially all of the cash flows are
expected to be generated. During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, $0 million and $19.7
million, respectively, of IPR&D was transferred to Product Rights as the products in development are
approved for sale and placed into service (see Note 10). Such amounts will be amortized over their
respectful estimated useful lives. At that time an evaluation of fair value was performed immediately prior
to such transfer and no impairments were recognized at that time. Assets are subsequently evaluated for
indicators of impairment.
Research and Development Costs—Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. These
expenses include the costs of proprietary efforts, as well as costs incurred in connection with certain
licensing arrangements. Upfront payments are recorded when incurred, and milestone payments are
recorded when the specific milestone has been achieved.
Advertising—Advertising expense consists primarily of print media promotional materials. Advertising costs
are expensed as incurred. Advertising expense for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
amounted to $9.3 million and $8.5 million, respectively.
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Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies – continued
Share-based Compensation—The Company recognizes share-based compensation expense for all options
and other arrangements within the scope of ASC 718, Stock Compensation. Share-based compensation
expense is measured at the date of grant, based on the fair value of the award. Compensation for
share-based awards with vesting conditions other than service are recognized at the time that those
conditions will be achieved. Forfeitures are recognized as they are incurred.
Income Taxes—Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets
and liabilities are recognized for the estimated future tax consequences attributable to differences between
the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which those
temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. Where applicable, the Company records a
valuation allowance to reduce any deferred tax assets that it determines will not be realizable in the future.
The Company recognizes the benefit of an uncertain tax position that it has taken or expects to take on
income tax returns it files if such tax position is more likely than not to be sustained on examination by the
taxing authorities, based on the technical merits of the position. These tax benefits are measured based on
the largest benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate resolution.
Comprehensive income (loss)—Comprehensive income (loss) refers to revenues, expenses, gains and
losses that under U.S. GAAP are included in comprehensive loss but are excluded from net loss as these
amounts are recorded directly as an adjustment to accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). The
Company’s other comprehensive loss is comprised of foreign currency translation adjustments.
Basic and Diluted Loss per Share—Basic and diluted net loss per share is determined by dividing net loss
by the weighted average ordinary shares outstanding during the period. For all periods presented with a net
loss, the shares underlying the common share options have been excluded from the calculation because
their effect would have been anti-dilutive. Therefore, the weighted average shares outstanding used to
calculate both basic and diluted loss per share are the same for periods with a net loss.
Segment Reporting—The Company operates in one business segment which focuses on developing and
commercializing pharmaceutical products that target markets with underserved patient populations. The
chief operating decision maker (“CODM”), the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, reviews profit and loss
information on a consolidated basis to assess performance and make overall operating decisions. The
consolidated financial statements reflect the financial results of the Company’s one reportable operating
segment. The Company has no significant revenues or tangible assets outside of the United States.
Recently Adopted Accounting Standards
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, Financial Instruments – Credit Losses (Topic 326):
Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments, which introduces a new methodology for
accounting for credit losses on financial instruments, including available-for-sale debt securities. The
guidance establishes a new “expected loss model” that requires entities to estimate current expected credit
losses on financial instruments by using all practical and relevant information. The estimate of credit losses
must be based on all relevant information including historical information, current conditions, and
reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect the collectability of the amounts. The Company adopted
this standard on January 1, 2020, and there was no material impact to the Company’s consolidated financial
statements. The Company has provided additional disclosures as required by the standard upon adoption.
Refer to Note 6 for additional details.
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Revenues
The Company’s performance obligations are to provide its pharmaceutical products based upon purchase
orders from distributors. The performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time, typically upon delivery,
when the customer obtains control of the pharmaceutical product. The Company invoices its customers
after the products have been delivered and invoice payments are generally due within 30 to 60 days of
invoice date.
The following table disaggregates revenue from contracts with customers by pharmaceutical products (in
thousands):

Pharmaceutical Product
Venlafaxine ER
Methylphenidate ER
Lorzone
Nitrofurantoin
Divigel
OB Complete
Other
Net product sales
Royalty revenue
License and contract revenue
Total revenues

Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019
$
$
25,576
75,601
31,699
73,205
4,058
15,004
10,443
5,726
31,629
26,794
6,948
9,851
35,497
29,291
145,850
235,472
4,107
3,641
27,927
918
177,884
240,031

When the Company receives consideration from a customer, or such consideration is unconditionally due
from a customer prior to the transfer of products to the customer under the terms of a contract, the Company
records a contract liability. The Company classifies contract liabilities as deferred revenue. The Company
had no material deferred revenue as of December 31, 2020 and 2019. The Company has elected to apply
the exemption under paragraph 606-10-50-14(a) related to remaining performance obligations as all open
purchase orders are expected to be satisfied with a period of one year from the date of the purchase order.
Contract assets primarily relate to rights to consideration for goods or services transferred to the customer
when the right is conditional on something other than the passage of time. Contract assets are transferred
to accounts receivable when the rights become unconditional. The Company had no contract assets as of
December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The Company has no costs to obtain or fulfill contracts meeting
the capitalization criteria under ASC Topic 340, Other Assets and Deferred Costs.
4

Income Taxes
Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc (formerly known as Lilydale Limited and Osmotica Pharmaceuticals Limited)
is an Irish public limited company. Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp. acquired Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc on
April 30, 2018 for the purpose of facilitating an offering of ordinary shares in an initial public offering. On
October 22, 2018, Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc completed its initial public offering (the “IPO”).
Immediately prior to the IPO and prior to the commencement of trading of Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc’s
ordinary shares on the Nasdaq Global Select Market, Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp. undertook a series of
restructuring transactions that resulted in Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc being the direct parent of Osmotica
Holdings S.C.Sp. Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp. is a Luxembourg special limited partnership, formed on
January 28, 2016. Osmotica Holdings US LLC, a subsidiary of Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp. entered into a
fifty-fifty partnership (the “Merger”), effective February 3, 2016, pursuant to a definitive agreement between
Vertical/Trigen Holdings, LLC (“Vertical/Trigen”) and members, and Osmotica Holdings Corp Limited and
Subsidiaries. Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp. and several other holding companies and partnerships were
formed as a result of the Merger. Vertical/Trigen Holdings, LLC became a wholly-owned subsidiary of certain
U.S. corporations that are directly or indirectly owned by Osmotica Holdings U.S. LLC. These subsidiaries
are included in the consolidated financial statements and are designated as C Corp filers for U.S. tax
purposes. As such, the activity of Vertical/Trigen Holdings, LLC is subject to federal income tax at the level
of its U.S. corporate parents beginning in 2016. In addition, the Company’s foreign entities are subject to
income tax in various foreign jurisdictions.
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Income Taxes – continued
The Company follows the Income Taxes topic of ASC 740, which prescribes a recognition threshold and
measurement attribute criteria for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position
taken or expected to be taken in a tax return, as well as guidance on de-recognition, classification, interest
and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition. The loss before income taxes and
the related tax benefit are as follows (in thousands):
December 31, December 31,
2020
2019
$
$
Loss before income taxes
U.S. operations
Non-U.S. operations
Total loss before income taxes
Current tax benefit (provision)
Federal
State
Foreign
Total current tax benefit (expenses)
Deferred tax benefit (provision)
Federal
State
Foreign
Total deferred tax benefit
Total benefit for income taxes

66,836
17,450
84,286

140,664
157,358
298,022

4,541
(232)
(985)
3,324

(1,387)
292
(791)
(1,886)

82
—
1,455
1,373
4,697

15,396
712
12,899
29,007
27,121

A reconciliation of the statutory federal income tax rate to the Company's effective tax rate for the years
ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 respectively are as follows:
December 31,
2020
Federal tax at 21% statutory rate
State and local income taxes, net of federal benefit
Differences in tax effects on foreign income
Federal tax credits
Uncertain tax positions
NOL carryback rate differential
Tax audit adjustment
Change in valuation allowance
Permanent adjustments
Other
Effective tax rate

21.00 %
1.11 %
(3.38)%
1.35 %
1.40 %
3..87%
(3.65)%
(15.52)%
(0.79)%
0.18 %
5.57 %

December 31,
2019
21.00
0.91
(6.43)
0.59
0.04
0.00
0.00
(7.02)
0.00
0.01
9.10

%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
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Income Taxes – continued
Deferred taxes reflect the tax effects of the differences between the amounts recorded as assets and
liabilities for financial statement purposes and the comparable amounts recorded for income tax purposes.
Significant components of the deferred tax assets (liabilities) at December 31, 2020 and 2019 respectively
are as follows (in thousands):

Deferred tax assets:
Accounts receivable
Accrued expenses
Inventory
Investment in partnership
Net operating losses
Operating lease liabilities
Tax credits
Share compensation
Intangible assets
Other
Less: valuation allowance
Deferred tax liabilities:
Prepaid expenses
Property plant & equipment
Operating lease assets
Intangible assets
Total deferred income taxes

December 31,
2020
$

December 31,
2019
$

—
5,921
295
2,393
1,285
657

31
9,535
243
8,696
2,627
1,121

6,486
1,816
19,082
3,328
(27,811)

3,249
1,399
—
1,685
(21,216)

(658)
(3,261)
(623)
(9,254)
(344)

(689)
(3,252)
(1,115)
(3,814)
(1,500)

Included in the deferred tax balances above is a net deferred tax asset of $14.9 million and deferred tax
liability of $4.6 million, respectively for 2020 and 2019 related to the assets and liabilities in Vertical/Trigen
Holdings, LLC, which is a partnership for Federal income tax purposes. The Company owns in aggregate
100% of Vertical/Trigen Holdings, LLC and the assets and liabilities of this entity are included in the
consolidated financial statements of the Company.
As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company had a federal and state net operating loss carryover of
$29.1 million and $2.2 million, respectively and net operating loss carryovers in certain foreign tax
jurisdictions of $3.8 million and $9.9 million, respectively which will begin to expire in 2022.
At December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company had total tax credit carryovers of approximately $6.7 million
and $4.6 million primarily consisting of Federal Orphan Drug Tax Credit carryovers. These credit carryovers
begin to expire in 2035. The Company assesses the realizability of the deferred tax assets at each balance
sheet date based on actual and forecasted operating results in order to determine the proper amount, if
any, required for a valuation allowance. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company maintains
valuation allowances on deferred tax assets applicable to entities in the United States and foreign
jurisdictions for which separate income tax returns are filed, where realization of the related deferred tax
assets from future profitable operations is not reasonably assured. In 2020, the valuation allowance
increased by $6.6 million.
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Income Taxes – continued
The Coronavirus Aid Relief, and Economic Security Act (CARES Act) was enacted on March 27, 2020 in
the United States. The CARES Act and related notices include several significant provisions, including
delaying certain payroll tax payments, mandatory transition tax payments under the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act,
and estimated income tax payments that we expect to defer to future periods. The Cares Act provides a five
year carryback for losses generated in 2018-2020, The Company incurred losses in the current period that
will be carried back to the earliest year, 2015. The loss generated in 2020 will be carried back to a tax year
with a higher tax rate providing a benefit of $3.2 million. The impact to the Company’s effective tax rate is
3.8%. The Cares Act made the business interest limitation less restrictive in that it increased the deduction
limit for business interest to 50% of adjusted taxable income as well as allowing taxpayers to elect to utilize
2019 adjusted taxable income when computing the limitation in 2020. The Company utilized this clause in
the CARES ACT when computing the current period income tax benefit.
The Company files income tax returns in U.S. federal, state and certain international jurisdictions. For
federal and certain state income tax purposes, the Company's 2015 through 2018 tax years remain open
for examination by the tax authorities under the normal statute of limitations. For certain international income
tax purposes, the Company's 2015 through 2019 tax years remain open for examination by the tax
authorities under the normal statute of limitations.
Two of the Company’s subsidiaries, Osmotica Pharmaceutical Corp. and Valkyrie Group Holding Inc.,
finalized audits by the Internal Revenue Service for tax years 2016 and 2017. The Company agreed to an
IRS adjustments and correspondingly recorded tax expense of $1.9 million which includes $1.4 million of
income tax $0.5 million of interest and penalty expense.
No provision is made for foreign withholding or income taxes associated with the cumulative undistributed
earnings of the foreign subsidiaries. Any future foreign withholding or income taxes associated with the
undistributed earnings are not anticipated to be material.
A reconciliation was completed of the beginning and ending amounts of unrecognized tax benefits,
excluding accrued interest, for December 31, 2020 and 2019. It is not anticipated that the amount of
unrecognized tax benefits will materially change in the next 12 months. If recognized, the total amount of
unrecognized benefits of $0.2 million would an immaterial impact on the effective tax rate.

Unrecognized tax benefits beginning balance
Additions related to current period tax positions
Releases related to prior period tax positions
Unrecognized tax benefits ending balance

December 31,
2020
$
2,677
171
(2,677)
171

December 31,
2019
$
2,218
459
—
2,677

The Company classifies interest expense related to unrecognized tax benefits as components of the tax
provision for income taxes. Interest and penalties recognized in the consolidated income statement as of
December 31, 2020 resulted in an immaterial amount of interest and penalties as of December 31, 2020
and in a decrease of $0.1 million as of December 31, 2019. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019 the
Company has recorded accrued interest of an immaterial amount $0.2 million, respectively. The current
year release of unrecognized tax benefits is due to an accounting method change which eliminated the
need for an uncertain tax position.
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Loss per Ordinary Share
Basic net income (loss) per ordinary share is computed by dividing net income (loss) by the weightedaverage number of shares of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. Diluted net income per ordinary
shares is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of shares of ordinary shares
and potentially dilutive outstanding shares of ordinary shares during the period to reflect the potential dilution
that could occur from ordinary shares issuable through contingent share arrangements, share options and
warrants.
The following potentially dilutive securities have been excluded from the computation of diluted weighted
average shares and units outstanding as they would have been anti-dilutive at December 31, 2020 and
2019:

Performance and restricted stock units
Options to purchase ordinary shares
Shares to be purchased through employee stock purchase plan

6

Year Ended
December 31,
2020
2019
$
$
2,781,356
1,434,233
2,923,500
3,093,786
39,321
29,550

Accounts Receivable, Sales and Allowances
The nature of the Company’s business inherently involves, in the ordinary course, significant amounts and
substantial volumes of transactions and estimates relating to allowances for product returns, chargebacks,
rebates, doubtful accounts and discounts given to customers. This is typical of the pharmaceutical industry
and not necessarily specific to the Company. Depending on the product, the end-user customer, the specific
terms of national supply contracts and the particular arrangements with the Company’s wholesale
customers, certain rebates, chargebacks and other credits are deducted from the Company’s accounts
receivable. The process of claiming these deductions depends on wholesalers reporting to the Company
the amount of deductions that were earned under the terms of the respective agreement with the end-user
customer (which in turn depends on the specific end-user customer, each having its own pricing
arrangement, which entitles it to a particular deduction). This process can lead to partial payments against
outstanding invoices as the wholesalers take the claimed deductions at the time of payment.
Accounts receivable result primarily from sales of pharmaceutical products, amounts due under revenue
sharing, license and royalty arrangements, which inherently involves, in the ordinary course of business,
estimates relating to allowances for product returns, chargebacks, rebates, credit losses and discounts
given to customers. Credit is extended based on the customer’s financial condition, and, generally, collateral
is not required. The Company ages its accounts receivable using the corresponding sale date of the
transaction and considers accounts past due based on terms agreed upon in the transaction, which is
generally 30 to 60 days for branded and generic sales, depending on the customer and the products
purchased.
The Company is exposed to credit losses primarily through sales of its products. Prior to January 1, 2020,
accounts receivable were recorded at cost less an allowance for doubtful accounts. Subsequent to January
1, 2020, accounts receivable are recorded at amortized cost less an allowance for expected credit losses
that are not expected to be recovered. The Company’s expected loss methodology for accounts receivable
is developed using historical collection experience, a review of the current status of customer’s trade
receivables, and current and future market conditions. Due to the short-term nature of such receivables,
the estimate of accounts receivable that may not be collected is based on the aging of accounts receivable
balances and the financial condition of customers. The Company’s monitoring activities include timely
account reconciliations, dispute resolution, payment confirmation, consideration of customers’ financial
condition and macroeconomic conditions. Balances are written-off when determined to be
uncollectible. The Company considered the current and expected future economic and market conditions
surrounding a novel strain of the coronavirus, referred to as 2019-ncov, COVID-19 coronavirus epidemic,
or COVID-19, and determined that the estimate of credit losses was not significantly impacted.
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6

Accounts Receivable, Sales and Allowances – continued
With the exception of the allowance for credit losses, which is reflected as part of selling, general and
administrative expense, the provisions for the following customer reserves are reflected as a reduction of
revenues in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss.
Trade accounts receivable, net consists of the following (in thousands):
December 31,
2020
$

December 31,
2019
$

38,546
1,267
4,639

70,958
702
2,186

(9,921)
(7,344)
(775)
—
26,412

(14,624)
(13,579)
(1,591)
(138)
43,914

Gross trade accounts receivable
Trade accounts receivable
Royalty accounts receivable
Other receivable
Less reserves for:
Chargebacks
Commercial rebates
Discounts and allowances
Doubtful accounts
Total trade accounts receivable, net

For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company recorded the following adjustments to
gross product sales (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019
$
$
321,493
764,267

Gross product sales
Less provisions for:
Chargebacks
Government and managed care rebates
Commercial rebates
Product returns
Discounts and allowances
Advertising and promotions
Net product sales

(122,592)
(18,211)
(22,488)
(2,825)
(7,003)
(2,524)
145,850

(345,366)
(20,092)
(147,173)
3,932
(15,719)
(4,377)
235,472

For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the activity in the Company’s allowance for customer
deductions against trade accounts receivable is as follows (in thousands):

Balance at December 31, 2018
Provision
Charges processed
Balance at December 31, 2019
Provision
Charges processed
Balance at December 31, 2020

Chargebacks
$
38,861
345,366
(369,603)
14,624
122,592
(127,295)
9,921

Commercial
Rebates
$
49,232
147,173
(182,826)
13,579
22,488
(28,723)
7,344

Discounts
and
Allowances
$
3,510
15,719
(17,638)
1,591
7,003
(7,819)
775

Doubtful
Accounts
$
194
(190)
134
138
6
(144)
—

Total
$
91,797
508,068
(569,933)
29,932
152,089
(163,981)
18,040
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Accounts Receivable, Sales and Allowances – continued
The annual activity in the Company’s accrued liabilities for customer deductions by account for the years
ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, is as follows (in thousands):

Balance at December 31, 2018
Provision
Charges processed
Balance at December 31, 2019
Provision
Charges processed
Balance at December 31, 2020

Product
Returns
$
48,464
(3,932)
(11,075)
33,457
2,825
(14,256)
22,026

Government and
Managed Care
Rebates
$
9,981
20,092
(25,206)
4,867
18,211
(19,633)
3,445

Total
$
58,445
16,160
(36,281)
38,324
21,036
(33,889)
25,471

Provisions and utilizations of provisions activity in the current period which relate to the prior period revenues
are not provided because to do so would be impracticable. The Company's current systems and processes
do not capture the chargeback and rebate settlements by the period in which the original sales transaction
was recorded. The Company uses a combination of factors and applications to estimate the dollar amount
of reserves for chargebacks and rebates at each month end. Variable consideration is included in the
transaction price only to the extent a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized is
not probable of occurring when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved. The Company regularly monitors the reserves based on an analysis of the Company’s product
sales and most recent claims, wholesaler inventory, current pricing, and anticipated future pricing changes.
If amounts are different from the estimate due to changes from estimated rates, accrual rate adjustments
are considered prospectively when determining provisions in accordance with authoritative U.S. GAAP.
During the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, adjustments due to changes in estimates were
necessary based on actual product returns experience, resulting in a decrease of $7.1 million and $25.3
million, respectively, to the product returns reserve and a corresponding benefit to the net product sales
recognized.

7

Inventories
The components of inventories, net of allowances, are as follows (in thousands):

Finished goods
Work in process
Raw materials and supplies

December 31,
2020
$
13,352
618
3,964
17,934

December 31,
2019
$
15,319
778
5,208
21,305

The Company maintains an allowance for excess and obsolete inventory, as well as inventory where its
cost is in excess of its net realizable value. The activity in the allowance for excess and obsolete inventory
account for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, was as follows (in thousands):

Balance at beginning of period
Provision
Charges processed
Balance at end of period

December 31,
2020
$
1,069
1,001
(1,144)
926

December 31,
2019
$
1,561
2,322
(2,814)
1,069
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Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment consist of the following (in thousands):

Cost
At December 31, 2019
Disposals
Additions
At December 31, 2020
Accumulated depreciation
At December 31, 2019
Disposals
Charge for financial year
At December 31, 2020

Land

Buildings

Leasehold
improvements

Machinery

Furniture
and fixtures

Computer
hardware

$

$

$

$

$

$

2,120
2,120

11,643
28
11,671

3,423
157
3,580

16,034
(261)
1,626
17,399

1,388
(20)
1,368

8,508
(13)
519
9,014

(2,165)
(624)
(2,789)

(1,457)
(423)
(1,880)

(6,326)
374
(2,143)
(8,095)

(431)
(93)
(17)
(541)

(3,913)
13
(1,775)
(5,675)

-

Construction
work-inprogress
$

1,414
(123)
591
1,882

-

Total

$

44,530
(417)
2,921
47,034

(14,292)
294
(4,982)
(18,980)

Net book values
At December 31, 2019

2,120

9,478

1,966

9,708

957

4,595

1,414

30,238

At December 31, 2020

2,120

8,882

1,700

9,304

827

3,339

1,882

28,054

Depreciation expense was $5.0 million and $4.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. There is approximately $2.8 million of remaining construction
in progress expenditures to substantially complete the projects.
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9

Operating lease assets
Operating lease assets consist of the following (in thousands):
Right-of-use
assets
$
Cost
At January 1, 2020
Disposals
Additions
At December 31, 2020
Accumulated Amortisation
At January 1, 2020
Charge for financial year
At December 31, 2020

7,053
(640)
262
6,675

(2,070)
(1,850)
(3,920)

Net book values
At December 31, 2019

4,983

At December 31, 2020

2,755

10 Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
The Company tests goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment annually as of October 1st,
or more frequently whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired.
Goodwill is net of accumulated impairment charges of $86.3 million at December 31, 2020 and 2019. The
following table sets forth the carrying value of goodwill as of December 31, 2019 and 2020, respectively (in
thousands).

January 1, 2019
Impairments
December 31, 2019
Impairments
December 31, 2020

Goodwill
$
100,855
—
100,855
—
100,855
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The following tables sets forth the major categories of the Company’s intangible assets and the
weighted-average remaining amortization period as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, for those assets that
are not already fully amortized (in thousands):
December 31, 2020

Distribution Rights
Product Rights
Tradenames
Developed Technology
IPR&D

Gross
Carrying
Amount
$
33,714
202,567
13,485
52,466
64,000
366,232

Accumulated
Amortization
$
(23,893)
(164,336)
(3,741)
(36,321)
—
(228,291)

Impairment
$
(9,461)
(19,539)
—
(14,273)
(28,910)
(72,183)

Net
Carrying
Amount
$
360
18,692
9,744
1,872
35,090
65,758

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Amortization
Period
(Years)
$
0.8
2.1
14.0
8.6
Indefinite Lived

The gross carrying amount of $85.9 million and $62.1 million of accumulated amortization for assets that
have been fully impaired in the table above is inclusive as of December 31, 2020.
December 31, 2019

Distribution Rights
Product Rights
Tradenames
Developed Technology
IPR&D

Gross
Carrying
Amount
$
98,433
348,600
13,485
125,461
64,000
649,979

Accumulated
Amortization
$
(22,291)
(152,348)
(3,035)
(34,572)
—
(212,246)

Impairment
$
(64,719)
(146,033)
—
(72,995)
—
(283,747)

Net
Carrying
Amount
$
11,423
50,219
10,450
17,894
64,000
153,986

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Amortization
Period (Years)
10.1
3.1
15.0
10.9
Indefinite Lived

The gross carrying amount of $28.3 million and $10.4 million of accumulated amortization for assets that
have been fully impaired in the table above is inclusive as of December 31, 2019.
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Changes in intangible assets during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2020, were as follows (in
thousands):

January 1, 2019
Amortization
Impairments
Reclassifications(A)
December 31, 2019
Amortization
Impairments
December 31, 2020
(A)

Distribution
Rights
$
81,204
(5,062)
(64,719)
—
11,423
(1,602)
(9,461)
360

Product
Rights
$
217,473
(40,921)
(146,033)
19,700
50,219
(11,988)
(19,539)
18,692

Tradenames
$
11,156
(706)
—
—
10,450
(706)
—
9,744

Developed
Technology
$
96,857
(5,968)
(72,995)
—
17,894
(1,749)
(14,273)
1,872

IPR&D
$
83,700
—
—
(19,700)
64,000
—
(28,910)
35,090

Total
$
490,390
(52,657)
(283,747)
—
153,986
(16,045)
(72,183)
65,758

IPR&D in the amount of $19.7 million related to Osmolex ER was reclassified to Product Rights in the
first quarter of 2019 when the product was launched. Osmolex ER was fully impaired during the
second quarter of 2019.

As part of the Company’s goodwill and intangible asset impairment assessments performed on the annual
assessment date, when indicators of impairment are identified and when IPR&D assets are put into service,
when a qualitative assessment is performed, the Company estimates the fair values of the intangible assets
using an income approach that utilizes a discounted cash flow model, or, where appropriate, a market
approach. The discounted cash flow models are dependent upon our estimates of future cash flows and
other factors. These estimates of future cash flows involve assumptions concerning (i) future operating
performance, including future sales, long-term growth rates, operating margins, variations in the amounts,
allocation and timing of cash flows and the probability of achieving the estimated cash flows and (ii) future
economic conditions. These assumptions are based on significant inputs not observable in the market and
thus represent Level 3 measurements within the fair value hierarchy. As of October 1, 2020, the Company
performed a qualitative assessment for goodwill and concluded that the assets were not impaired. The
discount rates applied to the estimated cash flows for the Company’s 2019 annual goodwill and
indefinite-lived intangible assets impairment test was 16.5%, based on the overall risk associated with the
particular assets and other market factors. Indefinite-lived intangible assets classified as in-process
research and development, or IPRD, are subject to adjustments reducing their anticipated revenues and
costs by a probability of success, or POS, factor based upon empirical research of probabilities a new drug
candidate would be approved based on the candidate’s stage of clinical development. The POS factor
applied to the IPRD asset on a subsequent assessment as of December 31, 2020 was 69.6% and the
discount rate was 9.5%. The Company believes the discount rates and other inputs and assumptions are
consistent with those that a market participant would use. Impairment charges resulting from annual or
interim goodwill and intangible asset impairment assessments, if any, are recorded to Impairment of
intangible assets in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss.
Impairments of intangible assets and goodwill for the year-ended December 31, 2020 was $72.2 million
primarily consisting of write-downs to fair value for methylphenidate ER, VERT and Oxybutynin of $19.5
million, $20.2 million and $3.6 million, respectively, including an indefinite-lived In-Process R&D asset,
arbaclofen ER, which resulted in an impairment charge of $28.9 million due to a delay in the anticipated
commercialization date of the product, if approved. These impairments reflect the competitive generic
environment which has continued to erode net realized pricing and volumes of these products. In the fourth
quarter of 2020 we recognized an impairment of finite-lived development technology and product rights for
VERT of $10.7 million and $9.5 million, respectively due to the approval of a competing product and the
anticipated deterioration of pricing and volumes.
During 2019, we recognized impairments of finite-lived intangible assets of $283.7 million, consisting
primarily of write-downs to fair value of methylphenidate ER, VERT, Osmolex ER, and Corvite of $128.1
million, $137.7 million, $17.7 million, and $0.2 million, respectively. Methylphenidate ER tablets and VERT
were impaired due to lower revenues reflecting an increasingly competitive environment which deteriorated
pricing and volumes; Osmolex ER was impaired due to underperforming revenue expectations subsequent
to the launch of the product; and Corvite due to the discontinuation of the product.
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In the third and fourth quarter of 2019 we also recognized an impairment of finite-lived development
technology and distribution rights for VERT of $73.0 million and $64.7 million, respectively, due to approvals
of competing products which deteriorated pricing and volumes.
Amortization expense was $16.0 million and $52.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2020 and
2019, respectively and is recorded to Cost of goods sold (inclusive of amortization of intangibles) in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss.
The amortization expense of acquired intangible assets for each of the following five years are expected to
be as follows (in thousands):
Amortization
Expense
$
10,193
5,625
4,739
2,790
7,321
30,668

Years ending December 31
2021
2022
2023
2024
Thereafter
Total

11 Accrued Liabilities
Accrued liabilities consist of the following (in thousands):

Accrued product returns
Accrued royalties
Accrued compensation
Accrued government and managed care rebates
Accrued research and development
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Customer coupons
Deferred revenue
Less amounts classified as provision for liabilities
Total

December 31,
2020
$
22,026
2,246
8,022
3,445
1,000
10,550
200
28
47,517
(25,471)
22,046

December 31,
2019
$
33,457
3,649
10,998
4,867
3,028
8,477
777
—
65,253
(38,324)
26,929

In the ordinary course of business, the Company enters into contractual agreements with wholesalers
pursuant to which the wholesalers distribute sales of Company products to customers and provide sales
data to the Company. In return the wholesalers charge the Company a fee for services and other customary
rebates and chargebacks based on distribution sales of Company products through the wholesalers and
downstream customers.
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The composition of the Company’s debt and financing obligations are as follows (in thousands):

CIT Bank, N.A. Term Loan, net of deferred financing costs of
$1.8 million and $3.4 million as of December 31, 2020 and
December 31, 2019, respectively
Total debt and financing obligations
Less: current portion
Long-term debt

December 31,
2020
$

December 31,
2019
$

219,525
219,525
—
219,525

267,950
267,950
—
267,950

Term Loan
Concurrent with the closing of the Company's acquisition of Osmotica Holdings Corp Limited, the Company
entered into a $160.0 million Term Loan (the "Term Loan") pursuant to a Credit Agreement dated
February 3, 2016 (as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified, the "Term Loan Agreement") between
the Company as borrower, certain other lenders and CIT Bank, N.A. ("CIT Bank") acting as administrative
agent. The Term Loan is secured by certain assets of the Company, excluding certain intangibles and
foreign property.
The Term Loan Agreement required quarterly principal repayments equal to 0.625% of the initial aggregate
Term Loan amount beginning on the last day of the first full fiscal quarter following the closing of the Term
Loan Agreement, with final payment of the remaining principal balance due at maturity six years from the
date of closing of the Term Loan Agreement. At the Company's election, interest accrues on a Prime
Rate/Federal Funds Effective Rate ("ABR Loan") or a LIBOR ("LIBOR Loan") rate, plus a margin of 4.00%
for ABR Loan, and 5.00% for LIBOR Loan.
On November 10, 2016, the Company amended the Term Loan Agreement (the "First Amendment to the
Term Loan Agreement") in conjunction with the reacquisition of venlafaxine distribution rights. Pursuant to
the First Amendment to the Term Loan Agreement, CIT Bank and certain other lenders agreed to make
available to the Company, an Incremental Term Loan in the aggregate principal amount of $117,500,000,
which was added to the Term Loan; there were no other modifications to the Term Loan Agreement.
On April 28, 2017, the Company amended the Term Loan Agreement (the "Second Amendment to the Term
Loan Agreement"), in which the due date of the Company's annual financial statements was modified for
the first fiscal year after the closing of the Second Amendment to Term Loan Agreement.
On December 21, 2017, the Company amended the Term Loan Agreement (the "Third Amendment to the
Term Loan Agreement"). Pursuant to the Third Amendment to the Term Loan Agreement, CIT Bank and
certain other lenders agreed to increase the principal amount of the Term Loan to an aggregate principal
amount of $327,500,000. Of the aggregate principal amount, $277,500,000 was designated as the Term A
Loan and $50,000,000 was designated as the Term B Loan.
On December 11, 2020, the Company amended the Term Loan Agreement (the "Fourth Amendment to the
Term Loan Agreement"). Pursuant to the Fourth Amendment to the Term Loan Agreement, the Term Loan
Agreement was amended to, among other things, remove a limit on the exercise of the Company’s right to
cure a breach of the financial covenant under the Term Loan Agreement and providing that any proceeds
received by the company as a result of the exercise of such cure right will be applied to repay term loans
under the Term Loan Agreement.
The Term Loan Agreement requires quarterly principal repayments to 0.6925% of the original principal
amount of the Term A Loan and in the case of the Term B Loan 0.25% of the original principal amount of
the Term B Loan, with final payment of the remaining principal balance due at maturity five years from the
date of closing of the Term Loan Agreement.
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At the Company's election, for the Term A Loan, interest accrues on a Prime Rate/Federal Funds Effective
Rate ("ABR Loan") or a LIBOR ("LIBOR Loan") rate in which the applicable rate per annum set forth below
under the caption "ABR Spread" or "LIBOR Rate Spread," based upon the Total Leverage Ratio (as defined
in the Term Loan Agreement) as of last day of the most recently ended fiscal quarter is as follows:
Total Leverage Ratio
Category 1
Greater than 2.00 to 1.00
Category 2
Equal to or less than 2.00 to 1.00

LIBOR Rate Margin ABR Margin
3.75 %
2.75 %
3.25 %

2.25 %

For Term B Loan, interest accrues with respect to any ABR Loan, 3.25% per annum, and with respect to
any LIBOR Rate Loan, 4.25% per annum. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the interest rates were
4.75% and 5.79% for Term A Loan and 5.25% and 6.29% for Term B Loan, respectively.
The Term Loan Agreement contains covenants that require the Company to deliver quarterly and annual
financial statements along with certain supplementary financial information and schedules and ratios. The
Term Loan Agreement also contains covenants that limit the ability of the Company to, among other things:
incur additional indebtedness; incur liens; make investments; make payments on indebtedness; dispose of
assets; enter into merger transactions; and make distributions. In addition, the Company shall not permit
the total leverage ratio to be greater than 4.75:1.00 until March 31, 2020 at which time the total leverage
ratio remains constant at a required 4.50:1.00. The total leverage ratio is the ratio, as of any date of
determination, of (a) consolidated total debt, net of unrestricted cash and cash equivalents as of such date
to (b) consolidated adjusted earnings before income taxes, depreciation and amortization ("Consolidated
EBITDA") for the test period then most recently ended for which financial statements have been delivered.
Also, the Company will not permit the fixed charge coverage ratio to fall below 1.25:1.0 beginning on March
31, 2018 through the final maturity date. The fixed charge coverage ratio, as of the date of determination,
is the ratio of (x) Consolidated EBITDA net of capital expenditures and cash taxes paid to (y) interest
payments, scheduled principal payments, restricted payments and management fees paid to related parties.
The Company obtained a waiver from CIT Bank in regard to its non-compliance of its covenant to deliver
annual financial statements by April 2, 2018. The Company did not incur a waiver fee as a condition to the
waiver. The Company was in compliance with all covenants of the Term Loan Agreement as of December
31, 2020 and 2019.
As a result, of payments made in 2018, as of both December 31, 2020 and 2019, there are no remaining
scheduled installments of principal due in respect of the Term Loans until the final maturity date.
During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company prepaid $50.0 million in aggregate of the
outstanding principal amount. The prepayments consisted of $42.3 million of Term A Loan outstanding
principal and $7.7 million of Term B Loan outstanding principal. As required by the Third Amendment, the
prepayments were made on a pro rata basis between the Term A Loan and the Term B Loan. The Company
intends to continue to make interest payments accrued on the outstanding remaining balance through the
date of maturity.
In accordance with ASC 470, when debt is prepaid within its contractual terms and the terms of the
remaining debt are not modified, the prepayment should be treated as a partial extinguishment rather than
a modification. This conclusion is reached without regard to consideration of the 10% cash flow test since
no change to terms of the original debt instrument was modified in connection with the prepayment. The
Third Agreement allows for partial prepayments without creating changes to the terms of Term Loan A or
Term Loan B.
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The Company incurred debt issuance costs associated with the Third Amendment. Pursuant to ASC 83530-35-2, with respect to a note for which the imputation of interest is required, the difference between the
present value and the face amount shall be treated as a discount or premium and amortized as interest
expense or income over the life of the note in such a way as to result in a constant rate of interest when
applied to the amount outstanding at the beginning of any given period. As such, in accordance with ASC
835-30-35-2, the Company deferred and amortized the debt issuance costs amortized over the length of
the Term Loan using the effective interest method.
As a result of the partial extinguishment, the Company has elected, as an accounting policy in accordance
with ASC 470-50-40-2, to write off a proportionate amount of the unamortized fees at the time that the
financing was partially settled in accordance with the terms of the Third Amendment. The unamortized debt
issuance costs are allocated between the remaining original loan balance and the portion of the loan paid
down on a pro-rata basis. The Company wrote off $0.5 million in debt issuance costs relating to the
prepayment which occurred during the year ended December 31, 2020, and recorded the expense in the
accompanying Consolidated Statement of Operations and Comprehensive Loss.
Revolving Facility
Concurrent with the closing of the Company's acquisition of Osmotica Holdings Corp Limited, the Company
entered into a Revolving Facility in an aggregate amount of $30.0 million (the "Revolving Facility") pursuant
to a Credit Agreement dated February 3, 2016 between the Company as borrower, certain other lenders
and CIT Bank, N.A. ("CIT Bank") acting as administrative agent, as discussed above. The Company
incurred closing costs associated with the Revolving Facility in the amount of $1.1 million, which were
deferred and amortized over the length of the Revolving Facility on a straight-line basis.
On December 21, 2017, the Company amended the Revolving Facility (the "Amended Revolving Facility").
Pursuant to the Amended Revolving Facility, CIT Bank and certain other lenders agreed to increase the
revolving credit commitments up to $50.0 million. The Company accounted for the Amended Revolving
Facility as a modification of debt in accordance with ASC 470-50, Debt — Modifications and
Extinguishments and ASU 2015-15, Presentation and Subsequent Measurement of Debt Issuance Costs
Associated with Line of Credit Arrangements. Lender fees incurred in the amount of $0.4 million were
deferred and are amortized over the length of the Amended Revolving Facility on a straight-line basis.
The total amount available under the Revolving Facility includes a Swingline Loan and Letter of Credit
subfacility, respectively, in an aggregate principal amount at any time outstanding not to exceed the lesser
of (x) in the case of each of the Swingline Loan and Letter of Credit, $5.0 million and (y) the total revolving
commitment, based on certain terms and conditions of the Credit Agreement.
The Company will be required to repay the Revolving Facility upon its expiration five years from issuance,
subject to permitted extension, and will pay interest on the outstanding balance monthly based, at the
Company's election, on an adjusted prime/federal funds rate ("ABR") or an adjusted LIBOR ("LIBOR"), in
which the applicable rate per annum set forth below under the caption "ABR Spread" or "LIBOR Rate
Spread," based upon the Total Leverage Ratio (as defined in the Credit Agreement) as of last day of the
most recently ended fiscal quarter. Additionally, the Company will pay a Commitment Fee based on the
average daily unused revolving credit commitment. The LIBOR Rate Margin, the ABR Margin and
Commitment Fee are as follows:
Total Leverage Ratio
Category 1
Greater than 2.00 to 1.00
Category 2
Equal to or less than 2.00 to 1.00

LIBOR Rate Margin ABR Margin Commitment Fee
3.75 %
2.75 %
0.50 %
3.25 %

2.25 %

0.38 %

At December 31, 2020 and 2019, there were no outstanding borrowings or outstanding letters of credit.
Availability under the Revolving Facility as of December 31, 2020, was $50.0 million.
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Aggregated cumulative maturities of long-term obligations (including the incremental and existing Term
Loan and the Revolving Facility), excluding deferred financing costs of $1.8 million, as of December 31,
2020 were (in thousands):

Years ending December 31,
2021
2022
Total

Maturities of Long-term
Obligations
$
—
219,525
219,525

13 Leases
The Company leases office space in Bridgewater, New Jersey for its principal offices under two
non-cancelable leases that expire in July 2022 and November 2023, in addition to office and warehouse
space in various domestic and international locations. The Company also leases certain vehicles under
operating leases. As of December 31, 2020, the Company’s operating leases had remaining lease terms
ranging from 0.99 years to 3.0 years.
We assess whether an arrangement is a lease or contains a lease at inception. For arrangements
considered leases or that contain a lease that is accounted for separately, we determine the classification
and initial measurement of the right-of-use asset and lease liability at the lease commencement date, which
is the date that the underlying asset becomes available for use. The Company has elected to account for
non-lease components associated with our leases and lease components as a single lease component.
The Company recognizes a right-of use asset, which represents the Company’s right to use the underlying
asset for the lease term, and a lease liability, which represents the present value of the Company’s
obligation to make payments arising over the lease term. The present value of the lease payments are
calculated using either the implicit interest rate in the lease or an incremental borrowing rate.
Our lease assets and liabilities were classified as follows on our Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet
at December 31, 2020 (in thousands):

Leases
Classification
Assets
Operating
Operating Lease Assets
Finance
Property, plant and equipment, net
Total leased assets
Liabilities
Current
Operating
Finance

Current portion of lease liability
Current portion of obligations under finance leases

Non-current
Operating
Long-term portion of lease liability
Finance
Long-term portion of obligations under finance leases
Total lease liabilities

Balance at
December
31, 2020
$

Balance at
December
31, 2019
$

2,755
58
2,813

4,983
188
5,171

1,457
40

2,062
127

1,436
4
2,937

3,116
44
5,349
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The Company recognizes lease expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The components of
lease cost are as follows (in thousands):

Lease Cost
Operating lease cost

Finance lease cost
Amortization of leased assets
Interest on lease liabilities
Total lease cost

Classification
SG&A expenses
R&D expenses
Cost of goods sold

Depreciation and amortization
Interest expense

Year ended
December
31, 2020
$
1,525
104
392

Year ended
December
31, 2019
$
1,926
139
366

130
2
2,153

130
4
2,565

The table below shows the future minimum rental payments, exclusive of taxes, insurance and other costs,
under the leases as follows (in thousands):
Operating Leases
$
1,589
955
554
3,098
207
2,891

Years ending December 31
2021
2022
2023
Total lease payments
Less: interest
Present value of lease payments

The Company has future minimum lease payments required under the finance leases of less than $0.1
million less interest expense of less than $0.1 million for total present value lease payments of less than
$0.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2021 through December 31, 2022.
The weighted-average remaining lease term and the weighted-average discount rate of our leases were as
follows (in thousands):

Lease Term and Discount Rate
Weighted average remaining lease term (years)
Operating leases
Finance leases
Weighted average discount rate
Operating leases
Finance leases

Other Information
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:
Operating cash flows from operating leases
Operating cash flows from finance leases
Financing cash flows from finance leases

December
31, 2020

December
31, 2019

2.24
1.47

2.86
1.33

5.60 %
1.99 %

5.26 %
1.81 %

December
31, 2020
$
(1,927)
(2)
(127)

December
31, 2019
$
(2,431)
(4)
(130)
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For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company recorded $0.2 million and $1.4 million,
respectively, of leased assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities and $0.0 million and
less than $0.1 million, respectively, of leased assets obtained in exchange for new finance lease liabilities.
During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company disposed of $0.6 million and $0.4
million, respectively, of leased assets.

14 Concentrations and Credit Risk
For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, a significant portion of the Company’s gross product
sales reported were through three customers, and a significant portion of the Company’s accounts
receivable as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 were due from these customers as well. The following table
sets forth the percentage of the Company’s gross sales and accounts receivable attributable to these
customers for the periods indicated:

Amerisource Bergen
Cardinal Health
McKesson
Combined Total

Amerisource Bergen
Cardinal Health
McKesson
Combined Total

Gross Product
Sales
Year Ended
December 31,
2020
2019
31 %
12
20 %
47
43 %
38
94 %
97

%
%
%
%

Gross Account
Receivables
December 31,
December 31,
2020
2019
21 %
21 %
20 %
22 %
52 %
51 %
93 %
94 %

Purchasing
For the year ended December 31, 2020, two suppliers accounted for more than 86% of the Company’s
purchases of raw materials for products that are manufactured by the Company.
Three suppliers accounted for more than 92% of the Company’s purchases of raw materials manufactured
by the Company for the year ended December 31, 2019.
The Company purchases various API of finished products at contractual minimum levels through
agreements with third parties. Individually, none of these agreements are material to the Company,
therefore, the Company does not believe at this time that any of the purchase obligations represent levels
above the normal course of business.
Sales by Product
For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, one product accounted for 33% and 57%, respectively,
of the Company's total gross product sales.
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Royalty Sales
The following tables set forth the percentage of the revenues and accounts receivable recognized in
connection with Company's royalty contracts for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019,
respectively:

Customer 4
Customer 5
Combined Total

Customer 4
Customer 5
Combined Total
NM-Not Meaningful

Year Ended
December 31, 2020
Gross
Gross Royalty
Royalty Revenue Accounts Receivable
53 %
54 %
24 %
12 %
77 %
66 %
Year ended
December 31, 2019
Gross
Gross Royalty
Royalty Revenue Accounts Receivable
54 %
93 %
12 %
NM %
66 %
93 %

15 Incentive plans
Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc 2018 Equity Incentive Plan
Prior to the IPO, the Company adopted the 2018 Incentive Plan (the "2018 Plan") which became effective
upon our IPO and allows for the issuance of up to 4,100,000 ordinary shares of the Company ("Shares") in
satisfaction of awards under the 2018 Plan. The 2018 Plan provides for the grant of share options, SARs,
restricted and unrestricted share and share units, performance awards, and other awards that are
convertible into or otherwise based on the Company’s shares to employees and non-employee directors,
consultants and advisors to the Company. The Company's compensation committee shall determine the
time at which an award vests or becomes exercisable. In connection with the IPO, the Company granted
share options under the 2018 Plan that will vest on the fourth anniversary of the grant date, subject to the
employee’s continued employment through such vesting date.
Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp. 2016 Equity Incentive Plan
Effective February 3, 2016, Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp. adopted the 2016 Equity Incentive Plan (the "2016
Plan") which allows for the issuance of up to 75,000 Units in Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp. Options to purchase
common units granted under the 2016 Plan vest and become exercisable in whole or in part, in accordance
with vesting conditions set by the Company's board of directors. Each option award had a maximum term
of ten years from the date of grant. The option awards granted under the 2016 Plan were made up of two
components: Time Awards and Performance Awards. The Time Awards vested 25% annually from original
grant date, subject to continuous employment on each vesting date. The vesting of the Performance awards
was subject to performance criteria, requiring the majority investors in the Company to receive (on a
cumulative basis) aggregate net proceeds exceeding certain return on investment targets. The Time Awards
and Performance Awards contained a sales restriction in the form of a liquidity event and subsequent
disposal of common units by the Major Limited Partners (as defined in the 2016 Plan) before the employee
was able to sell vested and exercised common units and were required to remain employed to avoid
Company’s call option on such common units at a lower of cost or fair market value.
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Amended and Restated Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc. 2016 Equity Incentive Plan
On August 14, 2018, the board of directors amended and restated the 2016 Plan in connection with the
Reorganization. The Amended and Restated 2016 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Amended 2016 Plan”)
became effective upon our IPO which closed on October 22, 2018. In connection with the Reorganization,
options to purchase common units of Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp. were converted into options to purchase
shares of the Company and existing sales restriction was removed. In connection with the IPO, the number
of shares issuable pursuant to the Amended 2016 Plan and the corresponding exercise prices of options
were adjusted to reflect a stock split initiated prior to the IPO. Additionally, effective upon the IPO, the
Amended 2016 Plan modified the terms of Performance Awards previously issued under the 2016 Plan by
converting these awards to time based awards vesting in equal annual installments on the first four
anniversaries of the IPO, subject to continuous employment. There were 3,015,572 ordinary shares
issuable upon exercise of options issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2018 under the Amended
2016 Plan. Prior to the modification date, there was no share based compensation recognized for the
Performance Awards due to a performance condition based upon the majority investors in the Company
receiving aggregate net proceeds exceeding certain return on investment targets.
Ordinary Share Repurchase Program
In September 2019, the Company’s board of directors authorized the repurchase of up to 5,251,892 ordinary
shares pursuant to a share repurchase program. Purchases under the ordinary share repurchase program
can be made on the open market or in privately negotiated transactions, with the size and timing of these
purchases based on a number of factors, including the price of our ordinary shares, our business and market
conditions. The Company has retired ordinary shares acquired under the repurchase program. For the years
ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company repurchased 1,435,725 ordinary shares for an
aggregate of $8.1 million and 673,182 ordinary shares for an aggregate of $2.8 million, respectively.
2019 Employee Share Purchase Plan
In September 2019, the Company’s board of directors adopted and approved, the Employee Share
Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”). The ESPP allows each eligible employee who is participating in the plan to
purchase shares by authorizing payroll deductions of up to $2,000 per payroll period. Unless the
participating employee has previously withdrawn from the offering, accumulated payroll deductions will be
used to purchase shares on the last business day of the offering period at a price equal to 85 percent of the
fair market value of the shares on the first business day or the last business day of the offering period,
whichever is lower. Under applicable tax rules, an employee may purchase no more than $25,000 worth of
ordinary shares, valued at the start of the purchase period, under the ESPP in any calendar year. There is
no minimum holding period associated with shares purchased pursuant to this plan. An employee’s
purchase rights terminate immediately upon termination of employment.
The Company accounts for employee stock purchases made under its ESPP using the estimate grant date
fair value of accounting in accordance with ASC 718, Stock Compensation. The purchase price discount
and the look-back feature cause the ESPP to be compensatory and the Company to recognize
compensation expense. The compensation cost is recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite
service period. The Company recognized $113,860 and $31,619 of compensation expense for the years
ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The Company values ESPP shares using the BlackScholes model.
As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, there were no unrecognized ordinary share compensation expense
related to the ESPP. There were 51,905 ordinary shares issued under the ESPP during the year ended
December 31, 2020. There were no ordinary shares issued under the ESPP during the year ended
December 31, 2019. On January 4, 2021, the Company issued 39,321 ordinary shares to the employees
who participated in the ESPP during the offering period ended December 31, 2020.
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Share-based Compensation
The compensation cost that has been charged against income for all incentive plans was $4.8 million for
the year ended December 31, 2020 and $4.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2019. The conversion
of the Performance Awards issued under the 2016 Plan to Time Awards upon IPO under the Amended
2016 Plan was accounted for as a modification where the fair value of such awards determined on a
modification date, or the IPO date is being recognized over their remaining vesting period.
Share-Based Award Activity
A summary of option activity granted under the 2016 Plan and the Amended 2016 Plan as of December 31,
2020, and changes during the year then ended is presented below:
2016 Equity Incentive Plan

Outstanding at January 1, 2019
Granted
Exercised
Expired / Forfeited
Outstanding at December 31, 2019
Vested Options at December 31, 2019
Granted
Exercised
Expired / Forfeited
Outstanding at December 31, 2020
Vested Options at December 31, 2020

Number of Shares
Time
3,015,572
—
—
(55,686)
2,959,886
1,459,005
—
—
(132,786)
2,827,100
2,099,950

Weighted
Weighted
Average
Average
Exercise
Contractual
Price $
Term
14.96
7.5 years
—
—
14.95
14.96
6.4 years
14.96
6.4 years
—
—
15.21
14.95
5.4 years
14.95
5.4 years

There were no options granted during 2020 and 2019, respectively, under the 2016 Plan. The intrinsic value
of options under the 2016 Plan outstanding at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, was $0. The fair
value of options vested under the 2016 Plan during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 were
$8,832 and $6,431, respectively.
A summary of option activity granted under the 2018 Plan as of December 31, 2020, and changes during
the year then ended is presented below:
2018 Equity Incentive Plan

Outstanding at January 1, 2019
Granted
Exercised
Expired / Forfeited
Outstanding at December 31, 2019
Vested Options at December 31, 2019
Granted
Exercised
Expired / Forfeited
Outstanding at December 31, 2020
Vested Options at December 31, 2020

Number of Shares
Time
178,600
—
—
(44,400)
134,200
—
—
—
(37,800)
96,400
—

Weighted
Weighted
Average
Average
Exercise
Contractual
Price $
Term
7.00
9.8 years
—
—
7.00
7.00
8.7 years
—
—
—
7.00
7.00
—
7.7 years
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There were no options granted during 2020 and 2019, respectively.
The estimated fair value of the options is expensed over the requisite service period, which is generally the
vesting period on a graded vesting basis. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, there was $0.8 million and
$2.2 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested options granted under the
Incentive Plans. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.3 years and
1.5 years, respectively.
The fair value of option awards is estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Exercise price
of each award is generally not less than the per share fair value in effect as of that award date. The
determination of fair value using the Black-Scholes model is affected by the Company’s share fair value as
well as assumptions regarding a number of complex and subjective variables, including expected price
volatility, risk-free interest rate and projected employee share option exercise behaviors. There were no
options granted during 2020 and 2019, respectively.
For all periods prior to the IPO, our Board of Directors has determined the fair value of the common unit
underlying our option with assistance from management and based upon information available at the time
of grant. Prior to our IPO, given the absence of a public trading market for our common units, estimating
the fair value of our common units was based on the actual operational and financial performance, current
business conditions and discounted cash flow projections. The estimated fair value of our common units,
prior to our IPO was adjusted for lack of marketability and control existing at the grant date.
Restricted and Performance Stock Units
On May 18, 2020 and May 20, 2020, the Company granted performance stock units (“PSUs”) under its
existing 2018 Incentive Plan (the “2018 Plan”) to certain key employees of the Company that gives holders
the potential to receive a certain number of earned PSUs at the end of a pre-determined term. Unless earlier
terminated, forfeited, relinquished or expired, the earned PSUs will vest in full on the vesting date, subject
to the grantee remaining in continuous employment from the date of grant through the vesting date. The
vesting date is the third anniversary from the grant date for the PSUs granted on May 18, 2020 and the fifth
anniversary from the grant date for the PSUs granted on May 20, 2020. The number of PSUs that become
earned PSUs as of the end of the performance period shall be equal to the number of PSUs multiplied by
the applicable percentage based on Stock Price Hurdle attainment, as set forth in the PSU Award
Agreement and 2018 Plan. The fair value of these market-based awards is estimated on the date of grant
using a Monte Carlo simulation model with the following assumptions:

Expected volatility
Risk-free interest rate
Expected dividend yield
Performance period in years

Years Ended
December 31,
2020
90 %
.21% - .24 %
—%
3.00

The Company estimates its expected volatility by using a combination of historical share price volatilites of
similar companies within our industry. The risk-free interest rate assumption is based on observed interest
rates for the appropriate term of the Company’s options on a grant date.
As of December 31, 2020 total compensation cost not yet recognized related to unvested PSUs $3.2 million
which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 3.0 years.
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The following table summarizes the information as of December 31, 2020 and activity during 2020 related
to our PSUs:

Outstanding at January 1, 2020
PSUs granted
PSUs released
PSUs forfeited
Outstanding at December 31, 2020

Number of
PSUs
—
825,997
—
(36,198)
789,799

WeightedWeightedAverage Remaining
Average Grant
Contractual Term
Date Fair Value $
(Years)
—
—
4.99
—
—
—
4.09
—
4.99
3.01

During 2020 and 2019 we granted restricted stock units, or RSUs, covering an equal number of our ordinary
shares to employees and certain directors with a weighted average grant date fair value of $4.46 and $7.19,
respectively. The fair value of RSUs are determined on the date of grant based on the market price of our
ordinary shares as of that date. The fair value of the RSUs is recognized ratably over the vesting period of
four years for employees and one to three years for directors. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019 total
compensation cost not yet recognized related to unvested RSUs was $8.5 million and $8.0 million which is
expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.8 years and 3.2 years, respectively.
The following table summarizes the information as of December 31, 2020 and activity during 2020 related
to our PSUs:

Outstanding at January 1, 2019
RSUs granted
RSUs released
RSUs forfeited
Outstanding at December 31, 2019
RSUs granted
RSUs released
RSUs forfeited
Outstanding at December 31, 2020

Number of
RSUs
—
1,486,020
—
(51,787)
1,434,233
976,429
(300,788)
(118,317)
1,991,557

WeightedWeightedAverage Remaining
Average Grant
Contractual Term
Date Fair Value $
(Years)
—
—
7.19
—
—
—
7.18
—
7.19
3.20
4.46
—
6.73
—
6.07
—
5.99
2.11

2020 Equity Offering
On January 13, 2020 we completed a follow-on equity offering and allotted 6,900,000 ordinary share at a
public offering price of $5.00 per share. The number of shares issued in this offering reflected the exercise
in full of the underwriters’ option to purchase 900,000 ordinary shares. The aggregate net proceeds from
the follow-on offering were approximately $31.8 million after deducting underwriting discounts and
commissions and offering expenses. Proceeds from the offering were used for working capital and general
corporate purposes.
On July 16, 2020 we completed a follow-on equity offering and allotted 5.0 million ordinary shares. The
aggregate proceeds from the follow-on offering were approximately $30.6 million after deducting offering
expenses. Proceeds from the offering will be used for working capital and general corporate purposes.
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Contingent Milestone Payments
The Company has entered into strategic business agreements for the development and marketing of
finished dosage form pharmaceutical products with various pharmaceutical development companies. Each
strategic business agreement includes a future payment schedule for contingent milestone payments and
in certain strategic business agreements, minimum royalty payments. The aggregate amount of future
potential milestone payments payable in connection with such agreement are currently not material to the
Company’s financial statements. The Company will be responsible for contingent milestone payments and
minimum royalty payments to these strategic business partners based upon the occurrence of future events.
Each strategic business agreement defines the triggering event of its future payment schedule, such as
meeting product development progress timelines, successful product testing and validation, successful
clinical studies, and various U.S. Food and Drug Administration and other regulatory approvals. The
aggregate amount of future potential milestone payments are currently not material to our financial
statements.
Royalty Obligations
The Company has agreements with third parties that require the Company to make minimum royalty
payments on a calendar year basis.
The following table lists the Company’s enforceable and legally binding royalty obligations as of
December 31, 2020 (in thousands):

Less than 1 year
1 to 3 years
3 to 5 years
More than 5 years
Total

Royalty Obligations
$
1,000
3,000
2,000
83
6,083

Supply Agreement Obligations
The Company is engaged in various supply agreements with third parties which obligate the Company to
purchase various API or finished products at contractual minimum levels. None of these agreements are
individually in the aggregate material to the Company. Further, the Company does not believe at this time
that any of the purchase obligations represent levels above that of normal business demands.
The Company has no enforceable and legally binding purchase obligations as of December 31, 2020.
Defined Contribution Plan
Vertical/Trigen and Legacy Osmotica both had a defined contribution plan under Section 401(k) of the
Internal Revenue Code ("IRC") as of December 31, 2016 pursuant to the Merger (the "Contribution Plans").
The employees of the respective companies are eligible to participate in the Contribution Plans. Participants
may contribute amounts through payroll deductions not to exceed IRC limitations. For the year ended
December 31, 2016, the Vertical/Trigen Plan provided for nonelective employer contributions equal to 3%
of basic compensation. The separate Contribution Plans were merged into one plan effective January 1,
2017. Effective January 1, 2017, the plan provides for employer matching contributions equal to 100% of
each employee's elective deferrals up to 3% of base salary, plus 50% of each employee's elective deferrals
between 3% and 5% of base salary. For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company
recognized expenses related to its contributions under the Plan of $0.5 million and $1.3 million, respectively.
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Legal Proceedings
The Company is a party in legal proceedings and potential claims arising from time to time in the ordinary
course of its business. The amount, if any, of ultimate liability with respect to such matters cannot be
determined. Despite the inherent uncertainties of litigation, management of the Company believes that the
ultimate disposition of such proceedings and exposures will not have a material adverse impact on the
financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows of the Company.
On February 16, 2018, the Company received FDA approval for its amantadine extended release tablets
under the trade name Osmolex ER. On that same date the Company filed in the Federal District Court for
the District of Delaware a Complaint for Declaratory Judgment of Noninfringement of certain patents owned
by Adamas Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (Osmotica Pharmaceutical US LLC and Vertical Pharmaceuticals, LLC
vs. Adamas Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Adamas Pharma, LLC). Adamas was served with the Complaint on
February 21, 2018. Adamas filed an answer on April 13, 2018 denying the allegations in the Complaint and
reserving the ability to raise counterclaims as the litigation progresses. On September 20, 2018, Adamas
filed an amended answer to the Company’s Complaint for Declaratory Judgment of Noninfringement, with
counterclaims alleging infringement of certain patents included in the Company’s Complaint and requesting
that the court grant Adamas damages, injunctive relief and attorneys’ fees. On December 2, 2020, we
entered into an agreement to settle the litigation with Adamas. Under the terms of the agreement, both
parties agreed to drop their respective claims relating to the patent litigation, and Adamas agreed to acquire
the global rights to Osmolex ER from the Company for $7.5 million. The sale of the global rights to Osmolex
ER closed in January 2021 at which time the related gain was recorded.
Additionally, in connection with the settlement and the sale of the global rights to Osmolex ER, the parties
entered into a supply agreement pursuant to which the Company agreed to supply Adamas with amantadine
extended release tablets for a six-year term, subject to possible two-year extensions and customary closing
conditions.
On April 30, 2019, the Company was served with a complaint in an action entitled Leo Shumacher, et al.,
v. Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc, et al., Superior Court of New Jersey, Somerset County No. SOM-L000540-19. On May 10, 2019, a Complaint entitled Jeffrey Tello, et al., v. Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc, et
al., Superior Court of New Jersey, Somerset County No. SOM-L-000617-19 was filed in the same court as
the Shumacher action. The complaints named the Company, certain of the Company’s directors and officers
and the underwriters of the Company’s initial public offering as defendants in putative class actions alleging
violations of Sections 11 and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933 related to the disclosures contained in the
registration statement and prospectus used for the Company’s initial public offering of ordinary shares. On
July 22, 2019, the plaintiffs filed an amended complaint consolidating the two actions, reiterating the
previously pled allegations and adding an additional individual defendant. The parties participated in a
mediation and reached an agreement in principle to settle the litigation on December 15, 2020. The
agreement in principle calls for a payment by the Company of $5.25 million (a portion of which we expect
would be covered by applicable insurance) and would fully resolve all claims asserted in the litigation against
all defendants named in the litigation, including the Company. No party would admit any wrongdoing as part
of the proposed settlement, which was reached to avoid the further cost and distraction of litigation. The
agreement in principle contemplates the negotiation and execution of a final settlement agreement. The
settlement is also subject to preliminary approval by the Superior Court of New Jersey, notice to the putative
class, and subsequent final approval by the Superior Court of New Jersey.
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17 Related Parties
On August 22, 2018, the Company entered into a Master Service Agreement with United Biosource, LLC
or UBC, an Avista portfolio company, for prescription processing and patient access services. In November
2018, the Company and UBC entered into a Statement of Work for services through the end of 2019 valued
at approximately $2.4 million. During 2019, we amended the initial Statement of Work to add approximately
$275,000 of additional services for 2019. On January 1, 2020, we entered into an additional Statement of
Work for services during 2020 valued at approximately $1.7 million. The Company had accrued $0.2 million
of liabilities related to this agreement as of December 31, 2020 and had recognized $1.0 million of related
expense for the year ended December 31, 2020. The Company had accrued less than $0.1 million of
liabilities related to this agreement as of December 31, 2019 and had recognized $1.9 million of related
expense for the year ended December 31, 2019.

18 Subsequent events
The Company evaluated all events or transactions that occurred subsequent to December 31, 2020 through
the date of the approval of the directors’ report, and have identified the following event:
On April 19, 2021, we were served with a complaint in an action entitled United States ex rel. Lupinetti, et
al. v. Exeltis USA, Inc., et al., Northern District of Illinois, No. 1:19-cv-00825. The complaint named us and
four other pharmaceutical manufacturers as defendants in a suit alleging violations of the federal False
Claims Act and state corollary statutory schemes related to the labelling, marketing, and reimbursement of
several prenatal vitamins. The United States government declined to intervene in the action and the plaintiff
has chosen to proceed with the litigation as a qui tam relator on behalf of the federal government and 29
individual states seeking monetary damages, statutory civil penalties, and costs and fees. We are reviewing
the allegations in the complaint and have retained outside counsel to defend us against the claims.

19 Share capital

Authorised
400,000,000 ordinary shares of $0.01 each
40,000,000 preferred shares of $0.01each

Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019
$’000
$’000

4,000
400
4,400

4,000
400
4,400

Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019
€’000
€’000
25,000 Euro deferred shares of €1 each

Allotted and fully paid
62,545,832 (2019: 51,845,742) ordinary shares of $0.01 each

25

25

$’000

$’000

625

518
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20

Employee cost
The average number of employees for the year ended December 31, 2020 was 327 (2019: 430) analyzed
as follows (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019
Number
Number
Management
Other staff

6
321

6
424

The following table represents compensation costs, including restructuring, for the years ended
December 31, 2020 and 2019 (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019
$
$
Wages and salaries
Stock-based compensation
Other retirement benefit costs
Social welfare
Other benefits
Total

42,575
4,925
493
2,938
2,942
53,873

53,845
4,932
1,362
4,076
4,137
68,352

The total amount of employee costs capitalized in the year was $6,511,195 (2019: $8,897,013). All other
employee costs were charged to profit and loss.

21 Directors’ remuneration
The table below shows the remuneration of the directors of the Company for the financial year (in
thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019
$
$
Emoluments
Long term incentive plans

1,022
690
1,712

1,095
893
1,988

(1) Emoluments include salaries, fees and percentages, bonuses, any sums paid by way of expense allowance
in so far as those sums are chargeable to income tax, and the estimated money value of any other benefits
received otherwise than in cash.
(2) Retirement benefits were not accruing to any of the directors as at the balance sheet date.
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22 Auditors' remuneration
The table below shows the auditors’ remuneration paid by the Company
for the financial year (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019
$
$
Auditors' remuneration paid to EY Ireland and its affiliates (2019: EY
Ireland and its affiliates) was as follows:
Statutory audit of financial statements
Tax advisory services

1,262
436
1,698

996
321
1,317

The table below shows remuneration for all work carried out for the Company and its subsidiaries by EY
Ireland (2019: EY Ireland), the Company’s statutory auditor in each of the following categories of work (in
thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019
$
$
Auditors’ remuneration - Group:
Statutory audit of group financial statements

112
112

57
57

All fees paid to the Company’s auditors are approved by the Company’s audit committee.

23 Subsidiary undertakings
As of December 31, 2020 the Company had the following subsidiaries, all wholly owned:
Company Name

Principal activity

Registered address

Osmotica Holdings US LLC

Holding company

400 Crossing Boulevard,
Bridgewater, NJ 08807

Osmotica Kereskedelmi és Szolgáltató
Korlátolt Felelõsségû Társaság

Holding company

Berlini u. 47-49 Budapest 1045Hungary

Biopharmaceuticals

895 Sawyer Road Marietta, GA
30062 USA
400 Crossing Boulevard,
Bridgewater, NJ 08807

Osmotica Pharmaceutical Corp
Valkyrie Group Holdings, Inc.

Holding company

Vertical/Trigen Holdings, LLC

Holding company

400 Crossing Boulevard,
Bridgewater, NJ 08807

Vertical/Trigen Opco, LLC

Holding company

400 Crossing Boulevard,
Bridgewater, NJ 08807
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23 Subsidiary undertakings – continued
Company Name

Principal activity

Registered address

Vertical Pharmaceuticals, LLC

Holding company

400 Crossing Boulevard,
Bridgewater, NJ 08807

Trigen Laboratories, LLC

Holding company

400 Crossing Boulevard,
Bridgewater, NJ 08807

Osmotica Pharmaceutical US LLC

RVL Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Biopharmaceuticals

895 Sawyer Road, Marietta, GA
30062

Holding company

400 Crossing Boulevard,
Bridgewater, NJ 08807

RVL Pharmacy, LLC

Biopharmaceuticals

400 Crossing Boulevard,
Bridgewater, NJ 08807

Osmotica Argentina, S.A.

Biopharmaceuticals

Francisco Aacuna de Figueroa 821
(C1180AA0), Buenos Aires,
Argentina
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As at December 31, 2020 (in thousands)

2020
$

2019
$

2

236,910

363,168

Current assets
Debtors: amounts falling due within one year
Cash at bank and in hand

3

5,558
39,126
44,684

2,059
18
2,077

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

4

(23,906)

(6,553)

20,778

(4,476)

Notes
Fixed assets
Financial assets

Net current assets / (liabilities)
Total assets less current liabilities

257,688

358,692

Net assets

257,688

358,692

625
72,321
3,922
180,820

518
10,000
7,617
340,557

257,688

358,692

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital presented as equity
Share premium account
Other reserves
Profit and loss account

5
6
6
6

Total equity

The Company’s loss for the financial years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, as determined in accordance
with Irish GAAP (FRS 102), was $159.7 million and $1.1 million, respectively.

On behalf of the board
/s/ Brian Markison
Brian Markison
Director

/s/ Gregory L. Cowan
Gregory L. Cowan
Director

Date: May 6, 2021
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Financial Year Ended December 31, 2020 (in thousands)

Called up
share capital
presented
as equity
$

Share
premium
account

Other
reserves

Profit and
loss account

Total
equity

$

$

$

$

Balance at January 1, 2019

525

362,542

5,465

(10,905)

357,627

Net loss
Total comprehensive loss
Transfer of reserves approved by the High Court
Repurchase and cancelation of original ordinary shares
Share option compensation
Balance at December 31, 2019 and January 1, 2020

(7)
518

(352,542)
10,000

(2,780)
4,932
7,617

(1,080)
(1,080)
352,542
340,557

(1,080)
(1,080)
(2,787)
4,932
358,692

Net loss
Total comprehensive loss
Issuance of ordinary shares
Repurchase and cancellation of ordinary shares
Share option compensation
Balance at December 31, 2020

119
(15)
3
625

62,321
72,321

(8,091)
4,396
3,922

(159,737)
(159,737)
180,820

(159,737)
(159,737)
62,440
(8,105)
4,398
257,688
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1

Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies
Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc (“the Company”) (formerly known as Lilydale Limited and Osmotica
Pharmaceuticals Limited) is an Irish public limited company. Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc was
incorporated in Ireland on July 13, 2017 with registration number 607944 and has its registered office at 25
– 28 North Wall Quay, Dublin 1, D01 H104.
Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp. acquired Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc on April 30, 2018 for the purpose of
facilitating an offering of ordinary shares in an initial public offering. On October 22, 2018, Osmotica
Pharmaceuticals plc completed its initial public offering (the “IPO”), in which it issued and allotted 7,647,500
ordinary shares at a public offering price of $7.00 per share. The number of shares issued in the IPO
reflected the exercise in full of the underwriters’ option to purchase 997,500 additional ordinary shares. In
addition, the Company issued and allotted 2,014,285 ordinary shares at the public offering price in a private
placement to investment funds affiliated with Avista Capital Partners, Altchem Limited and an entity
controlled by the Company’s Chief Financial Officer. The aggregate net proceeds from the IPO and the
private placement were approximately $58.1 million after deducting underwriting discounts and
commissions and estimated offering expenses.
Immediately prior to the IPO and prior to the commencement of trading of Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc’s
ordinary shares on the Nasdaq Global Select Market, Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp. undertook a series of
restructuring transactions that resulted in Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc being the direct parent of Osmotica
Holdings S.C.Sp with each holder of common units of Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp. receiving approximately
42.84 ordinary shares of Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc in exchange for each such common unit. In addition,
each holder of an option to purchase common units of Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp. received an option to
purchase the number of ordinary shares of Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc determined by multiplying the
number of units underlying such option by approximately 42.84 (rounded down to the nearest whole share)
and dividing the exercise price per unit for such option by approximately 42.84 (rounded up to the nearest
whole cent). These transactions are referred to as the “Reorganization”.
Until the Reorganization on October 17, 2018, Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc did not conduct any
operations (other than activities incidental to its formation, the Reorganization and the pursuit of an initial
public offering). Upon the completion of the Reorganization, the historical consolidated financial statements
of Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp. became the historical financial statements of Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc.
On February 27, 2019 the Irish High Court approved a reduction in the company’s capital by $352.5m. The
reserve created by the capital reduction is a realised profit and was transferred to the profit and loss account
reserve of the company.
Statement of compliance
The entity financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis and in accordance with Irish
GAAP (accounting standards issued by the Financial Reporting Council of the UK and the Companies Act
2014). The entity financial statements comply with Financial Reporting Standard 102, ‘The Financial
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland’ (FRS 102) and the Companies Act 2014.
Significant accounting policies
The significant accounting policies used in the preparation of the entity financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all financial years presented.
Basis of preparation
The entity financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention. The preparation
of financial statements in conformity with FRS 102 requires the use of certain key assumptions concerning
the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date. It also requires the directors
to exercise their judgment in the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies. Estimates and
judgments made in the process of preparing the entity financial statements are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
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1

Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies- continued
Exemption for qualifying entities under FRS 102
FRS 102 allows a qualifying entity certain disclosure exemptions to a member of a group where the parent
of that group prepares publicly available consolidated financial statements which are intended to give a
true and fair view (of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss) and that member is included
in the consolidation. The Company is a qualifying entity and has taken advantage of the below disclosure
exemptions:
(1) Exemption from the requirement to present a statement of cash flows,
(2) Exemption from the financial instrument disclosure requirement to provide the equivalent disclosures
included in the consolidated financial statements of the group in which the entity is consolidated, and
(3) Exemption from the requirement to disclose key management personnel compensation in total.
(4) Exemption from the requirements of Section 26 Share based Payment: paragraph 26.18 (b), 26.19 to
26.21 and 26.23.
Critical accounting estimates
The directors make estimates and assumptions concerning the future in the process of preparing the entity
financial statements. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual
results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year relate to the carrying value of the
investment in subsidiaries, as detailed in Note 2.
Going concern
The directors believe that the group’s existing cash balances, cash we expect to generate from operations
of the existing product portfolio, near-term product launches and product pipeline, as well as funds
available under the Revolver, will be sufficient to fund the group’s operations and to meet its existing
obligations for at least the next 12 months. Therefore, these entity financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis.
Currency translation
The Company’s functional and presentation currency is the U.S. dollar ($). Transactions denominated in
currencies other than the functional currency are translated into U.S. dollars using the spot exchange rates
at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary items are translated to the U.S. dollar using the closing exchange rate at each reporting date.
Non-monetary items measured at historical cost are translated using the spot rate on the date of the
transaction.
Foreign currencies exchange differences are recognized in other expenses in the statement of
comprehensive income.
Investment in subsidiaries
Investment in subsidiaries is recorded at cost less impairment.
Impairments of investment in subsidiaries
The Company evaluates whether facts or circumstances indicate that the carrying values of its investment
in subsidiaries may not be recoverable. If such facts or circumstances are determined to exist, an estimate
of the recoverable amount is compared to the carrying value of the asset to determine whether an
impairment exists. If the asset is determined to be impaired, the loss is measured based on the difference
between the asset’s recoverable amount and its carrying value.
Cash at bank and in-hand
Cash at bank and in hand includes all cash balances and deposits which are repayable upon demand.
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1

Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies- continued
Share-based payments
The Company operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation plan for employees of some of its
subsidiaries. The grant-date fair value, calculated using the Black-Scholes model, of the employee services
received in exchange for the equity instruments granted in the Company is recognized as an addition to the
investment with a corresponding increase in equity as a capital contribution by the Company to its
subsidiaries. The grant-date fair value of the award is recognized over the period during which the employee
is required to provide service in exchange for the award (vesting period). The proceeds received by the
Company when share options are exercised are credited to share capital (nominal value) and the balance
to share premium
Financial instruments
The Company has chosen to apply the provisions of Sections 11 and 12 of FRS 102 to account for all of its
financial instruments.
Financial assets
Basic financial assets, including trade and other debtors, cash and cash equivalents and short-term
deposits, are initially recognized at transaction price (including transaction costs), unless the arrangement
constitutes a financing transaction. Where the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction the resulting
financial asset is initially measured at the present value of the future receipts discounted at a market rate of
interest for a similar debt instrument.
Trade and other debtors, cash and cash equivalents and financial assets from arrangements which
constitute financing transactions are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest
method.
At the end of each financial year financial assets measured at amortized cost are assessed for impairment.
If there is objective evidence that a financial asset measured at amortized cost is impaired an impairment
loss is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income. The impairment loss is the difference
between the financial asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the financial asset’s estimated cash
inflows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate.
If, in a subsequent financial year, the amount of an impairment loss decreases, and the decrease can be
objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized
impairment loss is reversed. The reversal is such that the current carrying amount does not exceed what
the carrying amount would have been had the impairment loss not previously been recognized. The
impairment reversal is recognized in statement of comprehensive income.
Financial assets are derecognized when (a) the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire
or are settled, (b) substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred
to another party, or (c) control of the financial asset has been transferred to another party who has the
practical ability to unilaterally sell the financial asset to an unrelated third party without imposing additional
restrictions.
Financial liabilities
Basic financial liabilities, including trade and other creditors, bank loans, loans from fellow group companies
and preference shares, are initially recognized at transaction price, unless the arrangement constitutes a
financing transaction. Where the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction the resulting financial
liability is initially measured at the present value of the future payments discounted at a market rate of
interest for a similar debt instrument.
Trade and other creditors, bank loans, loans from fellow group companies, and financial liability from
arrangements which constitute financing transactions are subsequently carried at amortized cost, using the
effective interest method.
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1

Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies - continued
Financial instruments – continued
Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognized as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the
draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will
be drawn down, the fee is treated as a prepayment for liquidity services and amortized over the period of
the facility to which it relates.
Trade creditors are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course
of business from suppliers. Trade creditors are classified as due within one year if payment is due within
one year or less. If not, they are presented as falling due after more than one year. Trade creditors are
recognized initially at transaction price and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective
interest method.
Financial liabilities are derecognized when the liability is extinguished, that is when the contractual obligation
is discharged, cancelled or expires.
Contingencies
Contingent liabilities, arising as a result of past events, are not recognized as a liability if it is not probable
that the Company will be required to transfer economic benefits in settlement of the obligation or the amount
cannot be reliably measured. Possible but uncertain obligations are not recognized as liabilities but are
contingent liabilities. Contingent liabilities are disclosed in the financial statements unless the probability of
payment is remote.
Share capital
Equity shares issued are recognized at the proceeds received. The par value of the shares issued is credited
to the called up share capital account with the excess of the proceeds received over the par value of those
shares recorded in the share premium account. Transaction costs relating the issuance of equity shares
are charged directly to equity.
Dividends
Dividends may only be declared and paid out of the profits available for distribution in accordance with
accounting practice generally accepted in Ireland and applicable Irish company law. Any dividends, if and
when declared, will be declared and paid in U.S. dollars. Dividends declared by the directors are accrued
when declared.

2

Financial assets

Cost
At December 31, 2019
Additions – Share based compensation
Other movements
Impairment
At December 31, 2020

Investment
in subsidiary
undertakings
$’000

363,168
4,396
18,397
(149,051)
236,910

The financial assets are recorded on the balance sheet at cost less impairment. On 31 December, 2020 the
share price of the company was $4.12 (2019: $6.99) resulting in the recoverable value of the asset at that
date being lower than its carrying amount. Accordingly, an impairment of $149.1 million was recorded in the
year.
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2

Financial assets – continued
In the opinion of the directors, the total value of the financial fixed assets held on December 31, 2020 and
December 31, 2019 of $236.9 million and $363.2 million, respectively is at least equivale to the carrying
value on the balance sheet.
Financial fixed assets comprise equity shares in the following direct 100% owned subsidiary:
Company Name

Principal activity

Registered address

Osmotica Holdings US LLC

Holding company

400 Crossing Boulevard,
Bridgewater, NJ 08807

During the year, a formerly owned subsidiary, Osmotica Holdings S.C.Sp, was liquidated.

3

Debtors - amounts falling due within one year

Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings
Prepayments

Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019
$’000
$’000
109
5,449
5,558

215
1,844
2,059

Amounts owed by group undertakings are unsecured, interest free, have no fixed date of repayment and
are repayable on demand.

4

Creditors - amounts falling due within one year

Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019
$’000
$’000

Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings
Accruals

18,172
5,734
23,906

5,101
1,452
6,553

Trade and other creditors are payable in accordance with the creditors usual and customary credit terms.
Amounts due to group undertakings are unsecured, interest free, have no fixed date of repayment and are
repayable on demand.
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5

Called up share capital presented as equity

Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019
$’000
$’000

Authorised
400,000,000 (2019: 400,000,000) ordinary shares of $0.01 each
40,000,000 (2019: 40,000,000) preferred shares of $0.01 each

25,000 (2019: 25,000) Euro deferred shares of €1 each

Allotted and fully paid
62,545,832 (2019: 51,845,742) ordinary shares of $0.01 each

4,000
400
4,400

4,000
400
4,400

€’000

€’000

25

25

$’000

$’000

625

518

Share capital movements
Ordinary shares
Number of
Per value
shares
$’000
Issuance of ordinary shares
Shares redeemed and cancelled
during the financial year

Euro deferred shares
Number of
Per value
shares
$

12,135,815
(1,435,725)

121
(14)

-

-

10,700,090

107

-

-

For details of the reasons why shares were issued during the period and the consideration received refer
to Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements of the Company.
Redemption of shares
Following the redemption and cancellation of the shares above, in line with the Irish law, the par value of
the cancelled shares has been transferred to an undenominated capital account which forms part of other
reserves on the balance sheet.
Ordinary shares
The rights and restrictions attaching to the ordinary shares are as follows:
•
•
•

the right to attend and speak at any general meeting of the company and to exercise one vote per
Ordinary Share held at any general meeting of the company
the right to participate pro rata in all dividends declared by the company with respect to the Ordinary
Shares; and
the right, in the event of the company’s winding up, to participate pro rata with all other holders of
Ordinary Shares in the total assets of the company.

The rights attaching to the Ordinary Shares shall be subject to the terms of issue of any series or class of
preferred shares allotted by the directors from time to time.
Preferred shares
The directors are authorised to issue all or any of the authorised but unissued Preferred Shares from time
to time in one or more classes or series. The directors may at any time before the allotment of any preferred
share by further resolution in any way amend the designations, preferences, rights, qualifications, limitations
or restrictions, or vary or revoke the designations of such Preferred Shares.
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5

Called up share capital presented as equity - continued
Euro deferred shares
The holders of the Euro Deferred Shares shall not be entitled to receive any dividend or distribution and
shall not be entitled to receive notice of, nor to attend, speak or vote at, any general meeting of the
Company. On a return of assets, whether on liquidation or otherwise, the Euro Deferred Shares shall entitle
the holder thereof only to the repayment of the amounts paid up on such shares after repayment of the
capital paid up on the Ordinary Shares plus the payment of $5,000,000 on each of the Ordinary Shares and
the holders of the Euro Deferred Shares (as such) shall not be entitled to any further participation in the
assets or profits of the company.

6

Reserves
Share premium account
Share premium represents the excess of proceeds received in relation to the issuance of equity shares over
the par value of those shares.
Other reserve
This comprises a) share option reserves related to the equity settled share based payments to employees
of subsidiaries of the company b) the par value of cancelled shares which have been transferred to an
undenominated capital account.
Profit and loss account
Profit and loss account represents the aggregate of accumulated comprehensive income/(loss) since
incorporation and the realised profit created following the High Court approved capital reduction.

7

Loss attributable to Osmotica Pharmaceuticals plc
In accordance with Section 304 of the Companies Act 2014, the Company is availing of the exemption from
presenting and filing its individual profit and loss account. The Company’s loss for the financial years ending
December 31, 2020 and 2019, as determined in accordance with Irish GAAP (FRS 102), was $159.7 million
and $1.1 million, respectively.

8

Related-party transactions
The Company has not disclosed related party transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries as it
has availed of the exemption available under Schedule 3(65), paragraph 3, Companies Act 2014, which
exempts disclosure of transactions entered into between two or more members of a group, provided that
any subsidiary undertaking which is a party to the transaction is wholly owned by a member of that group.
Disclosure of directors' remuneration is included in Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements of the
company.

9

Auditors' remuneration
Auditors’ remuneration for services provided by EY Ireland, the statutory auditor to the Company during the
year ended December 31, 20, was $112 thousand for the provision of audit services (2019: $57 thousand)
and $nil thousand for the provision of tax advisory services (2019: $nil). Disclosure of the auditors’
remuneration for the group is included in Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements of the company.
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10 Commitments and contingencies
The Company has no commitments and contingencies other than as disclosed in Note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements of the Company.

11 Taxation
The Company has unutilised tax losses of $1.8 million (2019: $0.9 million) that are available indefinitely for
offset against future taxable profits. A deferred tax asset has not been recognised in respect to these losses
as it is not probable that they will be recovered against future taxable profits.

12 Events since the end of the financial year
The Company evaluated all events or transactions that occurred subsequent to December 31, 2020 through
the date of the approval of the directors’ report, and have identified the following event:
On April 19, 2021, we were served with a complaint in an action entitled United States ex rel. Lupinetti, et
al. v. Exeltis USA, Inc., et al., Northern District of Illinois, No. 1:19-cv-00825. The complaint named us and
four other pharmaceutical manufacturers as defendants in a suit alleging violations of the federal False
Claims Act and state corollary statutory schemes related to the labelling, marketing, and reimbursement of
several prenatal vitamins. The United States government declined to intervene in the action and the plaintiff
has chosen to proceed with the litigation as a qui tam relator on behalf of the federal government and 29
individual states seeking monetary damages, statutory civil penalties, and costs and fees. We are reviewing
the allegations in the complaint and have retained outside counsel to defend us against the claims.

13 Approval of financial statements
The directors approved the financial statements on May 6, 2021.
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